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FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY

2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
ZE-N\F —ET—+tF ZT—RF ZT—HF —ZT-MEF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET FHET FAET FEIT

Results E
Year ended BEZE=RA=+—H
31 March LFEE

Loss attributable ARRHEA AEL

to owners of the g}

Company (11,058) (89,855)  (131,334)  (445,229) (52,291)
Assets and EENERE

liabilities
At 31 March R=A=+—H
Total assets BEMAE 314,233 408,093 407,467 496,346 985,596
Total liabilities BERTE (212,913)  (273,709)  (290,995)  (256,603)  (302,995)
Total equity Rt 42 5R 101,320 134,384 116,472 239,743 682,601

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED #HEE@EERkER A7
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK

Financial Review

Consolidated results

For the year ended 31 March 2018, the Group recorded
revenue of approximately HK$81.3 million compared to
approximately HK$78.7 million for the last financial year,
representing an increase of about 3.3%, and loss for the
year ended 31 March 2018 of approximately HK$13.4
million compared to approximately HK$94.1 million for
the last financial year, representing a decrease of about
85.8%. The Group had a substantially reduction in the
loss for the year ended 31 March 2018 as compared
to last financial year primarily because of: (i) net gain
attribute to the completion of disposal of subsidiaries
of the Company; and (ii) decrease in administration
expenses in relation of reduction in staff costs (including
directors’ emoluments), rental expenses and legal and
professional fees.

Business Review
Exhibition-related business

China Resources Advertising & Exhibition Company
Limited, a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company (together with its subsidiaries, the “CRA
Group”) is principally engaged in exhibition-related
business. The CRA Group has acted as an organiser
and contractor for exhibitions and meeting events
held in Hong Kong. It has developed over 20 years of
relationship with the Hong Kong Trade Development
Council ("HKTDC") and has become one of the major
agents organising trade fairs for PRC groups whilst most
of which were co-organised with the HKTDC. The clients
of the CRA Group are primarily PRC based including
numerous sub-councils of the China Council for the
Promotion of International Trade in the PRC. For the year
ended 31 March 2018, this business segment recorded
revenue of approximately HK$39.4 million compared
to approximately HK$42.7 million for the last financial
year, representing a decrease of about 7.7%. The drop
in revenue was mainly due to the decrease in number
of events participants. The loss for the financial year of
approximately HK$2.7 million compared to approximately
HK$4.1 million for the last financial year, representing a
decrease of about 34.1%.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK
(Continued)

Business Review (Continued)

Property sub-leasing, development and investment
business

For the year ended 31 March 2018, this business
segment recorded revenue of approximately HK$35.8
million compared to approximately HK$32.4 million
for the last financial year, representing a increase of
about 10.5%, the rise in revenue was mainly due to the
increase in rent for new tenants and renewal tenants
in sub-leasing certain properties in the PRC. It recorded
loss for the financial year of approximately HK$0.4 million
as compared to loss of approximately HK$1.2 million for
the last financial year.

Money lending

During the year, the Group conducted money lending
business in Hong Kong and recognised interest income
for approximately HK$2.2 million during the year (2017:
HK$3.5 million). The Group will continue to explore
opportunities prudently to develop this business sector
but at the same time will maintain a balance and review
its loan portfolio so as to control the risks of debt default.

Outlook

The management team and Board of Directors are highly
experience in the real estate development industry
in China and possess with significant resources and
networks in China which the Company expects to be able
to leverage for its future development in the property
sub-leasing, development and investment business
sector.

Looking ahead, the Directors expect the business
environment to remain challenging, but are cautiously
optimistic towards the overall outlook of the Group.
The Group has continued the efforts to consolidate and
realign its businesses to enable the Group to achieve
improvements in its financial position. The Group is
working towards to attain a sustainable growth, and at
the same time the Group is also continuously exploring
and identifying other suitable investment opportunities
(if any) to enhance its earning potential so as to enhance
shareholder value as a whole.
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The Directors of the Company present their report
together with the audited financial statements of the
Group for the year ended 31 March 2018.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The
activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note
44 to the consolidated financial statements.

An analysis of the Group’'s performance for the year
under review by business segment is set out in note 6
to the consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business objectives of the Group are to develop its
business and achieve sustainable growth of its business.
The Group aims to achieve such objectives by perusing
the following growth-oriented strategies: (i) investing in
more property sub-leasing, development and investments
projects in China; (ii) further diversifying the business of
the Group by tapping into the money lending business;
(iii) broadening the customer base of the exhibition-
related business of the Group; and (iv) closely monitoring
the cost and continue to impose cost-cutting measures
in the Group.

A review of the businesses of the Group during the year
using the financial indicators and a discussion on the
Group's future business development are provided in the
sections headed “Management Discussion and Analysis”
and "Financial Review"” in this report.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties

The Group's financial condition, results of operations,
businesses and prospects may be affected by a number
of risks and uncertainties. The followings are the key
risks and uncertainties identified by the Group. There
may be other risks and uncertainties in addition to those
shown below which are not known to the Group or
which may not be material now but could turn out to be
material in the future.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)
Principal Risks and Uncertainties (Continued)
Business Risk

Certain of the business segments to which the
Group operates are subject to changes in consumer
perception, preferences and tastes, in particular, for the
exhibition-related business as well as the property sub-
leasing business. The Group's business and financial
performance depends on factors which may affect the
level and pattern of consumer spending in China and in
Hong Kong.

Market Risk

The business and operation of certain business
segments of the Group, in particular, property sub-
leasing development and investment business, is basically
conducted in the PRC and the clients of another main
business segment of the Group, the exhibition-related
business, are primarily PRC based textile manufacturers,
and therefore the Group's operation, revenue and profit
margin are highly impacting by the economies of the PRC
and the measures implemented by the PRC government.
During the year, the Group affected by the slowing
economies in the PRC.

Operational Risk

Operational risk is the risk of loss resulting from
inadequate or failed internal processes, people and
systems or from external events. Responsibility for
managing operational risks basically rests with every
function at divisional and departmental levels. The Group
recognises that operational risks cannot be eliminated
completely and that it may not always be cost effective
to do so.

Key functions in the Group are guided by their operating
procedures, limits of authority and reporting framework.
The Group will identify and assess key operational
exposures from time to time and report such risk issues
to senior management as early as possible so that
appropriate risk response can be taken.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)
Principal Risks and Uncertainties (Continued)
Financial Risk

The financial risk management of the Group are set out
in note 41 to the consolidated financial statements.

Legal Risk

Legal risk is the risk that unenforceable contracts,
lawsuits or adverse judgments may disrupt or otherwise
negatively affect the operations or financial conditions of
the Group.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March
2018 are set out in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income on pages 65 to 67.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of any
dividend in respect of the year ended 31 March 2018
(2017: Nil). Capital will be reserved for the expansion
of the Group’s business and to capture investment
opportunities arising in the future. There is no
arrangement that a shareholder of the Company has
waived or agreed to waive any dividend.

FIXED ASSETS

Details of movements in fixed assets of the Group during
the year under review are set out in notes 17 to 18 to
the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movement in the share capital of the Company
are set out in note 32 to the consolidated financial
statements.

RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Group and the
Company during the year under review are set out in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 71
and note 33 to the consolidated financial statements,
respectively.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Details of the distributable reserves of the Company
as at 31 March 2018 are set out in note 33 to the
consolidated financial statements.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 March 2018, the Group had
entered into certain transactions with parties which
were regarded as “Related Parties” under the applicable
accounting principles. Details of those related party
transactions are set out in note 37 to the consolidated
financial statements. The transaction which is considered
as a connected transaction under the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the
“Listing Rules”) is further disclosed in the section
headed “Connected Transactions” below.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the
Company's bye-laws (the “Bye-laws”) and there is
no restriction against such rights under the laws of
Bermuda.

FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities
of the Group for the last five financial years is set out on
page 4 of the annual report.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

The Company did not make any charitable donation for
the two years ended 31 March 2017 and 2018.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

Details of the retirement benefit schemes are set out in
note 4(o) to the consolidated financial statements.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has adopted the share option scheme
(the “Share Option Scheme"”) on 30 August 2012
under which the Directors may grant options to eligible
persons, including directors and employees of the Group,
to subscribe for shares of the Company.

The following is a summary of the principal terms of the
Share Option Scheme:

1. Purpose of the Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme is set up for the
purposes of attracting and retaining quality
personnel and other persons to provide incentive to
them to contribute to the business and operation of
the Group.

2. Participants of the Share Option Scheme

The Directors may at their discretion grant options
to (i) any director, employee or consultant of the
Group or a company in which the Group holds an
equity interest or a subsidiary of such company
(" Affiliate"); or (ii) any discretionary trust whose
discretionary objects include any director, employee
or consultant of the Group or an Affiliate; or (iii)
a company beneficially owned by any director,
employee or consultant of the Group or an Affiliate;
or (iv) any customer, supplier or adviser whose
service to the Group or business with the Group
contributes or is expected to contribute to the
business or operation of the Group as may be
determined by the Directors from time to time to
subscribe for shares of the Company.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

3.

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED | & 2R B

Total number of shares available for issue under
the Share Option Scheme and percentage of the
number of issued shares as at the date of this
report

The maximum number of ordinary shares which
may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding
options granted and yet to be exercised under the
Share Option Scheme was in aggregate 27,942,462
shares as at 31 March 2018 (representing
approximately 2.6% of the number of issued shares
as at the date of this report).

Maximum entitlement of each participant under
the Share Option Scheme

The maximum number of the shares of the
Company (issued and to be issued) in respect of
which options may be granted under the Share
Option Scheme to any one grantee in any 12-month
period shall not exceed 1 per cent. of the share
capital of the Company in issue on the last date
of such 12-month period unless approval of the
shareholders of the Company has been obtained in
accordance with Rule 17.03(4) of the Listing Rules.

The period within which the options must
be exercised under Share Option Scheme to
subscribe for shares

The holder of an option may subscribe for the
shares of the Company during such period as
may be determined by the Directors (which shall
be less than ten years from the date of grant of
the relevant option and may include the minimum
period, if any, for which an option must be held
before it can be exercised).
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

6.

The minimum period for which an option must
be held before it can be exercised

There is no minimum period for which an option
granted must be held before it can be exercised
unless otherwise imposed by the Directors.

The period within which the options granted
must be taken up

Options granted must be taken up within 21 days
inclusive of, and from the date of grant.

The basis of determining the exercise price

Options may be granted without any initial payment
for the options at an exercise price (subject to
adjustments as provided therein) equal to the
highest of (i) the nominal value of the shares of
the Company; (ii) the closing price per share of the
Company as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotations sheet on the date of the grant of the
option, which must be a business day; and (iii) the
average closing price per share of the Company
as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations
sheets for the five business days immediately
preceding the date of the grant of the option.

The remaining life of the Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme will remain in force for
a period of 10 years commencing from 30 August
2012.

Details of the Share Option Scheme, including grant

and lapse of options, are disclosed in note 34 to the

consolidated financial statements.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this
report are as follows:

Chen Weiwu (Chairman)

Chen Gengxian (appointed on 1 July 2017 as Chief
Executive Officer)

Zhou Houjie

Chen Youchun

Chan Chein Kwong William

Lui Mei Ka (appointed on 21 April 2017)

In accordance with bye-law 84(1) of the Bye-laws, one-
third of the Directors for the time being, (or if their
number is not a multiple of three, the number nearest
to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office
by rotation so that each Director shall be subject to
retirement at least once every three years.

Biographical details of Directors and senior
management

Executive Directors

Mr. Chen Weiwu (“Mr. WW Chen"), aged 35, is an
Executive Director, the Chairman of the Board and a
member of the Nomination Committee of the Company.
He was appointed to the Board on 8 December 2016.
He is a business entrepreneur and has experience in
the real estate industry. Mr. WW Chen is the chairman
and ultimate beneficial owner of It RKRLZRIBIBXER
73 7] (Beijing Tian'an Innovation Technology and Estates
Limited*) (“BTIT"), a real estate development company
established in the PRC. Its latest property development
project is K% 2, located at FEAREFE LR
4% 7 7 47 B9 % [® (Beijing Economic and Technological
Development Area, PRC*), with a total land area of
approximately 130,000 square meters.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

Biographical details of Directors and senior
management (Continued)

Executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. Chen Gengxian (“Mr. GX Chen"”), aged 46, is
an Executive Director of the Company. Mr. GX Chen
was graduated from I 1t A 5 K £ (Northeast Normal
University*) in administration and management. He
was appointed to the Board on 8 December 2016. Mr.
GX Chen served as an executive director and the vice-
chairman of Kaisa Group Holdings Limited (”“Kaisa”),
which is listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1638),
from 2009 to 2014 and from 2012 to 2014, respectively.

Mr. Zhou Houjie (“"Mr. Zhou"), aged 36, is an Executive
Director and a member of the remuneration committee
of the Company. Mr. Zhou was graduated from PR32
BAE (Southwest Jiaotong University*) and obtained a
professional degree in business administration. He was
appointed to the Board on 8 December 2016. Mr. Zhou
is currently the vice president of BTIT.

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Chen Youchun (“Mr. YC Chen"), aged 41, is an
Independent Non-Executive Director, the Chairman of
the Audit Committee and the Remuneration Committee
of the Company and a member of the Nomination
Committee of the Company. Mr. YC Chen joined the
Company on 8 December 2016. He was graduated from
Southwest University of Political Science & Law in 2000
with a degree in Bachelor of Laws and the University
of Northumbria in 2011 with a degree in Bachelor of
Laws. He also obtained a Master's Degree in Civil and
Commercial Law from Wuhan University in 2007. He is a
foreign lawyer registered with The Law Society of Hong
Kong and is a partner in Shenzhen Office of Junzejun
Law Offices. Mr. YC Chen has extensive experience in
corporate finance, initial public offerings and mergers
and acquisitions. Mr. YC Chen is an independent non-
executive director of China Soft Power Technology
Holdings Limited, which is listed on the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 139). Mr. YC Chen is also an independent
director of Honz Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., which is listed
on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code: 300086).
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

Biographical details of Directors and senior
management (Continued)

Independent Non-Executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. Chan Chein Kwong William (“Mr. William Chan”),
aged 50, is an Independent Non-Executive Director and
a member of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination Committee of the
Company. Mr. William Chan joined the Company on
8 December 2016. He was graduated from The University
of Hong Kong with a bachelor's degree in social
sciences in 1991. Mr. William Chan was admitted as a
member of the American Institute of Chartered Public
Accountants in 1995 and a member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants in 1996. Mr.
William Chan joined Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu's audit
department in 1991, Hongkong Land Group Limited’'s
finance department in 1996, ABN AMRO Bank N.V.'s
wholesale banking division in 2001, and is currently
the chief operating officer of CITIC International Assets
Management Limited and the chief executive officer of
CITIC Carbon Assets Management Limited, Mr. William
Chan is also currently the responsible officer of CIAM
Capital Management Limited, a corporation licensed to
carry on Type 4 (advising on securities) and Type 9 (asset
management) regulated activities under the SFO.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

Biographical details of Directors and senior
management (Continued)

Independent Non-Executive Directors (Continued)

Ms. Lui Mei Ka (“Ms. Lui”), aged 33, is an Independent
Non-Executive Director and a member of Audit
Committee of the Company. Ms. Lui joined the Company
on 21 April 2017. She was graduated from The Chinese
University of Hong Kong with a degree in bachelor
of business administration in 2006. She is currently a
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. She has extensive experience in financial
management and corporate finance. Prior to joining
the Group, Ms. Lui has about 8 years of experience in
auditing and accounting in Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
from 2006 to 2013. From 2013 to 2016, she served
as the company secretary and financial controller of
LT Commercial Real Estate Limited (stock code: 112),
a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange. She is currently the chief financial officer and
company secretary of GR Properties Limited (stock code:
108), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

Biographical details of Directors and senior
management (Continued)

Senior management

Mr. Eric Jackson Chang (“Mr. Chang"”), aged 38, was
appointed as the Chief Financial Officer, Company
Secretary and an Authorised Representative of the
Company under Rule 3.05 of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
("Listing Rules”), with effect from 1 April 2017. Mr.
Chang received his bachelor of commerce degree
from University of British Columbia in May 2002.
He is a member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and American Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. Mr. Chang has over 15 years
of experience in accounting, finance and business
advisory work. Before joining the Company, Mr. Chang
was the executive director, chief financial officer,
company secretary and authorised representative of
ZH International Holdings Limited, a company listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code:
185). Prior to that, Mr. Chang also worked as the
chief financial officer of a sizable PRC-based property
development company and as a senior manager in
PricewaterhouseCoopers. Mr. Chang is currently (i)
the independent non-executive director of Transmit
Entertainment Limited (stock code: 1326), a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange; and (ii)
the independent non-executive director of Season Pacific
Holdings Limited (stock code: 1709), a company listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Chang
was appointed as the non-executive director of Sino
Vision Worldwide Holdings Limited (stock code: 8086), a
company listed on the GEM Board of the Stock Exchange
in May 2017 and has resigned such position on 19 July
2018.

Save as otherwise disclosed, there is no relationship
(including financial, business, family or other material/
relevant relationship) between any members of the Board
or the senior management, and no information relating to
the Directors which is required to be disclosed pursuant
to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.

Directors’ service contracts

None of the Directors has service contract with the
Company which is not determinable within one year
without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

Directors’ interests in transactions, arrangements and
contracts

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Connected
Transactions” below, no transactions, arrangements
and contracts of significance in relation to the Group's
business to which the Company, its subsidiaries, holding
company and any of their subsidiaries was a party and
in which a Director or his/her connected entity had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted
at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

Directors’ right to acquire shares or debentures

Save as the share option scheme as disclosed in this
report, at no time during the year ended 31 March 2018
was the Company, its subsidiaries, holding companies or
fellow subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable
Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition
of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other
body corporate.

Directors’ interests in equity or debt securities

As at 31 March 2018, the interests and short positions of
the Directors and chief executive of the Company in the
shares, underlying share and debentures of the Company
or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the
“SF0O")) as recorded in the register required to be kept
under section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of
Listed Issuers (the “"Model Code”) as set forth under
Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules were as follows:
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

Directors’ interests in equity or debt securities
(Continued)

(a)

(b)

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED | & 2R B

Long position in the shares

Name of Director

EEHA REME

Nature of interest

EENENREERE 2

ESRRASEBRS 2 BE(E)

(a) RGGZIHFE

Number of Approximate
shares held percentage of
as at shareholding

31 March in the
2018 Company
i
—E-N\F
=A=+-—H EARAT
Z R4 BREZ

#E BMAOBED

Mr. Chen Weiwu (Note 1)

BRIER (M 1) Rt EE R
Note:
1. These shares are owned by Grand Nice International

Limited which is wholly and beneficially owned by
Mr. Chen Weiwu.

Underlying shares of the Company

Details of the Directors’ interest in share options
are disclosed in the paragraph headed “Share
Option Scheme" in this report.

Save as disclosed herein, as at 31 March 2018,
none of the Directors or chief executive of the
Company had any interest or short position in the
shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as
recorded in the register required to be kept under
section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
the Model Code.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 March 2018, other than the interests of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company disclosed
in the paragraph headed “Disclosure of Interest” above,
the following persons had interests or short position
in the shares and underlying Shares as recorded in the

register of interests required to be kept by the Company

under section 336 of the SFO:
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Number of percentage of
shares held shareholding
as at in the
Name of shareholder Nature of interest 31 March 2018 Company
R-B-N\F
=B=+-H AR
Z Frs i 43 BRE
RREMH ERE L] ZHARSE
Grand Nice International Limited Beneficial owner 579,806,977 53.80%
("Grand Nice") (Note 1)
EBERARAR([EE] (Mit1) EnEAA
Mr. Cheng Yang (Note 2) Beneficial owner 76,180,000 7.07%
BB EENF2) BEmEAA 73,500 0.01%
Interest of the spouse
[
China Resources National Interest of controlled corporation 66,666,6666 6.19%
Corporation (“CRNC") (Note 3)
HEERHAAC([REER(MF3) SEEERR
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS (Continued)

1 Grand Nice is wholly and beneficially owned by Mr. Chen
Weiwu who is an Executive Director and the Chairman of
the Company.

2. Mr. Cheng Yang personally owned 76,180,000 shares of
the Company and his wife, Ms. Bai Xue, owned 73,500

shares of the Company.

3. To the best knowledge of the Directors, Commotra
Company Limited is a wholly-owned subsidiary of China
Resources, which is a wholly-owned subsidiary of CRC
Bluesky Limited (“CRCB"), which is in turn wholly-owned
by China Resources Co., Limited, which is in turn wholly-
owned by CRNC.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2018, according
to the register of interests required to be kept by the
Company under section 336 of the SFO, there was no
person who had any interest or short position in the
shares or underlying shares of the Company which would
fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions
of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Other than the Share Option Scheme as disclosed in
this report, no equity-linked agreements that will or may
result in the Company issuing Shares, or that require the
Company to enter into any agreements that will or may
result in the Company issuing Shares, were entered into
by the Company during the year or subsisted at the end
of the year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Under the Bye-laws, every Director or other officers of
the Company acting in relation to any of the affairs of
the Company shall be indemnified and secured harmless
out of the assets and profits of the Company from and
against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and
expenses which they or any of them, their or any of their
heirs, executors or administrators, shall or may incur
or sustain by or by reason of any act done, concurred
in or omitted in or about the execution of their duty, or
supposed duty, in their respective offices, or trusts. The
Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover in
respect of legal action against its Directors and officers.

eall]

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED I EmERERARD

FERR#H)

1. EBHARARTEFREIFERER LS
ERE=RHER -

2. B EMEA%EET6,180,000 0% KA A &
D MEZRFHS A 73,500 R AR 7]
Bfn e

3. BEEMARAM AEERAFRAERZA
HHE K B R #EHACRC Bluesky
Limited ([CRCB))Z&#H B ZMHE A7)
CRCBEEHKRNERATEZEHRE - #)H
ROBTPEEBEEHRE -

BREXHBEEEN R_ZFT—-NF=H
=t+—H BERAQXFDEAREES MHAEK
PI£ 336 RIFE 2 B - MIEA LA
REZBOHEBRD P RERERIEES LB
BIEPIEXVEE 2 R30 BZ GXARMAR
AW 2 B Em kR -

R AR 4 0 1 5

BRAHR A BT BEE 2 RAES RIS - B
T AL B R A R AT IR 2 IR £ 4 1
B ABRARANLHE AL YA
I RVBEATRRAD 2 (160 15 i e AR 2 RV A 4 P 4T
ST T ©

BEFF 2 RER

REBABME - ARARBSEFTHHMUAR
AR EBTEZRAR R ERBE B AR
REAIZEERFBESHE ZFALTH
ERZFAL ZFEALTZEAEAAN B
BARTANEEEEARES B ZBBHET
HITERERBEBRERRAMEL - L2
ERRTERMBHEARI ZMEFL B
A WEBR BERAX  ATERRS
P EMBESE - ARFAD LB ERES
HBEZENSABBREZZRFAZEER

LA
()
PR

o



MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and
administration of the whole or any substantial part of the
business of the Company were entered into or existed
during the year.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY AND
PERFORMANCE

The Group puts great emphasis in environmental
protection and energy conservation to enhance the
capacity of sustainable development and undertake
relative social responsibility. Through the establishment
of an ever-improving management system, energy
conservation and environment protection were strongly
promoted, leading to the remarkable achievement of
environmental management.

The Company will issue separately an Environmental,
Social and Governance Report under Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Guide as specified in
Appendix 27 of the Listing Rules.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELATED LAWS AND
REGULATIONS AND ADVANCE TO AN
ENTITY

Compliance procedures are in place to ensure adherence
to applicable laws, rules and regulations, in particular,
those have a significant impact on the Group. Save
as otherwise disclosed and as far as the Board and
management are aware, the Group has complied with
all related laws and regulations in all material aspects
which may have significant impact on the business and
operation of the Group during the year under review.
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COMPLIANCE WITH RELATED LAWS AND
REGULATIONS AND ADVANCE TO AN
ENTITY (Continued)

On 13 September 2017, M RIEH R EEEXZHR A
8] (Nanjing Yinkun Investment Corporation*) and
mRAERNEBREEMLABRADAF (Nan Jing Chuang
Yi Dong Ba Qu Technology Development Co., Ltd.*)
(the "Guarantors”), two companies established in the
PRC and indirect non-wholly owned subsidiaries of the
Company as the guarantors, entered into a guarantee
agreement (the “"Guarantee Agreement”), pursuant
to which the Guarantors agreed to guarantee the
repayment obligations of FA R{AERHERE BR A A
(Nanjing Bo Tai Technology Development Co., Ltd.*), a
company established in the PRC and a potential business
partner of the Guarantor, as the borrower under the
loan agreement in respect of the loan facility for the
principal amount of up to RMB40,000,000 at a floating
rate in accordance with the benchmark lending rate (as
announced by the People’s Bank of China) plus 4.25%,
subject to adjustments, which was secured by certain
properties in the PRC and was provided by a financial
institution in the PRC in September 2017.

At the material time, the provision of guarantee (the
“Guarantee”) under the Guarantee Agreement by the
Guarantor constituted a discloseable transaction for the
Company under Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules. For
further details, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 27 November 2017.
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RELATIONSHIP OF STAKEHOLDERS

The Company believes that employees, customers
and business partners are the key to have continuous
sustainable development. The Company is committed to
be people-oriented and build up good relationship with its
employees. The Group provides on-the-job training and
development opportunities to enhance its employees’
career progression. Through different trainings, staff's
professional knowledge in corporate operations,
occupational and management skills are enhanced. The
Group also values the health and well-being of its staff.
In order to provide employees with health coverage, its
employees are entitled to medical insurance benefits.
The Group also works together with its business partners
to provide high quality products and services to achieve
the goal of sustainable development and contribution to
the society.

Save as otherwise disclosed, there was no material and
significant dispute between the Group and its distributors
and/or customers during the year under review.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year under review, the aggregated sales
attributable to the Group's five largest customers
accounted for approximately 29% while the largest
customer accounted for approximately 10% of its total
revenue.

During the year under review, the aggregate purchases
attributable to the Group's five largest suppliers
accounted for approximately 73% while the largest
supplier accounted for approximately 53% of its total
purchases.

None of the Directors, their close associates, or any
shareholder (which to the knowledge of the Directors
owned more than 5% of the Company’s issued shares)
had an interest in the five largest suppliers or customers
noted above.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year under review, the Group did not conduct
any non-exempt connected transaction or continuing
connected transaction under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

As at 31 March 2018, the Group employed a total
number of 85 (2017: 139) employees. The remuneration
of the employees of the Group for continuing operations
is amounted to approximately HK$22.4 million for the
year ended 31 March 2018 (2017: HK$35.8 million).
The Group remunerates its employees based on
their performance, experience and prevailing industry
practices. The emoluments of the Directors and
senior management of the Company are decided by
the remuneration committee of the Company, having
regard to the Company’s operating results, individual
performance and comparable market statistics.

The Group periodically reviews its remuneration package
in order to attract, motivate and retain its employees.
Discretionary bonuses are rewarded to the Directors and
employees based on the Group’s operating results and
their performance.

Further, the Company has also adopted a share option
scheme for the primary purpose of providing incentives
or rewards to any of the Director, employee and other
eligible participant who made significant contribution
to the Group. The Group also provides external training
courses to its staff to improve their skills and services
on an ongoing basis.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESSES

As at 31 March 2018, none of the Directors was
interested in any business, which competed or was
likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the
Group's businesses except that Mr. Chen Weiwu is an
ultimate beneficiary owner of BTIT which is engaged in
construction, property development and related business
in the PRC.

As the Board is independent of the boards of BTIT, the
Company has therefore been capable of carrying on its
businesses independently of, and at arm’s length from,
the above businesses.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Liquidity and financial resources

As at 31 March 2018, the Group had bank borrowings,
bills payables and convertible bonds in total of
approximately HK$98.1 million (2017: HK$51.4 million).
The gearing ratio of the Group as at 31 March 2018
was 87.4% compared with 36.5% as at 31 March 2017.
Such ratio was calculated with reference to the bank
borrowings, bills payables and convertible bonds over the
Company's equity attributable to owners of the Company.
As at 31 March 2018, the Group had net current assets
of approximately HK$85.1 million (2017: net current
assets of approximately HK$2.1 million). The current ratio
of the Group as at 31 March 2018 was approximately 1.5
compared with 1.0 as at 31 March 2017.

The maturity profile of the Group’'s bank borrowings is
set out as follows:
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The carrying amounts of all the Group’s bank borrowings
were denominated in RMB. All of the Group’'s bank
borrowings balance of approximately HK$30.0 million
as at 31 March 2018 which was charged at a floating
interest rate. The bank borrowings carry interest rates
ranged from 5.66% to 6.50% (2017: 2.76% to 6.50%)
per annum. As at 31 March 2018, no unutilised bank
borrowing facility was remained (2017: HK$30 million).

The revenue of the Group, being mostly denominated in
Renminbi and Hong Kong dollar, matches the currency
requirement of the Group’s expenses while other foreign
currencies were immaterial. During the year ended 31
March 2018, no financial instrument was entered into by
the Group used for hedging purpose. The Group was not
exposed to any exchange rate risk or any related hedges.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Fund raising activities

During the year ended 31 March 2018, the Group
completed the following fund raising exercise to
strengthen its financial position and raised the gross
proceeds of approximately HK$46.3 million, with the net
proceeds of approximately HK$46.1 million after deduction
of issuance expenses. Details of which are set out as

follows:

Date of Description of fund Intended use

announcement raising activities of proceeds

A EE SEEEMM ISR ERERR

26 July 2017 Issue of convertible Approximately
bonds in an HK$46.1 million for
aggregate principal general working
amount of capital of the
HK$46,341,960 Group

—T—tF+A BIIRCHERER

—+xH 46,341,960 7T,2 rEEZ —REE

AR ES A®

Charges

As at 31 March 2018, all of the bank borrowings of
the Group in the total amount of HK$30.0 million were
secured by personal and corporate guarantees provided
by Mr. Yang Lei, a director of certain subsidiaries of the
Company, his spouse and a related company, which is
beneficially owned by Mr. Yang Lei and his spouse (the
“Related Company”) and certain assets of Mr. Yang Lei,

his spouse and a related party.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)
Charges (Continued)

On 25 November 2015, M RIRHLEEEGR A 7
(“Nanjing Yinkun Investment Corporation Co. Ltd.*"), an
indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company,
provided the guarantee in respect of a loan facility for
the principal amount of up to RMB35 million provided
to an independent third party from a financial institution
in the PRC. The amount under the loan facility has been
fully repaid on 21 November 2017.

On 13 September 2017, E RIRHMIZE B X AR A 7
(“Nanjing Yinkun Investment Corporation Co. Ltd.*") and
ERAERN\EMEEREMLAR (“Nan Jing Chuang Yi
Dong Ba Qu Technology Development Co., Ltd.*"), two
indirect non-wholly owned subsidiaries of the Company,
provided the guarantees in respect of a loan facility for
the principal amount of up to RMB40 million provided to
an independent third party from a financial institution in
the PRC. Details of the guarantee have been set out in
the Company’s announcement dated 27 November 2017.

Save as disclosed above, the Group did not have any
charges on assets as at 31 March 2018.

Contingent liabilities

As at 31 March 2018, the Group had no material
contingent liabilities.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Significant investments held, material acquisitions
and disposals of subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures, and future plans for material investments or
capital assets

During the year, the Company, as the vendor, entered
into a framework disposal agreement (the “Framework
Disposal Agreement”), pursuant to which the
Company has conditionally agreed to sell, and the
Purchaser has conditionally with True Glory Ventures
Limited (the “Purchaser”) agreed to purchase the
entire equity interests of a number of subsidiaries (the
“Target Companies”), for a total cash consideration
of HKD500,000. The completion of the disposal took
place on 31 March 2018 in accordance with the terms
and conditions of the Framework Disposal Agreement.
Following the completion, those subsidiaries will no
longer be held by the Group. Details of the Disposal
were disclosed in the Company’s announcements dated
9 February 2018 and 2 April 2018.

Save as the disposal of the entire equity interest in
the Target Companies, there were no other significant
investments held, no material acquisitions or disposals of
subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures during the year
ended 31 March 2018.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Advance to an entity

(i)

On 25 November 2015, FRIBHEEETEBRA
A (“Nanjing Yinkun Investment Corporation*")
(the “Guarantor”), an indirect non-wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company as the
guarantor, entered into a guarantee agreement
(the "Guarantee Agreement”), pursuant to
which the Guarantor agreed to guarantee the
repayment obligations of F Rinm B @A KER
AR 2 A ("Nanjing Ruiyi Heng Tong Technology
Development Co., Ltd.*"), a company established
in the PRC and a potential business partner of
the Guarantor, as the borrower under the loan
agreement in respect of the loan facility for the
principal amount of up to RMB35 million at a
floating rate in accordance with the benchmark
lending rate of one-to-five year term loan as
announced by the People’'s Bank of China, subject
to adjustments, which was secured by certain
properties in the PRC and was provided by a
financial institution in the PRC in October 2015.
Such facility’s outstanding balance was fully repaid
on 21 November 2017. For further details, please
refer to the announcements of the Company dated
14 June 2016 and 27 November 2017.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Advance to an entity (Continued)

(ii)

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED I EmERERARD

On 13 September 2017, M RIBHELEEZHFR A
a) (“Nanjing Yinkun Investment Corporation Co.
Ltd.*") and FAREIERN\EEHXABER QA (“Nanjing
Chuangyi Dong Ba Qu technology Corporation
Co. Ltd.*")(the "Guarantors”), indirect non-
wholly owned subsidiaries of the Company as
the guarantors, entered into two guarantee
agreements (the “Guarantee Agreements”)
respectively, pursuant to which the Guarantors
agreed to guarantee the repayment obligations
of MRMEHEBIEERAMRAQF ("Nanjing Botai
Technology Development Co., Ltd.*"), a company
established in the PRC and a potential business
partner of the Guarantor, as the borrower under
the loan agreement in respect of the loan facility
for the principal amount of up to RMB40 million at
a floating rate in accordance with the benchmark
lending rate as announced by the People’s Bank of
China plus 4.25%, which was secured by certain
properties in the PRC and was provided by a
financial institution in the PRC in September 2017.
Such facility shall be matured in 36 months and
RMB20 million was first drawdown in November
2017 and the remaining RMB20 million was
drawdown in December 2017. For further details,
please refer to the announcement of the Company
dated 27 November 2017.
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REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Details of the remuneration paid by the Group to the
Directors of the Company and senior management of the
Group for the year ended 31 March 2018 are set out in
notes 12 and 37(a) to the financial statements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
THE COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor its subsidiaries purchased, sold
or redeemed the Company’s listed securities during the
year ended 31 March 2018.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of its Directors, the Company
has maintained sufficient public float in accordance with
the Listing Rules throughout the year ended 31 March
2018 and as at the date of this report.

AUDITOR

A resolution will be proposed at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company to re-appoint BDO
Limited as auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board
Chen Weiwu
Chairman

Hong Kong, 27 June 2018

*  For identification only
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INTRODUCTION

The Board and the senior management of the Company
are committed to establishing good corporate governance
practices and procedures. The maintenance of high
standard of business ethics and corporate governance
practices has always been one of the Group's goals.
The Company believes that good corporate governance
provides a framework that is essential for effective
management, successful business growth and a healthy
corporate culture, thereby leading to the enhancement of
shareholders’ value.

CODE OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Throughout the year ended 31 March 2018, the Company
has complied with the code provisions of the Corporate
Governance Code (the "CG Code"”) contained in
Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules, save for the deviation
of code provision A.1.1 and C.2.5 of the CG Code below:

Pursuant to code provision A.1.1 of the CG Code, Board
meetings should be held at least four times a year at
approximately quarterly internals. Although only two
regular Board meetings were held during the year, the
Board considered that sufficient meetings had been held
as business operations were under the management
and the supervision of the executive Directors. In
addition, senior management of the Group provided to
the Directors the information in respect of the Group's
business development and activities from time to time
and, when required, ad hoc Board meetings will be held.

Pursuant to code provision C.2.5 of the CG Code,
the Group should have an internal audit function. The
Company conducted an annual review on the need
for setting up an internal audit department. Given the
Group's simple operating structure, it was decided that
the Board would be directly responsible and review on
the adequacy and effectiveness of the risk management
and internal control systems of the Group. During the
year, the Board through the Audit Committee had
conducted an annual review on the risk management
and internal control systems of the Group, including the
analysis and appraisal of its adequacy and effectiveness.
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THE BOARD
Responsibilities

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control
of the Company and oversees the Group's business,
strategic decisions and performances and is collectively
responsible for promoting the success of the Company
by directing and supervising its affairs. In practice, the
Board takes responsibility for decision making in all
major matters of the Company including the approval and
monitoring of all policy matters, the setting of objectives,
annual budgets and overall strategies, the entering into
material transactions, appointment of Directors and
other significant financial and operational matters. The
day-to-day management, administration and operation
of the Company are delegated to the senior executives
and the management. Their responsibilities include the
implementation of decisions made by the Board, the
co-ordination and direction of day-to-day operation and
management of the Company in accordance with the
management strategies and plans approved by the Board.
The Board receives full support from senior executives
to discharge its responsibility. Prior approval has to
be obtained from the Board before entering into any
significant transactions. The statement of the auditors of
the Company in relation to their reporting responsibilities
for the consolidated financial statements is set out in the
Independent Auditor’'s Report on pages 58 to 64 of this
report.
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THE BOARD (Continued)
Composition

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises six
Directors, including three Executive Directors, namely,
Mr. Chen Weiwu (Chairman), Mr. Chen Gengxian (Chief
Executive Officer) and Mr. Zhou Houjie and three
Independent Non-Executive Directors, namely, Mr. Chen
Youchun, Mr. Chan Chein Kwong William and Ms. Lui
Mei Ka.

One of the Independent Non-Executive Directors has
appropriate accounting and financial management
expertise. The number of Independent Non-Executive
Directors is more than one-third of the Board.
Biographical details of the Chairman and other Directors
are set out in the paragraph headed “Biographical details
of Directors and senior management” on pages 14 to 18
of this report.

The presence of three Independent Non-Executive
Directors is considered by the Board to be a reasonable
balance between Executive and Non-Executive Directors.
The Board is of the opinion that such balance can provide
adequate checks and balances to safeguard the interests
of shareholders and of the Group. The Independent Non-
Executive Directors provide to the Group with a wide
range of expertise and experience so that independent
judgment can be exercised effectively. They have also
participated in Board meetings and general meetings,
dealt with potential conflicts of interest, served on Audit
Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination
Committee of the Company and scrutinised the Group's
performance and reporting. Through their active
participation, the management process of the Company
can be critically reviewed and controlled.
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THE BOARD (Continued)
Composition (Continued)

The Directors have distinguished themselves in their
field of expertise, and have exhibited high standards
of personal and professional ethics and integrity. All
Directors have given sufficient time and attention to
the Company's affairs. The Board believes that the
ratio between Executive Directors and Independent
Non-Executive Directors is reasonable and adequate to
perform check and balance function over the Board in
the decision making process.

The Board participates in the selection and approval of
new Director. Independent Non-Executive Directors are
appointed for a specific term. Under the Bye-laws, all
the Directors are required to retire and be re-selected by
rotation at least once every three years.

In compliance with Code Provision A.3.2 of the CG Code,
an updated list of the Directors identifying their role and
function are available on the websites of the Company
(http://www.tricor.com.hk/WebService/00674/) and the
Stock Exchange (www.hkex.com.hk). The Company will
review the composition of the Board from time to time
to ensure that the Board possesses the appropriate
and necessary expertise, skill and experience to meet
the needs of the Group’s business and to enhance the
Shareholders’ value.

INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received an annual confirmation
of independence from each of the Independent Non-
Executive Director in accordance with Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules and each of them has declared fulfilment
of all the guidelines for assessing independence
in accordance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
Accordingly, the Company considers that all the
Independent Non-Executive Directors are independent.
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INDEPENDENCE (continued)

All Independent Non-Executive Directors are identified
as such in all corporate communications containing the
names of the Directors. In addition, there is no material
relationship between Board members.

BOARD MEETINGS AND SHAREHOLDERS’
MEETINGS

The Board regularly meets in person or through other
electronic means of communication at least four times
every year to determine the overall strategic direction,
objectives and to approve interim results, annual results
or other significant matters. Draft notice and agenda
for regular meetings are provided to all Directors for
comments and inclusion of any matters for deliberation
at the meetings. Apart from holding regular meetings,
senior management from time to time provides to the
Directors information on activities and development
of the business of the Group. The Company Secretary
assists the Chairman in preparing agenda for the
meetings and ensures that all applicable rules and
regulations in connection with the meetings are observed
and complied with. The agenda and Board papers are
then sent to all Directors at least 3 days prior to the
meeting. The Company Secretary also takes detailed
minutes, keeps records of matters discussed and
decision resolved at the meetings.
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BOARD MEETINGS AND SHAREHOLDERS’
MEETINGS (continued)

During the year, details of the Directors’ attendance in

the following meetings are set out below:

X ER
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EEgeERRREAEH)

REA > EFHFEATEZZFBRIIDOT ¢

Audit Remuneration Nomination Annual Special
Board Committee Committee Committee General General
Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting
attended/ attended/ attended/ attended/ attended/ attended/
Eligible Eligible Eligible Eligible Eligible Eligible
Name of Directors attended attended attended attended attended attended
e/ e/ &,/ &/ &,/ &,/
RERLE RERLE RERLRE RERILRE RER RER
Ezg ERZEES FMzEE REZEE HERR HERR
3] -f ] E ] 3 a3 BERE REKE
Executive Director
HITES
Mr. Chen Weiwu 5/5 — — 2/2 1 1
RERLE
Mr. Chen Gengxian 5/5 — — — 1 il
BB
Mr. Chen Songbin (Resigned 3/3 — — — — —
on 1 July 2017)
BROEEE(MN_T—1F
+R—HEHT)
Mr. Zhou Houijie 5/5 — 3/3 — 1 il
EELS s
Independent Non-
Executive Director
BUFBTES
Mr. Chen Youchun 4/5 2/2 3/3 2/2 1 1
BREEE
Mr. Chan Chein Kwong 5/5 2/2 3/3 2/2 1 il
William
BB EE
Ms. Lui Mei Ka (appointed 3/4 112 — — 1”n il
on 21 April 2017)
EERLL(R-T—LF
MA=Z+—HEZME)
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BOARD MEETINGS AND SHAREHOLDERS’
MEETINGS (Continued)

During regular meetings of the Board, the Directors
discuss and formulate the overall strategies of the Group,
monitor financial performances, review the annual and
interim results, and make decisions on other significant
matters. The execution of daily operational matters is
delegated to the senior executives of the Group.

The company secretary records the proceedings of each
Board meeting in detail by keeping minutes, including the
record of all decisions resolved by the Board together
with concerns raised and dissenting views expressed (if
any). Draft Board minutes are circulated to all Directors
for comment and approval as soon as practicable after
the meeting. All minutes are open for inspection at any
reasonable time upon request by any Director.

All Directors have access to relevant and timely
information at all times and they may make further
enquiries if it is necessary to do so.

They also have unrestricted access to the advice
and services of the company secretary, who is held
responsible for providing Directors with Board papers
and other related materials. The company secretary also
ensures that proper Board procedures are followed and
that all applicable laws and regulations are complied
with. If the Directors consider necessary and appropriate,
they may retain the service of independent professional
advisers at the Group's expense.

In case where a conflict of interest arises involving a
substantial shareholder or a Director, such matter will be
resolved in a physical meeting instead of passing written
resolutions. Independent Non-Executive Directors with
no conflict of interest will be present at meetings to deal
with such conflict issues.
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BOARD MEETINGS AND SHAREHOLDERS’
MEETINGS (Continued)

The Board committees, including the Audit Committee,
the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee, have all adopted the applicable practices and
procedures used in Board meetings.

The annual general meeting and other special
general meetings of the Company are the primary
forum for communication with its shareholders and
for shareholders’ participation. All shareholders are
encouraged to attend the general meetings or to appoint
proxies to attend and vote at meetings on their behalves
if they are unable to attend.

During the year ended 31 March 2018, the Company
held its annual general meeting on 28 September 2017
and its special general meeting on 2 June 2017. Details
of major items discussed in those general meeting are
set out in the circulars of the Company dated 27 July
2017 and 15 May 2017 respectively.

TRAINING AND SUPPORT FOR
DIRECTORS

All Directors, including Independent Non-Executive
Directors, must keep abreast of their collective
responsibilities as Directors and of the business of the
Group. As such, the Group provides a comprehensive
and formal induction to each newly appointed Director
upon his/her appointment. Briefings and orientations are
provided so as to ensure that new Directors are familiar
with the role of the Board, their legal and other duties
as a Director as well as the business and governance
practices of the Group. Such programmes are tailor made
for each Director taking into account their background
and expertise.
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TRAINING AND SUPPORT FOR

DIRECTORS (Continued)

All Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous

professional training so as to develop and refresh

directors’ knowledge and skills and to ensure that their

contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.

During the year ended 31 March 2018, the Directors

participated in the following training:

EEZ2BIR<E#)

ZEHEREF2EFEEREI - UBRR
EREFCABLEE  UERREHES
SREFHANBRENZER

NE=ZA=+—RHLEFERN"

REBEE-F—
EEL2ETHE

Type of training

Name of Director EENSE IR
Executive Directors PITES

Mr. Chen Weiwu BREREE A B
Mr. Chen Gengxian RIUELE A B
Mr. Chen Songbin (resigned on 1 July 2017) BRILHEE(RZS—+F A —HFT) A B
Mr. Zhou Houjie AR E A B
Independent Non-Executive Directors BIUFHTES

Mr. Chen Youchun BRRELE A,
Mr. Chan Chein Kwong William BRik® LS A,
Ms. Lui Mei Ka (apponited on 21 April 2017) EXEnT(R=E—+FNAZ+—HEZMT) A, B

A: attending seminars, briefing sessions, conferences

and/or forums

B: reading newspapers, journals and updates relating

to the economy and/or general business etc.

Each Director will, upon his/her first appointment and

thereafter on a yearly basis, disclose to the Group the

number and nature of offices held by such Director in

public companies and organisations and other significant

commitments.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee was established with
specific written terms of reference which was revised
and adopted on 6 March 2015. The Remuneration
Committee currently consists of one Executive Director
and two Independent Non-Executive Directors, namely,
Mr. Chen Youchun (Chairman), Mr. Zhou Houjie and Mr.
Chan Chein Kwong William.

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for, among
other things, making recommendations to the Board
regarding the overall remuneration policy, remuneration
of Directors and senior management of the Group,
share option scheme, bonus structure, provident fund
and other compensation-related issues. This committee
consults with the Chairman and/or Chief Executive officer
on its proposals and recommendations and has access
to professional advice, if necessary. The Remuneration
Committee is provided with sufficient resources to
discharge and perform its duties.

The specific terms of reference of the Remuneration
Committee is posted on the Company’'s website. The
Remuneration Committee meets at least once a year.

During the year under review, the Remuneration
Committee held three meetings to review and make
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of all Directors and senior management.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee was established with specific
written terms of reference which was revised and
adopted on 30 August 2013. The Nomination Committee
currently consists of one Executive Director and two
Independent Non-Executive Directors, namely, Mr. Chen
Weiwu (Chairman), Mr. Chen Youchun and Mr. Chan
Chein Kwong William.

The main duties of the Nomination Committee include
reviewing the structure, size and composition of the
Board annually, making recommendations on any
proposed changes to the Board to complement the
Company’'s corporate strategy, identifying individuals
suitably qualified to become members of the Board,
selecting individuals nominated for directorships,
assessing the independence of the Independent Non-
Executive Directors and making recommendations to
the Board on the appointment or re-appointment of
Directors and succession planning for Directors, in
particular the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer.
The Nomination Committee is provided with sufficient
resources to discharge and perform its duties.

The specific terms of reference of the Nomination
Committee is posted on the Company’'s website. The
Nomination Committee meets at least once a year.

During the year under review, the Nomination Committee
held two meetings to assess the independence of the
Independent Non-Executive Directors. The Nomination
Committee considered that an appropriate balance of
diversity perspectives of the Board is maintained.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established an Audit Committee with
specific written terms of reference which was revised
and adopted on 17 December 2015. The main duties of
the Audit Committee include, among other things, the
following:

(@) to review the financial statements and reports and
consider any significant or unusual items raised by
the Company’s staff responsible for the accounting
and financial reporting function or external auditor
before submission to the Board.

(b)  to review the relationship with the external auditor
by reference to the work performed by the auditor,
their fees and terms of engagement, and make
recommendation to the Board on the appointment,
re-appointment and removal of external auditor.

(c) to review the adequacy and effectiveness of the
Company's financial reporting system, internal
control system and risk management system and
associated procedures.

The Audit Committee is provided with sufficient
resources to discharge and perform its duties.

Other duties of the Audit Committee are set out in
its specific terms of reference which is posted on the
Company’s website. The Audit Committee shall meet at
least twice a year.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE (Continued)

The Audit Committee currently consists of three
Independent Non-Executive Directors, namely Mr. Chen
Youchun (Chairman), Mr. Chan Chein Kwong William and
Ms. Lui Mei Ka. No member of the Audit Committee
is a former partner of the existing auditing firm of the
Company within one year on the date of his ceasing to
be a partner or had any financial interest in the auditing
firm. The Audit Committee has reviewed the accounting
principles and practices adopted by the Group and
discussed auditing and financial reporting matters with
the management team of the Company.

During the year under reivew, the Audit Committee
held two meetings to review, among other things, the
Company’s interim report for the six months ended 30
September 2017, annual report for the year ended 31
March 2017. The Audit Committee has also reviewed
the financial reporting and compliance procedures, report
on the Company’s internal control and risk management
review and processes as well as the re-appointment of
the external auditor. There is no material uncertainty
relating to events and conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Company’'s ability to continue as
a going concern. There is no disagreement between the
Board and the Audit Committee regarding the selection,
appointment, resignation or dismissal of external auditor.

The accounts for the year were audited by BDO Limited,
whose term of office will expire upon the forthcoming
annual general meeting. The Audit Committee has
recommended to the Board that BDO Limited be
nominated for appointment as the auditor of the
Company at the forthcoming annual general meeting.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE (Continued)

The company secretary keeps full minutes of all Audit
Committee meetings. In line with practices consistent
with Board meetings and other committee meetings,
draft and final version of Audit Committee meeting
minutes are circulated to all members of the Audit
Committee for comments, approval and record as soon
as practicable after each meeting.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy setting
out the approach to achieve diversity on the Board. The
Company considered diversity of board members can be
achieved through consideration of a number of aspects,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, professional experience, skills
and knowledge. All Board appointments will be based on
meritocracy, and candidates will be considered against
objective criteria, having due regard for the benefits of
diversity on the Board.

Selection of candidates will be based on a range of
diversified perspectives, including but not limited to
gender, age, cultural and educational background,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length
of service. The ultimate decision will be made upon the
merits of the selected candidates and their contribution
to the Board. The Board considered the measurable
objectives, including but not limited to skills, knowledge,
professional experience and cultural and educational
background, and agreed that these measurable objectives
were achieved for the diversity of the Board which
contributed to the corporate strategy and the business
development of the Company.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 March 2018, the remuneration
in respect of audit services provided by the auditors,
BDO Limited, amounted to HK$1,490,000 (2017:
HK$1,788,000). For non-audit services in respect of the
review of the interim results of the Group for the six
months ended 30 September 2017, the fees amounted
to HK$300,000 (2017: HK$320,000).
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COMPLIANCE WITH MODEL CODE

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of the Listed Issuers (the
“Model Code"”) as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing
Rules as its own code of conduct regarding directors’
securities transactions. Specific enquiries have been
made with all Directors, who have confirmed that,
during the year ended 31 March 2018, each of them has
complied with the required standards as set out in the
Model Code.

RESPECTIVE RESPONSIBILITIES OF
DIRECTORS AND AUDITOR

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of
financial statements, which give a true and fair view
of the financial position of the Group. The auditor is
responsible to form an independent opinion on the
audited financial statements and report the same to the
shareholders of the Company.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

No corporate governance committee has been
established and the Board is responsible for performing
the corporate governance functions including but not
limited to developing and reviewing the Company’'s
policies and practices on corporate governance,
reviewing and monitoring training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior
management.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Financial Statements and Financial Reporting

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements of
the Group that give a true and fair view in accordance
with applicable accounting standards and Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. The Directors are not aware of
any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt upon the Company's
ability to continue as a going concern.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT (continued)

Financial Statements and Financial Reporting
(Continued)

The Directors also acknowledge their responsibilities
to ensure that the consolidated financial statements on
annual and interim results of the Group are published in
a timely manner, within three months and two months
respectively of the year end and the half-year period end.

The reporting responsibility of the external auditor of the
Company on the consolidated financial statements of the
Group are set out in “Independent Auditor’'s Report” on
pages 58 to 64.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board recognises its overall responsibilities for
maintaining sound and effective risk management
and internal control systems including a review on
their effectiveness for achieving long-term sustainable
development of the Group. The risk management and
internal control systems, under a defined management
structure with limits of authority, are designed for the
Group to identify and manage the significant risks to
pursue its business objectives, safeguard its assets
against unauthorised use or disposition, enhance
effectiveness and efficiency of its operations, ensure the
maintenance of proper accounting records for reliable
financial reporting, and ensure compliance with relevant
laws and regulations. Such systems are designed to
manage rather than eliminate risks of failure in the
achievement of the Group’'s business objectives and
can only provide reasonable, but not absolute assurance
against material misstatement or loss.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL (continued)

The Board is responsible for the determination of the
Group’s risk profile within its acceptable tolerance
levels in business operation, oversight of management
in the design, implementation and monitoring of overall
risk management process from risk identification, risk
assessment, establishment of appropriate risk responses
and regular risk evaluation and monitoring, so as to
ensure the systems are effectively established and
maintained.

The risk management process is structured from
management of the Group from respective business
functions at execution level to the Board, together
assisted with the Audit Committee in decision-making
and monitoring level. Management of the Group
identifies, assesses and prioritises the key existing and
potential risks through a detailed assessment process
and determines the appropriate mitigation strategies
and control measures in response of the identified risks.
Ongoing evaluation and monitoring of the identified risks,
respective measures, and results are carried out and
reported to the Board regularly. The Board at decision-
making level, assisted with the Audit Committee,
reviews the risk appetite, risk management process and
strategies and also the internal control systems and
provide recommendations for any improvement on the
systems in an ongoing basis to ensure risk management
effectiveness.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL (continued)

To further strengthen the risk management and
internal control of the Group, the Board has engaged
an independent risk management and internal control
review adviser (“the Adviser”), Avista PRO-WIS Risk
Advisory Limited, to carry out the internal audit function
by performing an annual review of the risk management
and internal control systems of the selected entities of
the Group for the year ended 31 March 2018. The scope
of review was determined and approved by the Board,
covering material controls on inventory cycle, cash
management cycle and financial reporting cycle including
review of risk management functions of selected entities
of the Group. The Adviser carried out the review which
involves the following tasks:

1. Conducting interviews with relevant management
and staff members relating to the risk management
and internal controls

2. Conducting walk-through relating to the risk
management and internal controls review

3. Reviewing relevant documentation on site relating
to the risk management and internal controls review

4. ldentifying significant deficiencies in the design of
the risk management and internal controls
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL (continued)

5.  Communicate the significant findings with the
management so as to confirm the factual accuracy
of the findings control system.

The Board and the Audit Committee are of the view
there are no material risk management and internal
control defeats were identified by the Adviser during
the course of review. With the discussion between
management, the Adviser and the Audit Committee, the
Board, with the concurrence of the Audit Committee,
considered that the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group are effective and adequate. The
review of the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group is an ongoing process and the
Board maintains a continuing commitment to strengthen
the Group's control environment and processes.

The Company formulated the inside information policy.
The Company regularly reminds the Directors and
employees about due compliance with all policies
regarding the inside information. Also, the Company
keeps Directors, senior management and employees
appraised of the latest regulatory updates. The Company
shall prepare or update appropriate guidelines or policies
to ensure the compliance with regulatory requirements.
Procedures for collection, evaluation of information and
the publication manner are in place to ensure timely
reporting of the inside information to the Board and the
stakeholders of the Group.
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DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

The Board is responsible for decisions in relation to the
overall strategic development of the Group’s business.
All Directors have formal letters of appointment setting
out key terms and conditions of their appointment. Due
to the diversity and volume of the Group's business,
responsibility in relation to the daily operations and
execution of the strategic business plans are delegated
to management of the Group.

All committees, namely the Audit Committee, the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee, have specific terms of reference setting
out the authorities and responsibilities of the respective
committee. All committees are required by their terms
of reference to report to the Board in relation to their
decisions, findings or recommendations, and in certain
specific situations, to seek the Board's approval before
taking any actions.

The Board will review, on a yearly basis, all delegations
by the Board to different committees to ensure that such
delegations are appropriate and continue to be beneficial
to the Company as a whole.

DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS’ LIABILITY
INSURANCE

Insurance cover has been taken out for Directors’
and Officers’ Liability to provide adequate cover, as
determined by the Board, in respect of the Board
members and senior management of the Company.
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SHAREHOLDERS RELATIONS

The Company is committed to maintaining a high level
of transparency and employs a policy of open and timely
disclosure of relevant information to its shareholders.
The commitment to fair disclosure and comprehensive
and transparent reporting of the Company’s activities can
be reflected in various aspects.

To maintain an on-going dialogue with shareholders,
the annual general meeting provides an opportunity for
shareholders to exchange views with the Board.

The Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer attended
the annual general meeting in 2017 (the “2017 Annual
General Meeting”) so as to ensure that shareholders’
views were communicated to the Board. A separate
resolution was proposed by the Chairman in respect of
each separate issue at the annual general meeting.

The proceedings of the annual general meeting are
reviewed from time to time to ensure that the Company
conforms to the best corporate governance practices.
The circular in relation to the arrangement of annual
general meeting will be circulated to all shareholders at
least 20 clear business days prior to the holding of the
annual general meeting, in which it sets out the details of
each resolution proposed and other relevant information.
At the 2017 Annual General Meeting, all resolutions
were put to vote by poll. Tricor Secretaries Limited, the
Company's Hong Kong Branch Share Registrar, was
engaged as scrutineer to ensure votes were properly
counted. The rights of shareholders and the procedures
for demanding a poll on resolutions at general meeting
are contained in the Bye-laws. An explanation of the
detailed procedures for conducting a poll is provided to
the shareholders at the commencement of the meeting.
The chairman would respond to queries raised by the
shareholders regarding the voting procedures. The poll
results are published in accordance with the relevant
provisions of the Listing Rules.
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SHAREHOLDERS RELATIONS (Continued)

Pursuant to the Bye-laws, shareholder(s) holding at the
date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth
of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right
of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at all
times have the right, by written requisition to the Board
or the company secretary of the Company, to require a
special general meeting to be called by the Board for the
transaction of any business specified in such requisition
and such meeting shall be held within two months after
the deposit of such requisition.

If within twenty one days of such deposit the Board fails
to proceed to convene such meeting the requisitionists
themselves may do so in accordance with the relevant
provisions in the Companies Act of Bermuda.

The Company also communicates to its shareholders
through its annual and interim reports. The Directors,
company secretary or other appropriate members of
senior management also respond promptly to inquiries
from shareholders and investors.

Shareholders may at any time serve their enquiries to the
Board in writing for the attention of company secretary
at Room 2101, 21/F., China Merchants Tower, Shun Tak
Centre, 168-200 Connaught Road Central, Hong Kong.
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PROCEDURES FOR PUTTING FORWARD
PROPOSALS AT SHAREHOLDERS'
MEETINGS

Under Bermuda law, in addition to the right to requisition
a special general meeting, any number of shareholders
representing not less than one-twentieth (1/20) of
the total voting rights of all the shareholders having
at the date of the requisition a right to vote at the
general meeting; or not less than one hundred (100)
shareholders, shall (unless otherwise resolved by the
Company) at their own expense have the right by written
requisition:

(@) to require notice of any resolution which may
properly be moved and is intended to be moved
at the next annual general meeting to be given to
shareholders; and/or

(b) to request for circulation to shareholders any
statement of not more than one thousand (1000)
words with respect to the matter referred to in any
proposed resolution or the business to be dealt
with at any general meeting.

A requisition referred to above must be signed by
the requisitionists in a single document or in separate
copies prepared for the purpose. A copy of the signed
requisition, accompanied by a sum reasonably sufficient
to meet the Company’s expenses, must be deposited at
the Company'’s registered office in Bermuda:

(@) in the case of a requisition requiring notice of a
resolution, not less than six (6) weeks before the
annual general meeting unless an annual general
meeting is called for a date six (6) weeks or less
after the copy has been deposited, in which case
the copy shall be deemed to have been properly
deposited though not deposited within the time
required; and

(b) in the case of any other requisition, not less than
one (1) week before the general meeting.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company is committed to a policy of open and
timely disclosure of corporate information to shareholders
and investors. The Company updates shareholders
on its latest business developments and financial
performance through its annual and interim reports and
notices, announcements and circulars. The Company's
website (http://www.tricor.com.hk/WebService/000674/)
provides a communication platform to the public and the
shareholders.

With a view to bringing the Bye-laws in line with certain
amendments to the Listing Rules and the Companies
Act 1981 of Bermuda between 2012 and 2015 and to
modernising and updating the Bye-laws, the amendments
to the Bye-laws were approved by the shareholders of
the Company in September 2015. Details of which are
set out in the circular of the Company dated 21 August
2015.

The Bye-law is available on both the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange.

CONCLUSION

The Company believes that good corporate governance
is significant in strengthening investor confidence and
attracting investment. The management will devote
considerable effort to strengthening and improving the
standards of the corporate governance of the Group. Any
views and suggestions from the shareholders to promote
and improve our transparency are also welcome.
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Hong Kong
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www.bdo.com.hk

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED
(PEEEZERERATF)

(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements
of China Tangshang Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (together the “Group"”) set out
on pages 65 to 200, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 March 2018,
and the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements
give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial
position of the Group as at 31 March 2018, and of its
consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs")
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA"”) and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“"HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the "“Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements” section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance
with the HKICPA's “Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants” (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our
professional judgment, were of most significance in
our audit of the consolidated financial statements of
the current period. These matters were addressed in
the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.

Impairment assessment of trade and loan receivables

Refer to Note 23 to the consolidated financial statements
and the accounting policies in Note 4(i)(ii) to the
consolidated financial statements.

As at 31 March 2018, the Group had trade and loan
receivables of approximately HK$3.5 million and HK$49.0
million respectively, and provision for impairment thereon
during the year of approximately HK$0.3 million and
HKS$nil respectively. The impairment assessment of
the Group's trade and loan receivables is a key audit
matter due to the application of significant judgment by
management involved.
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

Our audit procedures in relation to the management’s
impairment assessment included:

— enquiring with management of the Group whether

there is any impairment indicator for trade and
loan receivables and assessing whether there
is evidence of management bias on impairment
assessment of trade and loan receivables by
considering the consistency of judgments made by
the management year on year through discussion
with the management to understand their rationale;

— reviewing subsequent settlements of the trade and

loan receivables;

— testing the aging analysis of the trade and loan

receivables, on a sample basis, to the source
documents; and

— assessing the reasonableness of recoverability of

trade and loan receivables with reference to the
collectability, ageing analysis of the receivables,
the ultimate realisation of these outstanding, the
current creditworthiness, past collection history and
the Group’s current and potential future business
relationship with each customer.

OTHER INFORMATION IN THE ANNUAL
REPORT

The directors are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included
in the Company’s annual report, but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements
does not cover the other information and we do not
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
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In connection with our audit of the consolidated
financial statements, our responsibility is to read the
other information and, in doing so, consider whether
the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required
to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this
regard.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and
fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors are responsible for assessing the Group's ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or
have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are also responsible for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process. The Audit Committee
assists the directors in discharging their responsibility in
this regard.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’'s report that
includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you,
as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda
Companies Act 1981, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to
any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually or in
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we
exercise professional judgment and maintain professional
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

° identify and assess the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

° obtain an understanding of internal control relevant
to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

° evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the
directors.

° conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’
use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether
a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If
we conclude that a material uncertainty exists,
we are required to draw attention in our auditor's
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the
date of our auditor’s report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

° evaluate the overall presentation, structure and
content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the
consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

° obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence
regarding the financial information of the entities or
business activities within the Group to express an
opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of
the audit and significant audit findings, including any
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.
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B % B AR S
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate with them
all relationships and other matters that may reasonably
be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the directors, we
determine those matters that were of most significance
in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s
report unless law or regulation precludes public
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not
be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected
to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

BDO Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Chan Wing Fai
Practising Certificate no. P05443

Hong Kong, 27 June 2018
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REETEWHER
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
BE-Z-\F=ZA=1T—HIFE
For the year ended 31 March 2018

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+tF
Notes HK$ HK$
it B T
(re-presented)
(F&E5)
(note 1 & 6)
(Bta1X%6)
Continuing operations BELEER
Revenue Wz 7 81,333,379 78,694,746
Other gains or losses, net Hiplh il 518 - 558 8 63,506,155 7,391,301
Costs of inventories FEKA (7,783,976) (58,643)
Depreciation on property, ME - BEM&E
plant and equipment ZIE (10,324,796) (12,880,695)
Operating lease payments AR (23,797,310) (33,717,202)
Staff costs BT AA 11 (22,400,620) (35,828,323)
Other operating expenses H s (78,652,126) (85,698,508)
Finance costs R E AR 13 (6,657,000) (3,196,095)
Loss before income tax expense  BRFTISFIFZRIE B 9 (4,776,294) (85,293,419)
Income tax credit/(expense) Pristiigse,/ (Fx) 14 1,377,306 (833,619)
Loss for the year from REFELCEEK
continuing operations rEEBR (3,398,988) (86,127,038)
Discontinued operations ERIEER
Loss for the year from REEKRIEEB L
discontinued operations RFEEERE 10 (9,951,805) (7,989,367)
Loss for the year KEEEE (13,350,793) (94,116,405)
ANNUAL REPORT 2018 —NEEY
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

HE-T - \F=A=1+—HILFE
For the year ended 31 March 2018

2018 2017
—E-N\E —T—+F
Notes HK$ HK$
et B T
(re-presented)
(F&E5)
(note 1 & 6)
(Btat1%6)
Other comprehensive income Hit 2 mEKE
Items that will not be TEEFIEZER
reclassified to profit or loss 2R
(Loss)/gain on revaluation of EEMEZ(EBER),/ K
properties 17 (850,522) 2,979,933
Tax credit/(expense) related to BHREMMEEE 2 TIE
changes on revaluation e, ()
of properties 31 140,336 (491,690)
Items that may be reclassified HEEEN2EZER
subsequently to profit or loss Z1EH
Exchange differences arising on BREGINEBEEZIER
translating foreign operations =5 2,287,229 (3,686,046)
Available-for-sale investments, AEHERE - AFEE
change in fair value o 21(a) 312,998 9,140,976
Release of foreign exchange R EME A RERE
reserve upon disposal HINE 5 (8
of subsidiaries 35(a) (19,179,185) —
Reclassification adjustment for AHEAHEERERER
realisation upon disposal of e s B D EAE
available-for-sale investments 21(a) (6,276,790) —
Other comprehensive income for ZRNEEHt2mHIKE
the year, net of tax (S pREiE) (23,565,934) 7,943,173
Total comprehensive income for ZKFEEZ2HEUKFEE
the year (36,916,727) (86,173,232)

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED
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REETEWHER
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
BE-Z-\F=ZA=1T—HIFE
For the year ended 31 March 2018

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+tF
Notes HK$ HK$
et Er BT
(re-presented)
(g&E5)
(note 1 & 6)
(Htst1%6)
Loss for the year attributable to: E{GANEEEIE :
Owners of the Company ViN/NEIE Y= IN
— Continuing operations — BEEEET 16 (3,995,690) (84,976,568)
— Discontinued operations — BERIEER (7,062,681) (4,878,782)
Loss for the year attributable to RNATHEANELAFE
,,,,, owners of the Company  #&# 16 (11,058371) (89,855350)
Non-controlling interests FEPRAR A =
— Continuing operations — BEEEER 596,702 (1,150,470)
— Discontinued operations — BRIEER (2,889,124) (3,110,585)
Loss for the year attributable to FEEREREERFE
non-controlling interests B8 (2,292,422) (4,261,055)
(13,350,793) (94,116,405)
Total comprehensive income for EHAFEREUEAL
the year attributable to:
Owners of the Company KAGRHEAA (34,815,694) (81,653,817)
Non-controlling interests FEIE iR g (2,101,033) (4,519,415)
(36,916,727) (86,173,232)
Loss per share from continuing REFELLERCTRILER
and discontinued operations ZEBREE 16
Basic (HK cents) ERCGE) (1.03) (8.93)
Diluted (HK cents) 58 (L) (1.03) (8.93)
Loss per share from continuing REBELEEE
operations BREE 16
Basic (HK cents) EARGEW) (0.37) (8.44)
Diluted (HK cents) #E0BI) (0.37) (8.44)
ANNUAL REPORT 2018 —Z— /\ 5%
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

NSRS = NEES B SaeE
As at 31 March 2018

31 March 31 March
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+4F
=A=+—8H =A=+—H
Notes HK$ HK$
Kzt BT BT
Assets EE
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment  ¥1% - &= &R E 17 56,486,517 74,930,895
Investment properties "EYE 18 — 6,538,977
Intangible assets mEE 20 672,078 788,962
Available-for-sale investments  A[{EHEIRE 21 - 50,367,334
Deferred tax assets RIERIHE E 31 1,292,706 —
Total non-current assets  JkAaBE=E#E 58451301 132,626,168
Current assets REBEE
Inventories FE 22 22,087,812 29,735,020
Trade and other receivables JEIE % E A FRIE 23 113,691,596 139,945,887
Amounts due from non- JEIKTB AR 2
controlling shareholders of FEVEAR A% B8 SR IR
subsidiaries 24 4,000 14,053
Amounts due from related FEUFE A 508
parties 24 5,832,800 270,614
Cash and bank balances REe RIRTTEER 25 114,165,492 64,645,440
255,781,700 234,611,014
Assets classified as held for DEAERENEZ
sale BE 26 - 40,855,423
Total current assets  Am®HAEEE 255,781,700 275,466,437
Total assets EEHAE 314,233,001 408,092,605

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED I EmERERARD
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

RZE—N\FE=ZA=+—H
As at 31 March 2018

31 March 31 March
2018 2017
—E-N\EFE —E—+4F
=A=+—8H =A=+—H
Notes HK$ HK$
Biat BT o
Liabilities =R
Current liabilities REaE
Trade, bills and other payables [EfI & « Zi5 & E A 27 113,101,516 122,522,946
Amounts due to AN NG 22T
non-controlling shareholders % 5 5178
of subsidiaries 24 — 47,667,960
Amounts due to related parties FEfT#8:E A+ 24 27,040,427 31,898,038
Amount due to ultimate JE S B AR FE A% A B SRR
holding company 24 - 3,267,530
Bank borrowings RITIEE 28 29,953,198 51,401,458
Provision for long service RHIRE S B H
payments 30 — 42,373
Current tax liabilities RITHIBAE 539,250 538,577
170,634,391 257,338,882
Liabilities associated with HAMARKIELELE
assets classified as held HEzaE
for sale 26 — 16,013,447
Total current liabilities MENBEREE 170,634,391 273,352,329
Net current assets REBEEFE 85,147,309 2,114,108
Total assets less current EEABRRBERS
liabilities 143,598,610 134,740,276
Non-current liabilities ERBAE
Convertible bonds AR ES 29 42,278,487 —
Deferred tax liabilities EEIBEEE 31 - 356,455
Total non-current liabilities ERBBELRTE 42,278,487 356,455
Total liabilities EEH8E 212,912,878 273,708,784
NET ASSETS EEFE 101,320,123 134,383,821
ANNUAL REPORT 2018 —NEF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

NEEE === B =S
As at 31 March 2018

31 March 31 March
2018 2017
—E-N\F T
=A=+—8H —A=+—H
Notes HK$ HK$
Kzt BT BT
Capital and reserves RAREEAEMLZ
attributable to owners of B #E
the Company
Share capital A&z 32 53,888,928 53,888,928
Reserves 1 58,381,809 87,360,249
Reserve of a disposal group BIERE 2 HEHET
held for sale (] 26 - (386,926)
112,270,737 140,862,251
Non-controlling interests FERER (10,950,614) (6,478,430)
TOTAL EQUITY FELSHAER 101,320,123 134,383,821
On behalf of the directors REES
Chen Weiwu Zhou Houjie
FREE BAE&
Chairman Executive Director
FE HITEE
CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED #FEE@EZERAR A A



Other
properties
revaluation
reserve
Aoz
EftBE
note 33/
(#i5)
HKS

T

Foreign
exchange
reserve

GERBEHR

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

HE-_Z—N\GF=-A=+—HLEFE
For the year ended 31 March 2018

Equity
Reserve of attributable
Investment  a disposal to owners Non-
revaluation  group held  Accumulated ofthe  controlling Total
Teserve for sale losses ~ Company interests equity
HEHEZ KAAREA

REEGEE LEHREE  EEEE  RERE  GERRE  EneE
fote 33 fhote 260 (note 33)

(hitss) ) HEw)
HK§ HKS HKS HK§ HKS HKS
A #n A T 2 AT

AT Apil 2017 R-F-tERA-A

9,861,693

593792 (386,926] (2044714418 140862251 (6,478,430 134,383,821

Loss for the year

Loss on revaluation of properties
[note 17)

Exchange differences arising on
translating foreign operations

Availablefor-sale investments,
change in fair value
[note 21(a))

Tax credit related to changes
on revluation of properties
[note 31

Reclassifcaton adjustment for ~ EIYETEHERERER
realisation upon disposal o TifEkZER AR
avalable-for-sale investments
(note 21(3)

Release of foreign exchange
reserve upon disposal of
subsidiaries note 35(a)

(850522)

140,336

2,095,840

(19,179,185)

= - (1088371 (11,058371)  (2292422) (13,350,793)

(850522) (850,522)

- - - 20580 191389 2287229

Total comprehensive income

Disposal of subsidiaries
[note 33(a)

Release of reserve of a disposal 5
group held for sale upon
disposal of subsidiaries
(note 35(a)

Transfer to accumulated loss
on disposal of leasefold
[and and buildings
(note 17)

Issuance of convertile bonds
(note 29)

(710,186)

(9,151,507)

(17,083,345)

(139717)

1373450

19,984,388

At 31 Merch 2018 i I
A1 April 2016 R=Z-7§RA-A
Loss for the year TERER

(Gin on revaluation of properties B M 17)
(note 17)

Exchange differences arising on &R EHEL 2 Y
tanslating foreign operations %
Avalable-forsale investments, A1 &R
change in fair value H

[note 21(a))

Tax expense related to changes
on revaluation of properties
[note 31

Reclassification of foreign
exchange reserve related to
disposal group held for sale
(note 26)

£ 0988

2979933

(4916901

(3,427,686

386,926

312,098 - - 312,998 - 312,998

- - - 140,336 - 140,336
(6,276,790) - - (6276790) - (6276790
- - - [19,178,185) - (18,178,185
(5,963,792) - (1088371 (34815694  (2101,038) (36,916,727)
- - - - 3ns1) (2371151)

- 386,926 - 386,926 - 386,926

- - 9181507 - - -

- - - 5887254 - 5837254

- - (2046621282) 112270737 (10950614 101,320,123
3.177,184) — (1,056,59,492) 118431131 (1,959,015 116472,116
- — (89,805,350 (89,855,350 (4261085  (94,116,405)

- - - 29790 - 291998

- - —  [3427686) (2983601  (3,686,046)
9,140,976 - = 9140976 - 9140976

(4916901

(491,690)

[386,926) - - - -

Total comprehensive income

Issug of shares upon open offer  FA2
(note 32)

Share issue expenses

Share option cancelled fnote 34 B

2488243

(3,040,760)

9140976 (366926 (89,865,360 (816538171 (4B19.415) (86173232

- - — 107,771,857 107777851
- - — (369290 3,692,920
- - 17364 - - -

At 31 March 2017 i A ]

9,861,693

16,943,628

5963792 (366,926 (2044714418 14086251 (6478430 134,383,821
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

HE-T - \F=A=1+—HILFE
For the year ended 31 March 2018

2018 2017
—E-N\#F —E—+tF
Notes HK$ HK$
Kzt BT BT
Cash flows from operating REEBRMBrRESRE
activities
Net cash generated from/ mEEBEEL,/(FTRA)Z
(used in) operations e F5E 38(a) 21,198,862 (146,867,163)
Interest received B U F 8 886,246 1,779,574
Tax paid BHE (436,455) (137,883)
Net cash generated from/ REEBELE (R Z
(used in) operating REeFE
activities 21,648,653 (145,225,472)
Cash flows from investing RETHFEBZRERE
activities
Disposal of subsidiaries, net HEW B QR (2T
of cash disposed HEZRE) 35 (4,474,217) (959)
Deposit received for disposal  HEMHBR RS WEIRS
of subsidiaries — 16,000,000
Release of pledged bank AERR D IR IRITIF X
deposits 35,399,376 7,437,440
(Increase)/decrease in FEMS EEE A T FIAR
amounts due from related (&), m
parties (5,379,324) 506,925
Purchases of property, plant EBEWE  BELRE
and equipment 17 (8,844,590) (5,554,068)
Proceeds from disposal HEWE - WERE&#EZ
of property, plant and FriSsk1E
equipment 17 10,600,000 —
Proceeds from disposal HEAHEEERE S
of available-for-sale Fr5 3R
investments 21,561,199 —
Deregistered of an associate — BB 2 B TR v 1 - 1,922,558
Net cash generated from RETHELEZHSFE
investing activities 48,862,444 20,311,896

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

BE-Z-\F=ZA=1T—HIFE
For the year ended 31 March 2018

2018 2017
—E-N\#F —E—+tF
Notes HK$ HK$
Kzt B BT
Cash flows from financing RMETBBZHERE
activities
Increase in bank borrowings RITIEE LN 28,319,681 22,079,900
Repayment of bank EERITEE
borrowings (52,419,747) (37,477,725)
Interest paid BERFLE (1,873,259) (3,196,095)
Proceed from issuance of BITAIMRESR 215
convertible bonds #IE 46,121,960 —
Proceed from issue of BITERAR 2 TSR
ordinary shares — 107,777,857
Share issuance expenses BIROZEAX — (3,692,920)
(Decrease)/increase in FEISERE A LFIAR
amounts due to related CR),/ 1 hn
parties (4,894,137) 11,030,002
(Decrease)/increase in FEAT A AR A BI5R IR
amount due to ultimate CRA),/ 1 hn
holding company (3,267,530) 3,267,530
Net cash generated from METHELHSTFE
financing activities 38(b) 11,986,968 99,788,549
Net increase/(decrease) in BeRBESESEEHEM
cash and cash equivalents (RD) 28 82,498,065 (25,125,027)
Cash and cash equivalents at RFEHz2RERBLEE
beginning of year BHE 31,231,245 57,051,103
Effect of exchange rate EREHERS RIAEEFE
changes on cash and HEZ&2
cash equivalents (1,863,818) (694,831)
Cash and cash equivalents at RFRCHERBEEEE
end of year EH 111,865,492 31,231,245
Analysis of the balances of RE&RBESZEEBH 2&E
cash and cash equivalents Akl
Cash and cash equivalents FFIARS RIRTTHESBR 2R
included in cash and bank e RBESEEEE
balances 25 111,865,492 28,553,665
Cash and bank balances FAREREEE RS
included in assets held MARTT#E 84
for sale 26 - 2,677,580
Cash and cash equivalents FREEMEEEMEIAE
as at year ended 111,865,492 31,231,245
ANNUAL REPORT 2018 = & — /\ £ £ 1§
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ARE B SR OR M RE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—ZT-NF=ZRA=+—H
31 March 2018

GENERAL

China Tangshang Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is
a public limited company incorporated in Bermuda. Its
shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). Its registered office is
at Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM 11,
Bermuda and its principal place of business is at Unit
No. 2101, 21st Floor, China Merchants Tower, Shun
Tak Centre, Nos. 168-200 Connaught Road Central,
Hong Kong. As at 31 March 2018, the directors of the
Company (the “Directors”) consider the Company’s
immediate and ultimate holding company is Grand Nice
International Limited, a company incorporated in the
British Virgin Islands (the “BVI").

The Company is engaged in investment holding.
The principal activities of the Company’s principal
subsidiaries are set out in note 44 to the
consolidated financial statements. The Company
and its subsidiaries are collectively referred to as
the “Group”.

During the year, the Group has completed disposal
of two groups of subsidiaries as described in note
35 to the consolidated financial statements. The
operations of licence fee collection and provision of
intellectual property enforcement services business
and entertainment business were classified as
discontinued operations due to the disposal.

Accordingly, the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income and related notes have been re-
presented as if the operations have been discontinued
at the beginning of the comparative period.

ADOPTION OF NEW OR REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

(a) Adoption of revised HKFRSs — effective
1 April 2017

Amendments to HKAS 7 Disclosure Initiative

Amendments to HKAS 12 Recognition of Deferred Tax
Assets for Unrealised
Losses
Annual Improvements to  Amendments to HKFRS 12,
HKFRSs 2014-2016 Cycle  Disclosure of Interests in
Other Entities

The adoption of these revised HKFRSs has
no material impact on the Group’'s financial
statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ADOPTION OF NEW OR REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

(b)

New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued
but are not yet effective

The following new/revised HKFRSs, potentially
relevant to the Group’s financial statements
have been issued, but are not yet effective for
the financial year beginning on 1 April 2017
and have not yet been early adopted by the
Group.

Annual Improvements to  Amendments to HKFRS 1, First-time
HKFRSs 2014-2016 adoption of Hong Kong Financial
Cycle Reporting Standards'

Annual Improvements to ~ Amendments to HKAS 28,

HKFRSs 2014-2016 Investments in Associates and
Cycle Joint Ventures'

Amendments to HKFRS 2 Classification and Measurement of
Share-Based Payment Transactions'

Financial Instruments'

Revenue from Contracts with
Customers'

Amendments to HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers (Clarifications to
HKFRS 15)’

Transfers of Investment Property'

HKFRS 9
HKFRS 15

Amendments to
HKAS 40
HK(IFRIC)-Int 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and

Advance Consideration'

Amendments to HKFRS 9 Prepayment Features with Negative

Compensation’

HKFRS 16 Leases’

HK(IFRIC)-Int 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax
Treatments’

Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets
and HKAS 28 between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture®

Effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2018

Effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2019

The amendments were originally intended to
be effective for periods beginning on or after
1 January 2016. The effective date has now
been deferred/removed. Early application of
the amendments continues to be permitted.

—F-N\F=A=+—H
31 March 2018

2. BRAFET KBTI 2BRBUHK
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ARE B SR OR M RE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—ZT-NF=ZRA=+—H
31 March 2018

2. ADOPTION OF NEW OR REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

(b)

New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued
but are not yet effective (Continued)

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2014-
2016 Cycle — Amendments to HKFRS 1,
First-time Adoption of Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards

The amendments issued under the annual
improvements process make small, non-urgent
changes to standards where they are currently
unclear. They include amendments to HKFRS
1, First-time Adoption of Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards, removing transition
provision exemptions relating to accounting
periods that had already passed and were
therefore no longer applicable.

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2014-
2016 Cycle — Amendments to HKAS
28, Investments in Associates and Joint
Ventures

The amendments issued under the annual
improvements process make small, non-
urgent changes to standards where they are
currently unclear. They include amendments to
HKAS 28, Investments in Associates and Joint
Ventures, clarifying that a Venture Capital
organisation’s permissible election to measure
its associates or joint ventures at fair value
is made separately for each associate or joint
venture.

Amendments to HKFRS 2 — Classification
and Measurement of Share-Based Payment
Transactions

The amendments provide requirements on
the accounting for the effects of vesting and
non-vesting conditions on the measurement
of cash-settled share-based payments;
share-based payment transactions with a
net settlement feature for withholding tax
obligations; and a modification to the terms
and conditions of a share-based payment that
changes the classification of the transaction

from cash-settled to equity-settled.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E-NF=A=+—H

31 March 2018

ADOPTION OF NEW OR REVISED 2. EMHFEIBRIET 2EBME
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING HER(EBMBHREE
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs"”) (Continued) all]) )
(b) New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued (b) TEMEMEKRERZHT L5
but are not yet effective (Continued) BERMBREERNE)
HKFRS 9 — Financial Instruments BEBYBIREERFIN — [/
ITA/
HKFRS 9 introduces new requirements for the BB HRE RS 99 5| A M5
classification and measurement of financial BE - UKaE  —REPSFE
assets, financial liabilities, general hedge AR E ERERE DB R
accounting and impairment requirements for EZHHRE ©

financial assets.

Key requirements of HKFRS 9 which are MAEEEH BBV BWEER

relevant to the Group are: FOMEERFHMMAT -

e all recognised financial assets that e MEBEBEAVBHMESEANS
are within the scope of HKFRS 9 are ONHMEANZEERYHE
required to be subsequently measured at EREBYAREEK NS A
amortised cost or fair value. Specifically, FEES= AEgms 0 B
debt investments that are held within a ERNANMAENReREZ
business model whose objective is to EBEEXTEHEAEULRME &
collect the contractual cash flows, and HEAE RHABERSH
that have contractual cash flows that EfRfRzaNBEERECE
are solely payments of principal and HRE —RREBSHEH
interest on the principal outstanding are RS R IZEHEN ARG E ©
generally measured at amortised cost REMARKKESHES
at the end of subsequent accounting RERREVBEEZER
periods. Debt instruments that are held BXTHEBZEBIAR MU
within a business model whose objective ReEHNGERSREERBE
is achieved both by collecting contractual EZBReRELEEATFR
cash flows and selling financial assets, ERAEERAE 2B ZE
and that have contractual terms that give IR —RUAFEEE
rise on specified dates to cash flows AEMmEMEKE - A EAM
that are solely payments of principal T EEREE e T HEIZ
and interest on the principal amount N EERE -

outstanding, are generally measured at
fair value through other comprehensive
income. All other financial assets
are measured at their fair value at
subsequent accounting periods.

H
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ARE B SR OR M RE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—ZT-NF=ZRA=+—H
31 March 2018

2. ADOPTION OF NEW OR REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

(b)

New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued
but are not yet effective (Continued)

HKFRS 9 — Financial Instruments
(Continued)
° in relation to the impairment of financial

assets, HKFRS 9 requires an expected
credit loss model, as opposed to an
incurred credit loss model under HKAS
39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement (HKAS 39). The expected
credit loss model requires an entity to
account for expected credit losses and
changes in those expected credit losses
at each reporting date to reflect changes
in credit risk since initial recognition. In
other words, it is no longer necessary for
a credit event to have occurred before
credit losses are recognised.

Based on the Group’'s financial instruments
and risk management policies as at 31 March
2018, the Directors anticipate the following
potential impact on initial application of HKFRS
9:

Classification and measurement

All financial assets and financial liabilities will
continue to be measured on the same bases
as are currently measured under HKAS 39.
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ARE MR M

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E-N\F=A=+—H

31 March 2018

ADOPTION OF NEW OR REVISED 2. BMFRISRBITZERBYE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING FEA( BB BHRESE
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued) all) )
(b) New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued (b) CEMEMNKRERZHT L5
but are not yet effective (Continued) BERMBREERNE)
HKFRS 9 — Financial Instruments BB BHRERREIN — [£/
(Continued) TEE)
Impairment JR1E
In general, the Directors anticipate that the —RiME  EFEHEABENS
application of the expected credit loss model WELERE I THHEEREE
of HKFRS 9 will result in earlier provision =18 BB A £ [E A FE R & B B S TR
of credit losses which are not yet incurred EERIEIIRIE - BEASBEIRE
in relation to the Group’s financial assets ARG EZUMBEEEZWMREEL
measured at amortised costs that are subject SEEEIRAEE -

to impairment provision upon application of
HKFRS 9 by the Group.

Based on the assessment by the Directors, BEEE 27 WEAERGE
if the expected credit loss model were to AEHMEEEERRN - AIREER
be applied by the Group, the accumulated —E-N\F-A—H#THERZZ
amount of impairment loss to be recognised EREFESBEERIBES 2
by the Group as at 1 April 2018 would be HREIVRER REREAM
increased as compared to the accumulated TN TEARNERERZEHE
amount recognised under HKAS 39 mainly EEERENMN - BEBRBEES
attributable to expected credit losses provision BEAER 2B RE—PREME
on trade receivables. Such further impairment MR ZE—-N\FEA—BZHIR
recognised under expected credit loss model MEEHE o

would increase the opening accumulated
losses at 1 April 2018.
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ARE B SR OR M RE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—ZT-NF=ZRA=+—H
31 March 2018

2. ADOPTION OF NEW OR REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

(b)

New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued
but are not yet effective (Continued)

HKFRS 15 — Revenue from Contracts with
Customers

The new standard establishes a single revenue
recognition framework. The core principle
of the framework is that an entity should
recognise revenue to depict the transfer of
promised goods or services to customers
in an amount that reflects the consideration
to which the entity expects to be entitled
in exchange for those goods and services.
HKFRS 15 supersedes existing revenue
recognition guidance including HKAS 18
Revenue, HKAS 11 Construction Contracts and
related interpretations.

HKFRS 15 requires the application of a 5-step
approach to revenue recognition:

° Step 1: ldentify the contract(s) with a
customer

° Step 2: ldentify the performance
obligations in the contract

° Step 3: Determine the transaction price

° Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to
each performance obligation

° Step 5: Recognise revenue when
each performance obligation is
satisfied

HKFRS 15 includes specific guidance on
particular revenue related topics that may
change the current approach taken under
HKFRS. The standard also significantly
enhances the qualitative and quantitative
disclosures related to revenue.
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ARE MR M

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E-N\F=A=+—H

31 March 2018

ADOPTION OF NEW OR REVISED 2. EMHFEIBRET 2EBME
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING HER(EBMBREE
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs"”) (Continued) all]) )

(b) New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued (b) CEMEMNKRERZHT L5
but are not yet effective (Continued) BERMBREERNE)
Amendements to HKFRS 15 — Revenue BB BEHREER FI155 215
from Contracts with Customers i — HEBHBHEERFES
(Clarifications to HKFRS 15) BIREEFSHZPAZEE]
The amendments to HKFRS 15 included BB EREEANF 165 2185
clarifications on identification of performance BIERBHBITERZH#A A
obligations; application of principal versus FERZFEASRIBA © AR EREET
agent; licenses of intellectual property; and Al RIBERTE -

transition requirements.

The Directors anticipate that the application EEEHR PR RERBEBY B
of HKFRS 15 in the future may result in more EEBE IR BEHE SR
disclosure, however, the directors of the =AM ARRIEREHERSE
Company do not anticipate that the application B ER 15 ERe Y
of HKFRS 15 will have a material impact on RAAEE R4 HAfE B MR e 2 B
the timing and amounts of revenue recognised NN ERNTE

in the respective reporting periods.

Amendments to HKAS 40, Investment BB ERFEI0HZIEFTRE
Property — Transfers of Investment YE — REYEEZE |
Property

The amendments clarify that to transfer to ZIEET S - WEMHEALIRRR
or from investment properties there must be BEE - HA ek mEELEE
a change in use and provides guidance on Wik A BEL b HE 2 383] - B
making this determination. The clarification BIELWYEREGHITHEEIRE
states that a change of use will occur when MEZFELABBEBRARCDHIRE
a property meets, or ceases to meet, the g AIMEZREBLHEZESR

definition of investment property and there
is supporting evidence that a change has

occurred.

The amendments also re-characterise the ZISEI MBS ERN BIEBE
list of evidence in the standard as a non- %ﬂﬁﬂ_n%/i“ AR sF AR
exhaustive list, thereby allowing for other R 2 BIE S IFeE o

forms of evidence to support a transfer.

ANNUAL REPORT 2018 72—, F R

81



82

e B ®RR M

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—E-\F=A=+-H
31 March 2018

2. ADOPTION OF NEW OR REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

(b) New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued
but are not yet effective (Continued)

HK(IFRIC) — Int 22 — Foreign Currency
Transactions and Advance Consideration

The Interpretation provides guidance on
determining the date of the transaction for
determining an exchange rate to use for
transactions that involve advance consideration
paid or received in a foreign currency and the
recognition of a non-monetary asset or non-
monetary liability. The Interpretations specifies
that the date of the transaction for the
purpose of determining the exchange rate to
use on initial recognition of the related asset,
expense or income (or part thereof) is the date
on which the entity initially recognises the
non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability
arising from the payment or receipt of advance
consideration.

Amendments to HKFRS 9 — Prepayment
Features with Negative Compensation

The amendments clarify that prepayable
financial assets with negative compensation
can be measured at amortised cost or at fair
value through other comprehensive income if
specified conditions are met — instead of at
fair value through profit or loss.

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED ) [ERZY = A

RAFETREMBT 2B BUH

HREA(ERBMBREE

all)e)

(b)

BB RERZFET,RIEFT
BRMBHRELER(E)

BB (BB EHREERRZEZR
) — #EE229 — IEXE
RAMNAE

e BB T M A SNEE ST il
BRBNKEBZRSAAERZR
A RERIFEEEEXRIFEH
BERMIES - 2B - BE
ENFEREBEE - FXIBRA
(HEFRD)FAER 225 A H
REBVTERAN M BAR
BRELZIFEREESFERA

BmER -

EENBEE R EIR 15T
— [RABEZANHERM
BRETEE  WEA TR
B AN & B A TR
RAREBL R ERARATE
iR —MIHRA T BET AJES
2HREE -



ARE MR M

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E-NF=A=+—H

31 March 2018

ADOPTION OF NEW OR REVISED 2. BRI SREIT 2EBYE

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING HEA((EBUHHREE

STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued) all) )

(b) New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued (b) TEMEMEKRERZHT L5
but are not yet effective (Continued) BERMBREERNE)
HKFRS 16 — Leases BEBHBHEERFE 165 — [H

g/

HKFRS 16, which upon the effective date FEMBHRELEAE 165 ALK
will supersede HKAS 17 “Leases” and ERREMREEBESFERNE 7
related interpretations, introduces a single SRIHE | RAERE  ES|AE—
lessee accounting model and requires a AMASFERERER - WiREAM
lessee to recognise assets and liabilities AMABEBBI2EAZHMERE
for all leases with a term of more than 12 HREENBE KRIEVEEEAS
months, unless the underlying asset is of KEBEEEAERNR - EEMmME -
low value. Specifically, under HKFRS 16, a BIETETERE EDE 165 -
lessee is required to recognise a right-of- ARANBREREAEEE(RRE
use asset representing its right to use the BEFEREBEEEE) NHES
underlying leased asset and a lease liability BE(RTEAEAXNAERSE) -
representing its obligation to make lease At - AAAERREAEEER
payments. Accordingly, a lessee should EXHEARNE  UHHEEAE
recognise depreciation of the right-of-use ZREERDERESEHD KL
asset and interest on the lease liability, and o WRBEESRERANZY o it
also classifies cash repayments of the lease Gy FRAEEEREERBEYSIE
liability into a principal portion and an interest REEEFE - TERFETHEE
portion and presents them in the statement HERMNK  MEEAEAGEMS
of cash flows. Also, the right-of-use asset TR R IEREERE R TITE
and the lease liability are initially measured BEELEHEEZBERLT @ BRE
on a present value basis. The measurement BEMSBAREL 2R - b e E
includes non-cancellable lease payments and BHEEABEAGFERE TR
also includes payments to be made in optional BEBRRIEERENNESS:
periods if the lessee is reasonably certain to HERE17T RO BERAKEREZHE
exercise an option to extend the lease, or not g-

to exercise an option to terminate the lease.
This accounting treatment is significantly
different from the lessee accounting for leases
that are classified as operating leases under
the predecessor standard, HKAS 17.
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ARE B SR OR M RE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—ZT-NF=ZRA=+—H
31 March 2018

2. ADOPTION OF NEW OR REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

(b)

New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued
but are not yet effective (Continued)

HKFRS 16 — Leases (Continued)

In respect of the lessor accounting, HKFRS
16 substantially carries forward the lessor
accounting requirements in HKAS 17.
Accordingly, a lessor continues to classify its
leases as operating leases or finance leases,
and to account for those two types of leases
differently.

Furthermore, extensive disclosures are
required by HKFRS 16.

As at 31 March 2018, the Group has non-
cancellable operating lease commitments
of HK$60,498,889 as disclosed in note 39
to the consolidated financial statements. A
preliminary assessment indicates that these
arrangements will meet the definition of a
lease. Upon application of HKFRS 16, the
Group will recognise a right-of-use asset
and a corresponding liability in respect of all
these leases unless they qualify for low value
or short-term leases. In addition, the Group
currently considers refundable rental deposits
paid of HK$689,913 as rights and obligations
under leases to which HKAS 17 applies. Based
on the definition of lease payments under
HKFRS 16, such deposits are not payments
relating to the right to use the underlying
assets, accordingly, the carrying amounts of
such deposits may be adjusted to amortised
cost and such adjustments are considered
as additional lease payments. Adjustments
of refundable rental deposits paid would be
included in the carrying amount of right-of-use
assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ADOPTION OF NEW OR REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

(b)

New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued
but are not yet effective (Continued)

HK(IFRIC) — Int 23 — Uncertainty over
Income Tax Treatments

The Interpretation supports the requirements
of HKAS 12, Income Taxes, by providing
guidance over how to reflect the effects
of uncertainty in accounting for income
taxes. Under the Interpretation, the entity
shall determine whether to consider each
uncertain tax treatment separately or together
based on which approach better predicts the
resolution of the uncertainty. The entity shall
also assume the tax authority will examine
amounts that it has a right to examine and
have full knowledge of all related information
when making those examinations. If the entity
determines it is probable that the tax authority
will accept an uncertain tax treatment,
then the entity should measure current and
deferred tax in line with its tax filings. If the
entity determines it is not probable, then
the uncertainty in the determination of tax
is reflected using either the "most likely
amount” or the "“expected value” approach,
whichever better predicts the resolution of the
uncertainty.

The Group is in the process of making an
assessment of the potential impact of these new/
revised HKFRSs and the Directors so far concluded
that the application of these new/revised HKFRSs
will have no material impact on the Group's financial
statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—ZT-NF=ZRA=+—H
31 March 2018

2. ADOPTION OF NEW OR REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

(b)

New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued
but are not yet effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 —
Sale or Contribution of Assets between an
Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture

The amendments clarify the extent of gains
or losses to be recognised when an entity
sells or contributes assets to its associate or
joint venture. When the transaction involves
a business the gain or loss is recognised in
full, conversely when the transaction involves
assets that do not constitute a business the
gain or loss is recognised only to the extent of
the unrelated investors’ interests in the joint
venture or associate.

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION

(a)

Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have
been prepared in accordance with all applicable
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs"”), Hong Kong Accounting Standards
("HKASs") and Interpretations (hereinafter
collectively referred to as the “"HKFRS") issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and the disclosure requirements
of Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. In
addition, the consolidated financial statements
include applicable disclosures required by the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the
“Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

(b)

Basis of measurement

The consolidated financial statements have
been prepared under the historical cost basis
except for certain properties and available-
for-sale investments, which are measured at
revalued amount or fair value.

Functional and presentation currency

The consolidated financial statements are
presented in Hong Kong dollars ("HK$"),
which is the same as the functional currency
of the Company.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a)

Business combination and basis of
consolidation

The consolidated financial statements
comprise the financial statements of the
Company and its subsidiaries. Inter-company
transactions and balances between group
companies together with unrealised profits are
eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated
financial statements. Unrealised losses
are also eliminated unless the transaction
provides evidence of impairment on the
asset transferred, in which case the loss is
recognised in profit or loss.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or
disposed of during the year are included in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income from the effective dates of acquisition
or up to the effective dates of disposal, as
appropriate. Where necessary, adjustments
are made to the financial statements of
subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies
into line with those used by other members of
the Group.
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ARE B SR OR M RE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—ZT-NF=ZRA=+—H
31 March 2018

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(a)

Business combination and basis of
consolidation (Continued)

Acquisition of subsidiaries or businesses is
accounted for using the acquisition method.
The cost of an acquisition is measured at the
aggregate of the acquisition-date fair value
of assets transferred, liabilities incurred and
equity interests issued by the Group, as the
acquirer. The identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities assumed are principally measured
at acquisition-date fair value. The Group's
previously held equity interest in the acquiree
is re-measured at acquisition-date fair
value and the resulting gains or losses are
recognised in profit or loss. The Group may
elect, on a transaction-by-transaction basis,
to measure the non-controlling interests
that represent present ownership interests
in the subsidiary either at fair value or at
the proportionate share of the acquiree’s
identifiable net assets. All other non-controlling
interests are measured at fair value unless
another measurement basis is required by
HKFRSs. Acquisition-related costs incurred are
expensed unless they are incurred in issuing
equity instruments in which case the costs are
deducted from equity.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred
by the acquirer is recognised at acquisition-
date fair value. Subsequent adjustments to
consideration are recognised against goodwill
only to the extent that they arise from new
information obtained within the measurement
period (a maximum of 12 months from the
acquisition date) about the fair value at
the acquisition date. All other subsequent
adjustments to contingent consideration
classified as an asset or a liability are
recognised in profit or loss.
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e BHRRMEE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(a)

Business combination and basis of
consolidation (Continued)

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary,
the profit or loss on disposal is calculated as
the difference between (i) the aggregate of
the fair value of the consideration received
and the fair value of any retained interest
and (ii) the previous carrying amount of the
assets (including goodwill), and liabilities
of the subsidiary and any non-controlling
interest. Amounts previously recognised in
other comprehensive income in relation to
the subsidiary are accounted for in the same
manner as would be required if the relevant
assets or liabilities were disposed of.

Subsequent to acquisition, the carrying amount
of non-controlling interests that represent
present ownership interests in the subsidiary
is the amount of those interests at initial
recognition plus such non-controlling interest’s
share of subsequent changes in equity. Total
comprehensive income is attributed to such
non-controlling interests even if this results in
those non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance.

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an investee over which the
Company is able to exercise control. The
Company controls an investee if all three of
the following elements are present: (1) power
over the investee, (2) exposure, or rights, to
variable returns from the investee, and (3) the
ability to use its power to affect those variable
returns. Control is reassessed whenever facts
and circumstances indicate that there may be
a change in any of these elements of control.

In the Company's statement of financial
position, investments in subsidiaries are stated
at cost less impairment loss. The results of
subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company
on the basis of dividend received and
receivable.
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ARE B SR OR M RE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—ZT-NF=ZRA=+—H
31 March 2018

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(c)

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED ) BEBRBERAR

Associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group
has significant influence and that is neither a
subsidiary nor a joint arrangement. Significant
influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of the
investee but not control or joint control over
those policies. Associates are accounted for
using the equity method whereby they are
initially recognised at cost and thereafter,
their carrying amount are adjusted for the
Group's share of the post-acquisition change
in the associates’ net assets except that
losses in excess of the Group's interest in the
associate are not recognised unless there is
an obligation to make good those losses.

Profits and losses arising on transactions
between the Group and its associates are
recognised only to the extent of unrelated
investors’ interests in the associate. The
investor's share in the associate's profits
and losses resulting from these transactions
is eliminated against the carrying value of
the associate. Where unrealised losses
provide evidence of impairment of the asset
transferred they are recognised immediately in

profit or loss.

Any premium paid for an associate above
the fair value of the Group’s share of the
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities acquired is capitalised and included
in the carrying amount of the associate.
Where there is objective evidence that the
investment in an associate has been impaired,
the carrying amount of the investment is
tested for impairment in the same may as

other non-financial assets.

4.

FTESHBE®)

(c)

&

LTINS ]

/
k

B
al|

==
ST

DASEHEREEAF
I FEM B R R A & LB
c BARENEAI2EER
P R B BRRORTE 2 HE
N FF 422 I 38 HE R 22 il 5%
R BERRAREEEARK
R AR HER - M AREE
HERAREN BB E AR EEF
ERKER 2 ZBIFHRE - R
BRHAREREE R RERE

m
;&431

&,m]xNMM%;ﬁ

?HN

BATHER  RIFAKEARTR
MREER -

AEBRHEBENB 22X HHM
EEXZA )E NEREREER
BENR 2B RR T UER - &

BEDEBMENFIRNZERFIELE
ZEE 0 IR E R 2 R EY
- MATFRETEBEEELR
HIE - RIR IR BRI R S

o

FREEE DR S B AN B DG
BAZHABHEE  BERIR
BEZAFEEZEMEESTIA
B - WRt AKBE 2 QB ZFRE
B - MEBEEEARZQRRE
BRE - AREZREEREMIF
B 7% & EE LAME R 77 ARl -



e BHRRMEE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(d)

Goodwill and gain on a bargain purchase

Goodwill is initially recognised at cost being
the excess of the aggregate of a consideration
transferred and the amount recognised for
non-controlling interests over the fair value
of identifiable assets acquired, liabilities and
contingent liabilities assumed.

Where the fair value of identifiable assets and
liabilities exceed the aggregated of fair value
of consideration paid and the amount of any
non-controlling interest in the acquiree, the
excess is recognised in profit or loss on the
acquisition date, after re-assessment.

Goodwill is measured at cost less impairment
losses. For the purpose of impairment testing,
goodwill arising from an acquisition is allocated
to each of the relevant cash-generating
units that are expected to benefit from the
synergies of the acquisition. A cash-generating
unit is the smallest identifiable group of assets
that generates cash inflows that are largely
independent of the cash inflows from other
assets or groups of assets. A cash-generating
unit to which goodwill has been allocated is
tested for impairment annually by comparing
its carrying amount with its recoverable
amount (see note 4(qg)), and whenever there is
an indication that the unit may be impaired.

For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a
financial year, the cash-generating unit to
which goodwill has been allocated is tested
for impairment before the end of that financial
year. When the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit is less than the carrying
amount of the unit, the impairment loss is
allocated to reduce the carrying amount of
any goodwill allocated to the unit first, and
then to the other assets of the unit pro rata
on the basis of the carrying amount to each
asset in the unit. However, the loss allocated
to each asset will not reduce the individual
assets carrying amount to below its fair value
less cost of disposal (if measurable) or its
value in use (if determinable), whichever is
higher. Any impairment loss for goodwill is
recognised in profit or loss and is not reversed
in subsequent periods.

—F-N\F=A=+—H
31 March 2018

4, FEESTTHE®)

(d)

BAERZEEBERE

BRAIGER <A EREEER
BREHRIFERESER S
AEANER PR RB FT BRI B EE - Pk
ERERIARABEZAFEEZE
B o

N AR BRI E R B EBE
NREZAFEEERKE AT
EAIFER S SRR AN - B
Z BEEE ARSI
1BE R -

BEDENARERERBETE
SUREREME - WRAEEZE
B o B FRR A e WBPTE L
ZhRAMEEBEZEEERRETE
HEN - REEAEUREEL Y
BEMAER DB NEMEER
BEMMNZBESRAZ &R
BEMSG - ENERBEZREES
BAASFETRENR  TER
R ERmEREATKESER(R
MiiE4(a) - AR BPRBERZE
{37 AJ RE H BRI E B E T TR EDRI A ©

IR R - BFRRBEMELZ
BEMS  BokBEZREESE
B AN ERF E e 48 BT TR
BAR - EREELBELZATHKE
REIRZEMZREE - BRE
EREDBEABRHIR DR ZE
2 M EREE - HEAZE
NEEEZRME/EEZLID
FRIR B R EEZRE(E
AW DEIFEEZEBENERM
LPEBEE REEERRNERF
BEREERA(RAT G E) S H
EREEMDIER) (ABREER
)R ZE - BEZEMBEER

HREBRARER - BREERB/HS
TRE -
ANNUAL REPORT 2018 =% — \ % %

91



92

ARE B SR OR M RE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—ZT-NF=ZRA=+—H
31 March 2018

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(e)

Property, plant and equipment

Leasehold land and buildings are stated at
revalued amount, being the fair value at
the date of revaluation less any subsequent
accumulated depreciation and subsequent
accumulated impairment losses. As the
fair value of the land cannot be measured
separately from the fair value of a building
situated thereon at the inception of the lease,
the land portion is accounted for as being held
under a finance lease. Fair value is determined
by the Directors of the Company based on
independent valuations which are performed
periodically. The valuations are on the basis
of open market value. The Directors of the
Company review the carrying value of the
leasehold land and buildings and adjustment
is made where they consider that there has
been a material change. Increases in value
arising on revaluation are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in
equity under other properties revaluation
reserve. Decreases in value arising on
revaluation are first offset against increases
on earlier valuations in respect of the same
property and are thereafter recognised in
profit or loss. Any subsequent increases are
recognised in profit or loss up to the amount
previously charged and thereafter to the other
properties revaluation reserve.

Upon disposal of leasehold land and buildings,
the relevant portion of the other properties
revaluation reserve realised in respect of
previous valuations is released from the other
properties revaluation reserve to retained
earnings.
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e BHRRMEE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(e)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment are stated
at cost less accumulated depreciation and
accumulated impairment losses.

The cost of property, plant and equipment
includes its purchase price and the costs
directly attributable to the acquisition of the
items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's
carrying amount or recognised as a separate
asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable
that future economic benefits associated
with the item will flow to the Group and
the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced
part is derecognised. All other repairs and
maintenance costs are recognised as an
expense in profit or loss during the financial
period in which they are incurred.

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated
so as to write off their cost net of expected
residual value over their estimated useful
lives on a straight-line basis. The useful lives,
residual value and depreciation method are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the
end of each reporting period. The useful lives
are as follows:

Leasehold land and 40 years
buildings

Leasehold Over lease terms
improvements of 2-16 years

Furniture, fixtures and 3-5 years
equipment

Plant and machinery 5 years

Motor vehicles 3-5 years

Yacht 10 years
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—E-\F=A=+-H
31 March 2018

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(e) Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

An asset is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if its carrying amount is
higher than the asset’'s estimated recoverable

amount.

The gain or loss on disposal of an item of
property, plant and equipment is the difference
between the net sale proceeds and its carrying
amount, and is recognised in profit or loss on

disposal.

(f) Intangible assets

(i)  Acquired intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately are
initially recognised at cost. The cost of
intangible assets acquired in a business
combination is fair value at the date of
acquisition. Subsequently, intangible
assets with finite useful lives are carried
at cost less accumulated amortisation
and accumulated impairment losses.

Amortisation is provided on a straight-line
basis over their useful lives as follows:

Provision of intellectual
property enforcement
services

Golf club memberships

indefinite
Customer relationship and 10 years

customer contracts

Patent 5 years

Intangible assets with indefinite useful
lives are carried at cost less any

accumulated impairment losses.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(f) Intangible assets (Continued)

(ii)

Impairment

Intangible assets with finite lives are
tested for impairment when there is an
indication that an asset may be impaired
(see note 4(g) to the consolidated
financial statements). Intangible assets
with indefinite useful lives and intangible
assets not yet available for use are tested
for impairment annually, irrespective
of whether there is any indication that
they may be impaired. Intangible assets
are tested for impairment by comparing
their carrying amounts with their
recoverable amounts (see note 4(q) to
the consolidated financial statements).
If the recoverable amount of an asset
is estimated to be less than its carrying
amount, the carrying amount of the asset
is reduced to its recoverable amount.

An impairment loss is recognised as an
expense immediately.

When an impairment loss subsequently
reverses, the carrying amount of the
asset is increased to the revised estimate
of its recoverable amount, to the extent
that the increased carrying amount does
not exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised for the
asset in prior years.
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ARE B SR OR M RE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—ZT-NF=ZRA=+—H
31 March 2018

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(g)

(h)

Investment properties

Investment property is property held either
to earn rentals or for capital appreciation or
for both, but not held for sale in the ordinary
course of business, use in the production
or supply of goods or services or for
administrative purposes. Investment property
is measured at cost on initial recognition and
subsequently at fair value with any change
therein recognised in profit or loss.

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases
whenever the terms of the lease transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership to the lessee. All other leases are
classified as operating leases.

The Group as lessor

Rental income from operating leases is
recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line
basis over the term of the relevant lease.
Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and
arranging an operating lease are added to
the carrying amount of the leased asset and
recognised as an expense on straight-line
basis over the lease term.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(h)

(i)

Leasing (Continued)

The Group as lessee

The total rentals payable under the operating
leases are recognised in profit or loss on a
straight-line basis over the lease term. Lease
incentives received are recognised as an
integrated part of the total rental expense,
over the term of the lease.

Financial instruments

(i)

Financial assets

The Group classifies its financial assets
at initial recognition, depending on
the purpose for which the asset was
acquired. Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss (“FVTPL") are
initially measured at fair value and
all other financial assets are initially
measured at fair value plus transaction
costs that are directly attributable to
the acquisition of the financial assets.
Regular way purchases or sales of
financial assets are recognised and
derecognised on a trade date basis.
A regular way purchase or sale is a
purchase or sale of a financial asset
under a contract whose terms require
delivery of the asset within the time
frame established generally by regulation
or convention in the marketplace
concerned.

Loans and receivables

These assets are non-derivative financial
assets with fixed or determinable
payments that are not quoted in an active
market. They arise principally through
the provision of goods and services
to customers (trade debtors), and also
incorporate other types of contractual
monetary asset. Subsequent to initial
recognition, they are carried at amortised
cost using the effective interest method,
less any identified impairment losses.

4.

e BHRRMEE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—F-N\F=A=+—H
31 March 2018

FTESHHRE®)

(h)

(i)

BHE)
EEBERBEBA

RELEHOBNZHE
OEN AN &L

RERE
SRR ° B

HeEERNHPARRSEEMAX
HRR 2 AR

ERIA

(i)

ANNUAL REPORT 2018 T—)

AEERBABEZBH

R ERFETHHEE
D BAFEEFARR
(H&’Dﬂzf‘ﬁ#k}a?ﬁj)z
MBEEDNREAFEENSG
AE MABEMMBEE
A3 R FEE 5 YR /75
BEERRBHZXZMAL
JREHE © L‘A%”%E?‘Tﬁﬁ%i“ﬁi

HEZHBEEHYER S
EEFUERKEUHEER

LA%%EEﬁﬁﬁ,\szj ETE
RIBAKGFAEEEED
B ZRRAKEIBENE
ZHBRARNEEMETZ
FBEEBERLE -

BAR WA

REEERLEBRRIKE
E?érh WEZIFITEHT
BE ENFEEBETH
T%?znﬁ TEMRBATMH
e mERENE(EEE
R MBREMERZE
MEBHEE - REHER
% IR EERERERRT
KRR EZ B R AR
A B A BIREE B -

it

H
-y

97



98

A MR RKE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Z®-AE=A=t-H

31 March 2018

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(i)

Financial instruments (Continued)

(i)

Financial assets (Continued)
Available-for-sale investments

These assets are non-derivative
financial assets that are designated as
available-for-sale or are not included
in other categories of financial assets.
Subsequent to initial recognition, these
assets are carried at fair value with
changes in fair value recognised in
other comprehensive income, except
for impairment losses and foreign
exchange gains and losses on monetary
instruments, which are recognised in
profit or loss.

For available-for-sale equity investments
that do not have a quoted market price
in an active market and whose fair
value cannot be reliably measured and
derivatives that are linked to and must
be settled by delivery of such unquoted
equity instruments, they are measured
at cost less any identified impairment
losses.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(i) Financial instruments (Continued)

(ii)

Impairment loss on financial assets

The Group assesses, at the end of each
reporting period, whether there is any
objective evidence that financial asset is
impaired. Financial asset is impaired if
there is objective evidence of impairment
as a result of one or more events that
has occurred after the initial recognition
of the asset and that event has an impact
on the estimated future cash flows of
the financial asset that can be reliably
estimated. Evidence of impairment may
include:

° significant financial difficulty of the
debtor;

° a breach of contract, such as a
default or delinquency in interest or
principal payments;

° granting concession to a debtor
because of debtor's financial
difficulty; and

o it becoming probable that the
debtor will enter bankruptcy or
other financial reorganisation.
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ARE B SR OR M RE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—ZT-NF=ZRA=+—H
31 March 2018

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(i)

Financial instruments (Continued)

(ii)

Impairment loss on financial assets
(Continued)

For loans and receivables

An impairment loss is recognised in profit
or loss when there is objective evidence
that the asset is impaired, and is
measured as the difference between the
asset’'s carrying amount and the present
value of the estimated future cash flows
discounted at the original effective
interest rate. The carrying amount of
financial asset is reduced through the
use of an allowance account. When any
part of financial asset is determined as
uncollectable, it is written off against
the allowance account for the relevant
financial asset.

Impairment losses are reversed in
subsequent periods when an increase in
the asset’s recoverable amount can be
related objectively to an event occurring
after the impairment was recognised,
subject to a restriction that the carrying
amount of the asset at the date the
impairment is reversed does not exceed
what the amortised cost would have
been had the impairment not been
recognised.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(i) Financial instruments (Continued)

(ii)

Impairment loss on financial assets
(Continued)

For available-for-sale investments

Where a decline in the fair value
constitutes objective evidence of
impairment, the amount of the loss is
removed from equity and recognised in
profit or loss.

An impairment losses on available-for-
sale debt investments are subsequently
reversed in profit or loss if an increase in
the fair value of the investment can be
objectively related to an event occurring
after the recognition of the impairment
loss.

For available-for-sale equity investment,
any increase in fair value subsequent to
an impairment loss is recognised in other
comprehensive income.

For available-for-sale equity investment
that is carried at cost, the amount of
impairment loss is measured as the
difference between the carrying amount
of the asset and the present value of
estimated future cash flows discounted
at the current market rate of return for a
similar financial asset. Such impairment
loss is not reversed.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—ZT-NF=ZRA=+—H
31 March 2018

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(i)

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED ) HERBRAA

Financial instruments (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are initially recognised
at fair value, net of directly attributable
transaction costs incurred, and are
subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest
method. The related interest expense is
recognised within “finance costs” in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive
income.

Gains or losses recognised in the
profit or loss when the liabilities are
derecognised as well as through the
amortisation process.

Convertible bonds

Convertible bonds issued by the
Group that contain both the liability
and conversion option components
are classified separately into their
respective items on initial recognition.
Conversion option that will be settled
by the exchange of a fixed amount of
cash or another financial asset for a fixed
number of the Company’'s own equity
instruments is classified as an equity
instrument.

On initial recognition, the fair value of the
liability component is determined using
the prevailing market interest of similar
non-convertible debts. The difference
between the proceeds of the issue of
the convertible loan notes and the fair
value assigned to the liability component,
representing the conversion option for
the holder to convert the loan notes into
equity, is included in equity (convertible
bonds reserve).
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ARE MR M

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E-NF=A=+—H

31 March 2018

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. FEGHBEK®)
(Continued)
(i)  Financial instruments (Continued) (i) &@MIAE)
(iv) Convertible bonds (Continued) (iv) WRREFE)
In subsequent periods, the liability REE&ERE - TR ERE

component of the convertible loan notes
is carried at amortised cost using the
effective interest method. The equity
component, represented by the option
to convert the liability component into
ordinary shares of the Company, will
remain in convertible loan notes equity
reserve until the embedded option is
exercised (in which case the balance
stated in convertible bonds reserve will
be transferred to share capital and share
premium. Where the option remains
unexercised at the expiry dates, the
balance stated in convertible bonds
reserve will be released to the retained
earnings. No gain or loss is recognised
upon conversion or expiration of the
option.

Transaction costs that relate to the issue
of the convertible bonds are allocated
to the liability and equity components
in proportion to the allocation of the
proceeds. Transaction costs relating
to the equity component are charged
directly to equity. Transaction costs
relating to the liability component are
included in the carrying amount of the
liability portion and amortised over the
period of the convertible loan notes using
the effective interest method.
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ARE B SR OR M RE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—ZT-NF=ZRA=+—H
31 March 2018

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(i)

Financial instruments (Continued)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a
method of calculating the amortised
cost of a financial asset or financial
liability and of allocating interest income
or interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the
rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash receipts or payments through
the expected life of the financial asset or
liability, or where appropriate, a shorter
period.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the
Company are recorded at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset
when the contractual rights to the future
cash flows in relation to the financial
asset expire or when the financial asset
has been transferred and the transfer
meets the criteria for derecognition in
accordance with HKAS 39.

Financial liabilities are derecognised
when the obligation specified in the
relevant contract is discharged, cancelled
or expires.
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e BHRRMEE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(i)

Non-current assets held for sale and
disposal groups

Non-current assets and disposal groups are
classified as held for sale when:

o they are available for immediate sale;

° management is committed to a plan to
sell;

o it is unlikely that significant changes to
the plan will be made or that the plan
will be withdrawn;

° an active programme to locate a buyer
has been initiated,

° the asset or disposal group is being
marketed at a reasonable price in relation
to its fair value; and

° a sale is expected to complete within 12
months from the date of classification.

Non-current assets and disposal groups
classified as held for sale are measured at the
lower of:

° their carrying amount immediately prior
to being classified as held for sale in
accordance with the Group’s accounting
policy; and

° fair value less costs to sell.

Following their classification as held for
sale, non-current assets (including those in a
disposal group) are not depreciated.

The results of operations disposed of during
the year are included in profit or loss up to the
date of disposal.
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ARE B SR OR M RE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—ZT-NF=ZRA=+—H
31 March 2018

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(k)

(1)

Inventories

Inventories are initially recognised at cost,
and subsequently at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost comprises all costs of
purchase and other costs incurred in bringing
the inventories to their present location and
condition. Cost is calculated using the first-
in first-out method. Net realisable value
represents the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business less the estimated
costs necessary to make the sale.

Revenue recognition

Revenue from licence fee collection business
is recognised when services are performed.

Compensation for infringement of music
licence is recognised when the right to
receive the compensation is established and
it is probable that the Group will receive the
compensation.

Revenue from exhibition and related service is
recognised when the exhibition is completed
and related services are rendered.

Rental income from operating leases/facility
sharing income is recognised on a straight-
line basis over the term of the relevant lease/
agreement.

Revenue from entertainment services
including artist management is recognised
when services are rendered.

Revenue from musical works is recognised
when the Group's entitlement to such
payments has been established which is upon
the delivery of the master copy or materials to
the customers.

Revenue from restaurants is recognised when
food and beverages are sold and services are
provided.
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e BHRRMEE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(1)

(m)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from sale of goods is recognised on
transfer of risks and rewards of ownership,
which is at the time of delivery and the title is
passed to customer.

Interest income is accrued on a time basis
on the principal outstanding at the applicable
interest rate.

Income taxes

Income taxes for the year comprise current
tax and deferred tax.

Current tax is based on the profit or loss from
ordinary activities adjusted for items that are
non-assessable or disallowable for income tax
purposes and is calculated using tax rates that
have been enacted or substantively enacted at
the end of reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of
temporary differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities for financial
reporting purposes and the corresponding
amounts used for tax purposes. Except for
goodwill and recognised assets and liabilities
that affect neither accounting nor taxable
profits, deferred tax liabilities are recognised
for all temporary differences. Deferred tax
assets are recognised to the extent that
it is probable that taxable profits will be
available against which deductible temporary
differences can be utilised. Deferred tax is
measured at the tax rates appropriate to the
expected manner in which the carrying amount
of the asset or liability is realised or settled
and that have been enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of reporting period.
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ARE B SR OR M RE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—ZT-NF=ZRA=+—H
31 March 2018

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(m)

Income taxes (Continued)

An exception to the general requirement on
determining the appropriate tax rate used in
measuring deferred tax amount is when an
investment property is carried at fair value
under HKAS 40 “Investment Property”. Unless
the presumption is rebutted, the deferred
tax amounts on these investment properties
are measured using the tax rates that would
apply on sale of these investment properties
at their carrying amounts at the reporting
date. The presumption is rebutted when the
investment property is depreciable and is held
within a business model whose objective is
to consume substantially all the economic
benefits embodied in the property over time,
rather than through sale.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for
taxable temporary differences arising on
investments in subsidiaries and associates,
except where the Group is able to control the
reversal of the temporary difference and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.

Income taxes are recognised in profit or loss
except when they relate to items recognised
in other comprehensive income in which
case the taxes are also recognised in other
comprehensive income.
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e BHRRMEE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(n)

Foreign currency

Transactions entered into by group entities
in currencies other than the currency of the
primary economic environment in which
they operate (the “functional currency”)
are recorded at the rates ruling when the
transactions occur. Foreign currency monetary
assets and liabilities are translated at the
rates ruling at the end of reporting period.
Non-monetary items carried at fair value that
are denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date
when the fair value was determined. Non-
monetary items that are measured in terms
of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the
settlement of monetary items, and on the
translation of monetary items, are recognised
in profit or loss in the period in which they
arise. Exchange differences arising on the
retranslation of non-monetary items carried at
fair value are included in profit or loss for the
period except for differences arising on the
retranslation of non-monetary items in respect
of which gains and losses are recognised in
other comprehensive income, in which cases,
the exchange differences are also recognised
in other comprehensive income.

—F-N\F=A=+—H
31 March 2018

4, FEETTHE®)

(n)

S

SEEBI L 2 X B MK E MR
ZEBRBERBRBZEE (R
B® DN EHETT - AIIREE
RHRZERER - WINEFHEZ
ERMEERAE  BRBEHRRZ
PERIE o UHNEFHEL IR A FE
BIIRZIFEEMIER @ REER
FEEEZAZRITEXRSHHRE -
VAR SE XA ET B 2 SN IEE B 1 TR
BRI TEHBRE -

WEE SRR M8 S EE
ENEsCvEREZHEIREEL
ZEIBNRIBR T HER - EMHRE
AT EBEYRZFESEHIEE AT
EEZIERZENZEM 2 B+
AR HEEBHEER(HEBER
Hih 2ER T HERE) ZEFR
BRES BRI EZIER
T BEREBETREMEZERKRA
R -

H

it

ANNUAL REPORT 2018 ) F R

109



110

ARE B SR OR M RE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—ZT-NF=ZRA=+—H
31 March 2018

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(n)

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED ) BEBRBERAR

Foreign currency (Continued)

On consolidation, income and expense
items of foreign operations are translated
into the presentation currency of the Group
at the average exchange rates for the vyear,
unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly
during the period, in which case, the rates
approximating, to those ruling when the
transactions took place are used. All assets
and liabilities of foreign operations are
translated at the rate ruling at the end of
reporting period. Exchange differences arising,
if any, are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity as foreign
exchange reserve (attributed to non-controlling
interests as appropriate). Exchange differences
recognised in the profit or loss of group
entities’ separate financial statements on
the translation of long-term monetary items
forming part of the Group's net investment
in the foreign operation concerned are
reclassified to other comprehensive income
and accumulated in equity as foreign exchange

reserve.

On disposal of a foreign operation, the
cumulative exchange differences recognised
in the foreign exchange reserve relating to
that operation up to the date of disposal are
reclassified to the profit or loss as part of the
profit or loss on disposal.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on
identifiable assets acquired arising on an
acquisition of a foreign operation on or
after 1 January 2005 are treated as assets
and liabilities of that foreign operation and
translated at the rate of exchange prevailing
at the end of reporting period. Exchange
differences arising are recognised in the
foreign exchange reserve.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(o) Employee benefits

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave
are recognised when they accrue to
employees. A provision is made for the
estimated liability for annual leave as a
result of services rendered by employees
up to the end of reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and
maternity leave are not recognised until
the time of leave.

Profit-sharing and bonus plans

The expected costs of profit-sharing and
bonus payments are recognised as a
liability when the Group has a present
legal or constructive obligation as a result
of services rendered by employees and a
reliable estimate of the obligation can be
made.

Liabilities for profit-sharing and bonus
plans are expected to be settled within
12 months and are measured at the
amounts expected to be paid when they
are settled.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised
on the earlier of when the Group can
no longer withdraw the offer of those
benefits and when the Group recognises
restructuring costs involving the payment
of termination benefits.

e BHRRMEE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 March 2018

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(o) Employee benefits (Continued)

(iv) Post-employment benefits

Retirement benefits to employees
are provided through several defined
contribution plans.

The Group adopts a defined contribution
Mandatory Provident Fund retirement
benefits scheme (the "MPF Scheme”)
under the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance of Hong Kong
for all employees of its subsidiaries
operating in Hong Kong. Contributions
are made based on a percentage of the
employees’ basic salaries but subject to
a cap in accordance with the statutory
requirement and are recognised in
profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the MPF
Scheme.

The Group has recorded provisions for
long service payments for employees
who had completed the required number
of years of service under Hong Kong's
Employment Ordinance for whom
the Group is obligated to pay long
service payment on termination of their
employment.

The employees of the Group's
subsidiaries that operate in the PRC are
required to participate in a government-
managed retirement benefit schemes.
These subsidiaries are required to
contribute a fixed cost per employee
to the government-managed retirement
benefit schemes. The contributions are
charged to profit or loss as they become
payable.
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e BHRRMEE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(p)

Share-based payments

Where share options are awarded to
employees, the fair value of the options at the
date of grant is recognised in profit or loss
over the vesting period with a corresponding
increase in the employee share-based
compensation reserve within equity. Non-
market vesting conditions are taken into
account by adjusting the number of equity
instruments expected to vest at the end of
each reporting period so that, ultimately,
the cumulative amount recognised over
the vesting period is based on the number
of options that eventually vest. Market
vesting conditions are factored into the fair
value of the options granted. As long as
all other vesting conditions are satisfied, a
charge is made irrespective of whether the
market vesting conditions are satisfied. The
cumulative expense is not adjusted for failure
to achieve a market vesting condition.

Where the terms and conditions of options
are modified before they vest, the increase
in the fair value of the options, measured
immediately before and after the modification,
is also recognised in profit or loss over the
remaining vesting period.

Where equity instruments are granted to
persons other than employees, the profit or
loss is charged with the fair value of goods
or services received unless the goods or
services qualify for recognition as assets. A
corresponding increase in equity is recognised.
For cash settled share based payments, a
liability is recognised at the fair value of the
goods or services received.
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ARE B SR OR M RE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—ZT-NF=ZRA=+—H
31 March 2018

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(a)

Impairment of other assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group
reviews the carrying amounts of the following
assets to determine whether there is any
indication that those assets have suffered
an impairment loss or an impairment loss
previously recognised no longer exists or may
have decreased:

° property, plant and equipment;

° intangible assets; and

° interests in subsidiaries and associates
(except for those classified as held for
sale (or included in a disposal group
that is classified as held for sale) (see
note 4(j) to the consolidated financial
statements);

If the recoverable amount (i.e. the greater of
the fair value less costs of disposal and value
in use) of an asset is estimated to be less
than its carrying amount, the carrying amount
of the asset is reduced to its recoverable
amount. An impairment loss is recognised as
an expense immediately, unless the relevant
asset is carried at a revalued amount under
another HKFRS, in which case the impairment
loss is treated as a revaluation decrease under
that HKFRS.
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e BHRRMEE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(a)

(r)

Impairment of other assets (Continued)

Where an impairment loss subsequently
the carrying amount of the asset
is increased to the revised estimate of its
recoverable amount, to the extent that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed
the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset in prior years. A
reversal of an impairment loss is recognised
as income immediately, unless the relevant
asset is carried at a revalued amount under
another HKFRS, in which case the reversal of
the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation
increase under that HKFRS.

reverses,

Value in use is based on the estimated future
cash flow expected to be derived from the
asset or cash-generating unit (see note 4(d)
to the consolidated financial statements),
discounted to their present value using
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset or
cash-generating unit.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of
uncertain timing or amount when the Group
has a legal or constructive obligation arising as
a result of a past event, which it is probably
will result in an outflow of economic benefits
that can be reasonably estimated.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of
economic benefits will be required, or the
amount cannot be estimated reliably, the
obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability,
unless the probability of outflow of economic
benefits is remote. Possible obligations, the
existence of which will only be confirmed
by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one
or more future events, are also disclosed as
contingent liabilities unless the probability of
outflow of economic benefits is remote.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—E-\F=A=+-H
31 March 2018

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(s) Related parties

(@) A person or a close member of that

person’s family is related to the Group if

that person:

(ii)

(iii)

has control or joint control of the
Group;

has significant influence over the
Group; or

is a member of key management
personnel of the Group or the
Company’s parent.

(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of

the following conditions apply:

(ii)

(i)

(iv)

The entity and the Group are
members of the same group (which
means that each parent, subsidiary
and fellow subsidiary is related to
the others);

One entity is an associate or joint
venture of the other entity (or
an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the
other entity is a member);

Both entities are joint ventures of
the same third party;

One entity is a joint venture of a
third entity and the other entity is
an associate of the third entity;

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED ) HERBRAA

4.

FTESHBE®)

(s) BAEAL
(@) MHZBEALTHRTINER
AlZBALTHZBALZE
BRBKBRRSENEE
BRAE

()  BHEAKEAZEHIESKHS

()42 Il % -
(i) HAKEBEEARTE
h ek

(i) AAEERANRFGR
AlZETEEEASR -

(b) fWAERITIERER - Bl
ERERAEAEETH
B

(i) %?%ﬁK
BB &
#Aﬂ*WEAﬂ&H
ZHIB AR EARRE):

R
hii|
|
il
i
N

(ii)

o
w2
E
]

0>
N
g
m

\
A

N ot B>
\

op

=
T
5
(][
I MR

IR o
all]

SR SIS

L=l =T <

m Y

I

m -
NS
I w2

(iii)

at Ry
N

D RGS

Rl

ST
|

|5°d§

|

0> m§
i R

NI =
5
| o
= 3
g
30 [l
| mi
e mEE
N

i
[]
g
o)
fole
N

=
TR

(iv)

\
7’
\
!

.

o 3 >



e BHRRMEE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(s) Related parties (Continued)

(b)

An entity is related to the Group if

any of the following conditions apply:
(Continued)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

The entity is a post-employment
benefit plan for the benefit of the
employees of the Group or an entity
related to the Group;

The entity is controlled or jointly
controlled by a person identified in
(a);

A person identified in (a)(i) has
significant influence over the entity
or is a member of key management
personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity); or

The entity, or any member of a
group of which it is a part, provides
key management personnel services
to the reporting entity or to the
parent of the reporting entity.

Close members of the family of a person are

those family members who may be expected

to influence, or be influenced by, that person

in their dealings with the entity and include:

(i)

(i)

(iii)

that person’s children and spouse or
domestic partner;

children of that person’s spouse or
domestic partner; and

dependents of that person or that

person’s spouse or domestic partner.
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ARE B SR OR M RE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—ZT-NF=ZRA=+—H
31 March 2018

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(t)

(u)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs attributable directly to the
acquisition, construction or production of
qualifying assets which require a substantial
period of time to be ready for their intended
use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost
of those assets. Income earned on temporary
investments of specific borrowings pending
their expenditure on those assets is deducted
from borrowing costs capitalised. All other
borrowing costs are recognised in profit or
loss in the period in which they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised when
there is reasonable assurance that they will be
received and that the Group will comply with
the conditions attaching to them. Grants that
compensate the Group for expenses incurred
are recognised as revenue in profit or loss
on a systematic basis in the same periods
in which the expenses are incurred. Grants
that compensate the Group for the cost of an
asset are recognised as deferred income in
consolidated statement of financial position
and consequently are effectively recognised in
profit or loss over the useful life of the asset.
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e BHRRMEE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(v)

Financial Guarantee

A financial guarantee contract is a contract
that requires the issuer to make specified
payments to reimburse the holder for a loss
it incurs because a specified debtor fails
to make payment when due in accordance
with the original or modified terms of a debt
instrument. A financial guarantee contract
issued by the Group and not designated as
at FVTPL is recognised initially at its fair
value less transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the issue of the financial
guarantee contract. Subsequent to initial
recognition, the Group measures the financial
guarantee contact at the higher of: (i) the
amount determined in accordance with HKAS
37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and
Contingent Assets; and (ii) the amount initially
recognised less, when appropriate, cumulative
amortisation recognised in accordance with
HKAS 18 Revenue.

The contracted fee of the financial guarantee
recognised as other income in profit or loss
over the term of the guarantee as income
from financial guarantee issued. In addition,
provisions are recognised if and when it
becomes probable that the holder of the
guarantee will call upon the Group under the
guarantee and the amount of that claim on
the Group is expected to exceed the current
carrying amount i.e. the amount initially
recognised less accumulated amortisation,
where appropriate.
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ARE B SR OR M RE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—ZT-NF=ZRA=+—H
31 March 2018

5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

Estimates are evaluated and are based on historical

experience and other factors, including expectations

of future events that are believed to be reasonable

under the circumstances. The key assumptions

that have a significant risk of causing a material

adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets

and liabilities within the next financial year are

discussed below:

(a)

(b)

(c)

Useful lives of property, plant and
equipment

Management determines the estimated useful
lives of the property, plant and equipment and
will revise depreciation charges when useful
lives differ from previous estimates.

Impairment test of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is
impaired at least on an annual basis. This
requires an estimation of the value in use
of the cash-generating units to which the
goodwill is allocated. Estimating the value in
use requires the Group to make an estimate of
the expected future cash flows from the cash-
generating units and also to choose a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present
value of those cash flows.

Impairment loss on intangible assets

Determining whether an intangible asset is
impaired requires an estimation of the future
cash flow and a suitable discount rate in
order to calculate the present value. Where
the actual future cash flows are less than
expected, a material impairment loss may
arise.
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e BHRRMEE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

(d) Impairment loss on loans and receivables

The policy for impairment of loans and
receivables of the Group is based on the
evaluation of collectability and ageing
analysis of the loans and receivables and
on management’'s judgment. A considerable
amount of judgment is required in assessing
the ultimate realisation of these loans
and receivables, including the current
creditworthiness of each customer. If the
financial conditions of customers of the Group
were to deteriorate, resulting in an impairment
of their ability to make payments, additional
impairment may be required.

SEGMENT REPORTING

Management determines operating segments
based on the reports regularly reviewed by the
chief operating decision maker (the “CODM"),
which is the Board of Directors (the “"Board”), in
assessing performance and allocating resources.
The CODM considers the business primarily on
the basis of the types of services supplied by the
Group. During the year ended 31 March 2018, the
Group had seven operating divisions — licence
fee collection and provision of intellectual property
enforcement services business, exhibition-related
business, property sub-leasing, development and
investment business, entertainment business,
food and beverages, money lending business and
sludge and sewage treatment, and two operating
divisions, including licence fee collection and
provision of intellectual property enforcement
services business and entertainment business
were classified as discontinued operations.
Accordingly, the comparative segment information
has been re-presented to conform to current year's
presentation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—E-\F=A=+-H
31 March 2018

6. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

Principal activities of the Group are as follows:

Licence fee
collection and
provision of
intellectual
property
enforcement
services business

Exhibition-related
business

Property
sub-leasing,
development and
investment
business

Entertainment
business

Food and beverages

Money lending
business

Sludge and sewage
treatment

Upon completion

—  operation of the business of the
licences of copyright to karaoke
music products and provision of
intellectual property enforcement
services in the People’s Republic
of China (the “PRC") as managed
by China Music Video Collective
Management Association* ([
BEGEFREREENGE]) (the
"MVCM Association”)

— organising all kinds of exhibition
events and meeting events

—  sub-leasing, development of real
estates and leasing of investment
properties

—  provision of talent management
and entertainment and travelling
related services

—  sale of food and beverages and
restaurant operations

—  provision of loans to customers,
including individuals and
corporations under the provisions
of Money Lenders Ordinance
(Chapter 163 of the Laws of
Hong Kong) in Hong Kong

—  operation of sludge and sewage
treatment plants in the PRC

of disposal of the entire interests

of a number of subsidiaries on 31 March 2018

to an independent third party (the

“"Disposal”),

management considers that the key operating

divisions of the Group are exhibition-related

business, property sub-leasing, development and

investment business,

food and beverages and

money lending business.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

— - \F=ZA=+—8
31 March 2018

SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued) 6. DEEHmEE)
Segment information is presented below: DEERZ5MT
Information about reportable segment (a) EBAHRELEWRRE - BAHE
revenue, profit or loss, assets and liabilities E-EENREBZERREMESR
and other information
2018
“%-1%
Continuing operations Discontinued operations
i e BRLER
License fee
collection and
Property provision of
sub-leasing, intellectual
development property
Exhibition- and Money Inter- Sludge and  enforcement
related  investment Food and lending segment sewage services  Entertainment
business business ~ beverages business  elimination Sub-total treatment business business Total
BHEER
HERRE
x> aER
L SRR L
LI 0 HEER fEENE M ORMEE BEEE BusE 15
HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS$ HKS HKS HKS HKS
i i A A A A A i3 A i
Reportable segment revenue gL E0E
el sdes e %6 BIBN6 ISR 2203104 - B - 3383 WO 813807
Iteseqment saes ARREE - - 1B - A8 - - - - -
39395656 35763016 26,125,328 221319 (22163815) 81333379 - 3383 44033 81,380,795
Reportable segment (loss}/profit REEHBRATES
before income tax expense 25(B8)/4H 2,694636) 42517 (4425691 2,195,660 - (Ad92158)  (3585346) (5396131 (946064  (14,419,697)
Other segment information AAEEH
Interest income HEBA 27318 9,454 3 - - 36,809 678 753,940 1647 793,074
Interest expenses HERS - 4501705 - - - 4501705 - - - 4,501,705
Depreciation of property, % HRRREINE
plant and equipment 96,366 1312518 149478 - - 1558362 - 557,612 173,486 8,289,460
Loss on disposal of property, LEN  BERREL
plant and equipment 5] 41,39 - - - - 413% - - - 4139
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MaEEs B Sops]
31 March 2018

6. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued) 6. DEEHmEE)

(a) Information about reportable segment (a) BEATHESEWRE  BERHE
revenue, profit or loss, assets and liabilities B -EEREEZERNREMER
and other information (Continued) (&

2018
22N
Continuing operations Discontinued operations
it - E ] BRLER
License fee
collection and
Property provision of
sub-leasing, intellectual
development property
Exhibition- and Money Inter- Sludge and  enforcement
related  investment Food and lending segment sewage services  Entertainment
business business  beverages busingss  elimination Sub-total treatment business business Total
HHERR
HERRE
pESES EER
L 5ER L
LI £ deER pEEN M ORMEE BBEE BesE 18
HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS
i i A A A A i3 A V-7 i
Impaiment losses on trads and other BhERRERIEL
receivables HEEE - 320,545 - - - 322,545 - - - 320,545
Share of losses of assocites bl - - - - - - 108 - - 10mn
Reportable segment assets TREARAE 25009038 119648170 12200282 49,028,292 - 2059978 - - - 2059978
Expenditure for reportable TREAEERDERL
segment non-current assets Fx 32490 3,511,834 - - - 3,544,324 - 840,253 - 4,384,577
Regortable segment liabies THEAERE 10222218 148.722,583 554,160 51,000 - 159,550,021 - - - 169,550,021

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED

PEEBERAEBRA R



ARE MR M

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
- N\F=A=+—8H

31 March 2018

6. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued) 6. DEEHmEE)

(a) Information about reportable segment (a) EBUHREIEWRE  BHARE
revenue, profit or loss, assets and liabilities B -EEREEZERNREMER
and other information (Continued) (&

2017
i e
Continuing operations Discontinued operations
HEALEH BREEH
License feg
callection and
Property provision of
sut-leasing, intellectual
development property
Exhibition- and Money Inter- Sludgeand  enforcement
related  investment Food and lending segment sewage sevices  Entertainment
business business Deverages business ~ elimination Sub-total treatment business business Total
HHRER
e RRH
nEAk HET ]
B8 BR RiER i
L B mmsm o omEng TE R £
HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS
AL b A A ¥ #r b A & A
(re-presented) (re-presented) ~ (re-presented]
(1287 M) (w5
note 1 6) fnote 186 (note 1 &6
(i 1k6) (Wti1k6)  (Wa1k6)
Reportable segment revenue TREARNE
External seles bkt 076307 336974 56,752 3542,945 — 78834746 - 2203047 3205 81,280,068
Inter-segment sales AEHHE - - 042 - 0042 - - - - -

Q18301 32,369,742 2,067,174 3540945 (2001422) 78,694,746

2213047 312275 81,280,068

Reportable segment (los)/profit BESHERATRS

before income tax expense A5(B8)/#H 4.075,577) 402,039) (361,420) 2972648 - [1,866,388) (497,585 (2,541,697) (610,967) (9,846,537
Other segment information EfAEEH
Interest income LN 1731 56,744 1 657 - 1747119 6,293 469,34 29 650,707
Interest expenses HERs - 2062 - - - 208423 - - — D64
Depreciation of propety, % BRRREINE

plant and equipment 40754 10,033,715 379,933 - — 10820902 - 743838 179,005 11,743,145
Loss on disposal of property, LENE  BERREL

plant and equipment BE 68,541 1,146,112 - - - 1,214,653 - - - 1,214,653
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e B ®RR M
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M@ES Bl =oe—s
31 March 2018

6. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued) 6. DEEHmEE)

(a) Information about reportable segment (a) EBAUHREIEWRE  BHARE
revenue, profit or loss, assets and liabilities B -EEREEZERNREMER
and other information (Continued) (&

207
i e
Continuing operations Discontinued operations
REALEH BREER
License feg
collection and
Property provision of
sut-leasing, intellectual
development property
Exhibition- and Money Inter- Sludgeand  enforcement
related  investment Food and lending segment sewage sevices  Entertainment
business business Deverages business ~ elimination Sub-total treatment business business Total
HEER
RS
st aEEE
EE BR RIER i
HERB RERE B hEsk gEmnE N BKER pmep ges g8
HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS
AL b b A B #r b A & A
(re-presented) (re-presented) ~ (re-presented]
() E8)  (ag)
note 1 6) fnote 186 (note 1 &6
(k1% (Wti1k6)  (Wa1k6)
Impiment losses on trade and ERERRERNEL
other receivables HERE - 4043163 - - - 4318 509,001 - - 4,552,164
Share of losses of assocites BN - - - - - - 4134 - — 46135
Loss on disposal of subsidaries HENBRAIER - - - - - - - - 1399 139
Reportable segment assets TREAREE U087 NA6SU 43703 %BATI8LT — 26404062 40855428 38070022 301752 338347029
Expenditure for reportable TREABEREEL
segment non-current assets 553 11,860 3,383,843 - - - 339,703 - - - 3,395,703
Reportable segment liabilities BEEp 8729964 112476299 1167427 51,000 — 12241469 16,013447 74,530,858 5853450 218814445

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED #EEEZER E
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e BHRRMEE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E-NF=A=+—H

31 March 2018

SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued) 6. PEHREF®)
(b) Reconciliation of reportable segment profit (b) AHRESERFNERE EERE
or loss, assets and liabilities Bz H R
Loss before income tax expense BRET S BB AT E 15
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+tF
HK$ HK$
B BT
(re-presented)
(BE75)
(note 1 & 6)
(Hizt1k6)
Reportable segment loss before income  BFTEHMLAIAIREHBER
tax expense (4,492,156) (1,866,388)
Unallocated gain on disposal of available- kA HE A HHERE 2 iz
for-sale investments 6,276,790 —
Unallocated gain/(loss) on disposal of FPOELERBAR Z S/
subsidiaries (E1]) 58,240,950 (4,633)
Unallocated gain/(loss) on disposal of APELENE  BERZEZ
property, plant and equipment Wzt (B1E) 100,000 (454,097)
Unallocated interest income and other RO BFIBWARE KA
income 1,320,244 461,377
Unallocated amortisation of intangible AOREREE 2B
assets (116,884) (116,883)
Unallocated impairment losses on trade APEEMERREMAKIE L
and other receivables AAEER - (18,624)
Unallocated finance costs AABREKK (2,155,295) (931,861)
Unallocated staff costs APEEIHR (11,945,477) (25,292,133
Unallocated rent, rates and management ~ ADEHE ZWRERE
fee (13,450,292) (21,937,033)
Unallocated depreciation of property, AOEME  BERZEZ
plant and equipment e (2,766,434) (2,059,793)
Unallocated head office and corporate AOREREERDAIFY
expenses (note) (Hizt) (35,787,740) (33,073,351
Loss before income tax expense from RERELEEH RGN
continuing operations % Bl 18 (4,776,294)  (85,293,419)

Note:

Unallocated head office and corporate expenses
mainly include professional and consultancy fees,
administrative expenses and business development

expenses.

wit
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ARE B SR OR M RE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—ZT-NF=ZRA=+—H
31 March 2018

6.

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED B /& 7 % f

SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

(b)

6. DEHmEH)

Reconciliation of reportable segment profit (b) AHRESERFNERE EERE
or loss, assets and liabilities (Continued) BEZYHER(ZE)
Assets BE
2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—+F
HK$ HK$
B BT
Reportable segment assets AREDREE 205,995,782 338,347,029
Property, plant and equipment M - BE NEE 2,840,102 3,242,771
Available-for-sale investments AR ERE - 50,367,334
Trade and other receivables U E R R EMFIE 5,270,588 9,518,162
Cash and cash equivalents RekReEEER 99,273,990 5,610,107
Unallocated head office and corporate ROMBIHERRAFEE
assets 852,539 1,007,212
Total assets BERE 314,233,001 408,092,605
Liabilities e
2018 2017
—E-N\F ZT—+tF
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Reportable segment liabilities ARESHEERE 159,550,021 218,814,445
Bank borrowings RITEE — 30,000,000
Deposits received from disposal of BB A A B IR
subsidiaries i - 16,000,000
Convertible bonds AR ES 42,278,487 —
Unallocated head office and corporate ROMBIRER R
liabilities NAElBE 11,084,370 8,894,339
Total liabilities BEBE 212,912,878 273,708,784




e BHRRMEE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued) 6.

(c) Geographical information

The Group's operations are mainly located in

Hong Kong, the PRC and Korea.

An analysis of the Group’s geographical

segments is set out as follows:

—F-N\F=A=+—H
31 March 2018

DEBE )

(c) HEER
AEEMT LT BRNES  FE
REEE -

AEEMR B ZAFTEHINMT

2018
—B-N\F

Hong Kong The PRC Korea Total

s HE #E k]

HK$ HK$ HKS$ HK$

B B BT BT

Revenue ey 6,174,707 75,158,672 - 81,333,379
Non-current assets other than  IERBIEE(2RI A

financial instruments and REREHEEE
deferred tax assets BR4M) 3,577,470 53,581,125 - 57,158,595
2017
S

Hong Kong The PRC Korea Total

B HE EEgE Fiok

HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$

BT BT BT BT

(re-presented) (re-presented) (re-presented)

(KE7)) (£=E51) (&g=751)

(note 1 & 6)  (note 1 & 6) (note 1 & 6)

(Wst1k6)  (Hit1ke6) (B 1X%6)

Revenue Wogs 3,289,679 75,096,049 309,018 78,694,746
Non-current assets other than  IERBIEE (ST A

financial instruments and RERHEEE
deferred tax assets BR4M) 15,332,084 58,629,996 8,296,754 82,258,834

ANNUAL REPORT 2018 Z-NFER
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ma R A

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MaEEs B Sops]
31 March 2018

7. REVENUE

Analysis of the Group's revenue for the year is as

follows:

7. W&

AREBZARFEREDOMAT :

2018 2017
—E-N\F T —tF
HK$ HK$
B BT
(re-presented)
(&E51)
(note 1 & 6)
(WaF1k6)
Continuing operations: BEQEER .
Revenue from exhibition-related business EERBEER 2 WE 39,395,656 42,726,307
Gross rental income from property sub-leasing ¥ D TEBKHEHS WA
business w5 35,763,016 32,369,742
Sale of food and beverages BHHE 3,961,513 55,752
Money lending business WEES 2,213,194 3,642,945
81,333,379 78,694,746
Discontinued operations: BRIEEK
Revenue from licence fee collection FrETEE A RIRH A ER
and provision of intellectual property RIS E 2 s
enforcement services business 3,383 2,213,047
Revenue from talent management and IR ANERRIREEZ L
entertainment and travelling related No TR 2 4R B AR 75 3 7%
services business Z Mg 44,033 372,275
47,416 2,585,322
CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED & &R AaR A 7



e BHRRMEE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E-NF=A=+—H

31 March 2018

OTHER GAINS OR LOSSES, NET 8. Hutlhz==iEi8 - H5E
2018 2017
—E-\F T —+tF
HK$ HK$
B BT
(re-presented)
(&eE75)
(note 1 & 6)
(Hizt1k6)
Continuing operations: BEQEER
Bank interest income RITHEHA 129,981 196,306
Income from financial guarantee issued REC BT BEERRA
(note (i) (Biat ) 352,886 320,768
Government grants BT B
— relating to unconditional subsidies — BEAEGER 1,179,987 —
— for leasehold improvements (note (ii)) — WEMEREWE ) - 3,430,866
Gain on disposal of available-for-sale HEMHEERE 2 W
investments (note 21(a)) (H1a#21(a) 6,276,790 —
Gain on disposal of property, plant and HEME - BB Rk ME
equipment 52,606 —
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries (note 35) HEM B QR W (fEE35) 58,240,950 —
Fair value gain on investment properties BEWMEZ NFEERS
(note 18) (Mt 18) - 292,324
Provision for financial guarantee SRR (5,865,835) —
Others Hit 3,138,790 3,151,037
63,506,155 7,391,301
Discontinued operations: BRIEER
Bank interest income RITFBUA 756,265 475,928
Others Hith 58,374 3,223,640
814,639 3,699,568
64,320,794 11,090,869
Notes: Bisr

(i)

(ii)

The amount represents income from financial
guarantee issued for an independent third party in
which to indemnify the bank any loss in case of
any default in repayment in respect of a loan facility
for the principal amount of up to RMB40,000,000
(equivalent to HK$49,922,000) (2017:
RMB35,000,000 (equivalent to HK$39,424,000))
drawn by that party.

The amount represents government subsidies
received in advance in relation to leasehold
improvement on a property sub-leasing project. The
amount will be recognised in profit or loss over the
lease term of the property being leased.

(i)  FEERHIERBILE = RIS ER
ZWA WA REELASERES R
AR 40,000,000 7T (FHE 72 49,922,000
) (ZZ—+4F « AR 35,000,0007C
(FI5 739,424,000 7L) ) 2 ERRE
HIREMEL - BRERTZEMIE
95 °

(i)  ZFAFER—EAMELHEEEZEE
YERERW Z R B - KA K
REMEYE 2 HHRARIBRPER -
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ARE B SR OR M RE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—ZT-NF=ZRA=+—H
31 March 2018

9. LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX EXPENSE 9. BFrEHBEXAIEE
Loss before income tax expense is arrived at after BRETE R ATEEE MR (GEA) MK
charging/(crediting): &g -
2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—+F
HK$ HK$
BT BT
(re-presented)
(izE5)
(note 1 & 6)
(Hiat1k6)
Continuing operations BEREER
Amortisation on: e
—intengible assets  —&pEE 116,884 116,883
(Gain)/loss on disposal of subsidiaries, net HEMBARZ(ME),/BiE
(note 35" FE(Wass)’  (68240,950) 6,032
(Gain)/loss on disposal of property, HEME BERSREY
__plant and equipment Chz)®@|  (52,606) 1,668,750
Impairment losses on: REEE
_— trade and other receivables (note 23)  — BMEHEAMAA(Ai£23) 322545 4,061,787
Auditor's remuneration @M 1490000 1,788,000
Discontinued operations BHRIEER
Impairment losses on: REBE
— trade and other receivables (note 23) — W ER R EMFIE M7 23) — 509,001
Share of losses of associates DE S N EEE 1,011,613 4,613,445
o \011613 5,122,446
# The amount is included under the “other gains # A AGEEERERE N Ei4
or losses, net” in the consolidated statement of WzsskEsia - SF5E | o
comprehensive income.
CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED ] FE 7 ¥ \ 7
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E-NF=A=+—H

31 March 2018

10. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS 10. EARIEEK
On 31 March 2018, the Group completed disposal R-ZE—N\E=ZA=1+—H ~&EEE
of the entire issued capital of a number of EXHERRARZHEMNB AR ZEIE
subsidiaries of the Company. These subsidiaries BT - ZEWB AT EHrES
carry out businesses in license fee collection and A ERBEAEEREERBES
provision of intellectual property enforcement IREEEZ DA RS 5 KRR o

services business, entertainment business and
sludge and sewage treatment business.

The results from discontinued operations up to HEXEHH DRIEXEBIFXERRE
the date of disposal are disclosed as follows. The W HREETERGERIERETESE
comparative figures on the consolidated statement PBERIERET  URTZEEBHEZR
of comprehensive income have been re-presented AKEFERIFEE -

those operations that have been discontinued in the
current year as discontinued operations.

(a) License fee collection and provision of (a) BHEEBHUERREHAZBERESE
intellectual property enforcement services ERBER
business
The revenue and results of the license E-E—tFONA—HEZZ—N
fee collection and intellectual property FZA=1+—HB(LEBH) ™
enforcement services business for the period FREE—_E—tF=A=+—H
from 1 April 2017 to 31 March 2018 (date of IEFE - HFHEERRE RIEEA
disposal) and for the year ended 31 March HEREERERGES WS RS
2017 are as following: NN
2018 2017
—E-NFE —ZT—+F
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Revenue (note 7) W (K75t 7) 3,383 2,213,047
Other gains or losses, net EblUzmokEtE - FRE
(note 8) (H17#8) 753,737 469,341
Depreciation on property, plant and 4% - HEMREZITE
equipment (557,612) (743,838)
Operating lease payments LR FRIE (607,483) (399,995)
Staff costs (note 11) BIAMETT) (3,120,515) (2,273,578)
Other operating expenses EmgEfy (1,867,641) (1,806,574)
Loss before income tax expense BRETS R S A 1B (5,396,131)  (2,541,597)
Income tax expense (note 14) Frigtim s (Hat 14) (11,015) —
Loss for the year NEFEE (5,407,146) (2,541,597)
Operating cash inflows LR SMA 2,103,345 772,605
Financing cash inflows/(outflows) MERESHEACRE) 5,423,814  (3,713,183)
Total cash inflows/(outflows) WeARA (Rt @ 7,527,159  (2,940,578)
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ARE B SR OR M RE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—ZT-NF=ZRA=+—H
31 March 2018

10. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS
(Continued)

(b)

Entertainment business

10. EREEK#)

(b)

The revenue and results of the entertainment

business for the period from 1 April 2017 to
31 March 2018 (date of disposal) and for the

RYEER

BE-E—+tFWHA—HE-_Z—N
i:ﬂ:+—5 (ﬁ%aﬁﬂ)t,ﬁﬂﬁaﬂ
FRBE-_ZT—tF=A=+—H

year ended 31 March 2017 are as following: INFEE - REEEE NS RESED
I 2
2018 2017
—E-N\F —t&F
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Revenue (note 7) Wz (Kiat7) 44,033 372,275
Other gains or losses, net HmasskEsie - ¥
(note 8) (K17t 8) 54,147 494,224
Depreciation on property, plant and 4% - BiE MREZITE
equipment (173,486) (179,005)
Operating lease payments KR (32,662) (226,001)
Staff costs (note 11) EIEZK(/WEH) (669,536) (50,345)
Other operating expenses Has s (168,560) (922,115)
Loss before income tax expense ﬁ?ﬁﬁ SHHAZAIEE (946,064) (510,967)
Income tax (expense)/credit B (FAX),/ #H%e
(note 14) (/7/9‘374) (13,249) 3,348
Loss for the year AFEEIE (959,313) (507,619)
Operating cash (outflows)/inflows KERS(RL),/ WA (597,367) 1,890,476
Financing cash (outflows)/inflows MERSCRE),ARA (392,243) 2,412,379
Total cash (outflows)/inflows W& Rt/ RALE (989,610) 4,302,855

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED B /& 7 % f
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

10. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS
(Continued)

(c)

Sludge and sewage treatment business

During the year ended 31 March 2017, the
sludge and sewage treatment business of the
Group is classified as held for sale in order to
enable the Group to realise its investment in
the business and to focus on the continuing
businesses and business development. The
disposal of the sludge and sewage treatment
business of the Group has been completed
during the year.

The results of the sludge and sewage
treatment business for the period from 1 April
2017 to 31 March 2018 (date of disposal)
and for the year ended 31 March 2017 are as
follows:

- N\&=A=+—H
31 March 2018

10. EREEK#)

(c)

KISKEEER
RBE_T—tF=A=t+—HIt
FE  AREZTRMGKEERE
BoBRRFKELE  UBAEER
RERNBRBZRE - WRFER
HFFBREEBREBRR - K&
BERAFE TR EETRKEITK
BRIRRF ©

VEp]

EREEKEBEBERE S —+
FOMA-—BE_Z—N\F=A
=t+—B(HEBH) B ERE

“E—+F=ZA=1+—HIFE
ZEBEMT

2018 2017

—E-\F —T—+tF

HK$ HK$

B BT

Other gains or losses, net (note 8) Hit e sk B8 - T 8) 6,755 2,736,003
Impairment losses (note 9) WEEEHEZI) - (509,001)
Operating lease payments AR (607,141) (588,973)
Staff costs (note 11) BIRANET1) (1,637,398) (1,289,411)
Other operating expenses Higax (335,949) (662,758)
Share of losses of associates (note 9) DR ENTER(HZ9) (1,011,613) (4,613,445)
Loss before income tax expense B PSR S AT ES 1B (3,585,346) (4,927,585)
Income tax expense (note 14) FTSBFAS (M 14) - (12,566)
Loss for the year rEEEE (3,585,346) (4,940,151)
Operating cash outflows KEHRER (1,297,951) (66,710)
Investing cash (outflows)/inflows BEBREORE),/RA (539,324) 1,937,284
Total cash (outflows)/inflows ReORb),/MmALRE (1,837,275) 1,870,574
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—E—-\%=A=+—H
31 March 2018

117 STAFECOSES 1. BEITHRAK
Continuing operations  Discontinued operations Total
BEReER BRILER gt
2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017
“E-N\f Rt ZB-N\F ZT+E ZE-N\§ ZE-t%
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HKS$ HKS$
V-7 AT V-73 BT V-7 AT
(re-presented) (re-presented)
(mE5)) (55
fnote 1 & 6) fnote 1 & 6)
(Wi 1%6) (Wit 1%6)
Staff costs (including Directors) comprise: & IRA(AEES)A%E
Salaries ge 20,007,178 31177732 3992312 2,669,177 23,999,490 33,846,909
Contribution to defined contribution RELFRINGE 2B
pension plans 531,969 1,759,242 647,986 721060 1,179,955 2,480,302
Other short-term monetary benefits EEdesis 1861473 2891349 787,151 203,097 2648624 3,114,446
22,400,620 35828323 5427449 3613334 27,828,069 39,441,657
12. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR 12. EEREREEEME
MANAGEMENT’'S EMOLUMENTS
Directors’ emoluments EEMS
The aggregate amounts of the Directors’ EEMEAEZENT
emoluments are as follows:
Salaries Retirement
and other scheme Benefits in
Fees benefits  contributions kind Total
HeR B
e HitER SRR ENFG ag
2018 HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
—E-)N\% BT BT BT BT BT
Executive Directors HITEE
Chen Weiwu RER - 720,000 18,000 - 738,000
Chen Gengxian FREE - 804,000 34,264 - 838,264
Chen Songbin (vii) BEALIE (vii) - 60,000 12,819 - 72,819
Zhou Houjie GIEL S - 240,000 19,229 - 259,229
Independent BUFHTES
Non-Executive Directors
Chen Youchun BRE 180,000 - - - 180,000
Chen Chein Kwong William Bk 180,000 - - - 180,000
Lui Mei Ka (vi) EXE W) 170,000 - - - 170,000
530,000 1,824,000 84,312 - 2,438,312
CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED HFEEEEZRERE A 7
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E-NF=A=+—H

31 March 2018

12. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR 12. EENEREEEME »)
MANAGEMENT'S EMOLUMENTS
(Continued)
Directors’ emoluments (Continued) BEEML ()

Salaries Retirement

and other scheme Benefits in
Fees benefits  contributions kind Total
ek RIK

e HibEH FTEIfR BN ek
2017 HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
—T—tF BT BT BT BT BT
Executive Directors HTES
Chen Weiwu (i) BRIZE () — 226,452 6,000 — 232,452
Chen Gengxian (i) BREKE (i) — 226,452 6,000 — 232,452
Chen Songbin (i) BRALE (1) — 75,484 3,774 — 79,258
Zhou Houjie (i) BB () — 75,484 3,774 — 79,258
Cheng Yang (i) 1215 (ii) - 3,434,400 18,000 — 3,452,400
Tsoi Tung (iii) £ 1Y (iii) — 1,246,451 7,500 — 1,253,951
Lei Lei (i) BE (i) — 1,950,000 18,000 — 1,968,000
Huang Ranfei (iii) BRI (i) — 667,741 7,500 — 675,241
Li Weipeng (iv) THE (v) 28,000 — — — 28,000
Independent BUFHTES

Non-Executive Directors
Chen Youchun (i) BRE () 56,613 — — — 56,613
Chen Chein Kwong BR{&54 (1)

William (i) 56,613 — — — 56,613
Tong Jingguo (i) HEE (i) 120,000 — — — 120,000
Yang Rusheng (i) BN (i) 120,000 — — — 120,000
So Tat Keung (v) Bz (v 40,000 — — — 40,000

421,226 7,902,464 70,548 — 8,394,238
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ARE B SR OR M RE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—ZT-NF=ZRA=+—H

31 March 2018

12. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR 12. EEREREEEME &)

MANAGEMENT’'S EMOLUMENTS

(Continued)

Directors’ emoluments (Continued) EEME(E)

No Directors waived their emoluments in respect of BEEEREd =2 —N\F=A

the year ended 31 March 2018 (2017: nil). =T RALFEZME(ZT—LF:

/) o

Discretionary bonuses were granted based on BERANDRERNES 2 KRB M

the performance of individual Directors and o WEEARB ZHINEE S HE -

were approved by the Company’'s Remuneration

Committee.

Notes: Bist -

(i)  The Director was appointed on 8 December 2016. iy BEFRZZE—X"FTZANBEZ
£

(i) The Director resigned on 24 January 2017. (il ZEBEE-_Z—tF—A-1+mHAR
BT -

(i) The Director resigned on 15 August 2016. (i) ZEBEFEE-_Z—AR"FNA+HEARE
£

(iv)  The Director resigned on 8 April 2016. (iv) ZEFEZZ—RFHOA/N\BREHIE -

(v)  The Director resigned on 1 August 20186. (v) #EZEE-_Z—XFN\A—HREHITE-

(vi)  The Director was appointed on 21 April 2017. (i) REER_Z—+tEWMA-_+—HE
=T -

(vi)  The Director resigned on 1 July 2017. (vil ZEBEBFEE-_Z—tHFtA—HERIT-

eall]
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

12. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT’'S EMOLUMENTS
(Continued)

Five highest paid individuals

Among the five individuals with the highest
emoluments in the Group, two (2017: three) were
Directors of the Company whose emoluments are
included in the above.

The emoluments of the remaining three (2017: two)
highest paid individual in 2018 are as follows:

12.

- N\&=A=+—H
31 March 2018

EELEHREEEME 2

TEREHFMAL
AEBREESFMWALH  WE(=
T—+F: ZR)BARAIES - HEN
SEHRNLEX -

—E-N\FHEBEZR(ZE—LF W
BIRSHMALZMESWT :

2018 2017
—E-NFE —ZT—+F
HKS$ HK$
BT BT

Basic salaries, housing allowances, other EZ&R#H4 - EERAL - i
allowances and benefits in kind EAREYF 3,128,271 3,340,000
Retirement scheme contributions RRET B 35,550 36,000
3,163,821 3,376,000

The emoluments are within the following band: EEL TNEEZA -

2018 2017
—E-NFE —ZT—+F
Number of Number of
Employees  Employees
ESEH ESEH
HK$nil to HK$1,000,000 02 1,000,0008 7T 2 —

HK$1,000,000 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,000 T2 1,500,000
BT — _

HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,600,001 & T2 2,000,000
BIT 1 2
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—E-\F=A=+-H
31 March 2018

12. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT’'S EMOLUMENTS
(Continued)

Remuneration of senior management

Remuneration of senior management of the
Group, including amounts paid to the highest paid
employees other than Directors as disclosed above,
are within the following bands:

12. EEREREEEME &)

B R EEEH M

AEBRREEREFHM(BHE LXK
BENTEEUIIZEEFMERZS
BIENTHEZA

2018 2017
—E-NE —ZT—+F
Number of  Number of
Employees  Employees

ESEH ESEH

HK$nil to HK$1,000,000 T E 1,000,000 87T 2 —
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 #7T% 1,500,000

op — _
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7 7L E 2,000,000

BIT 1 2

13. FINANCE COSTS 13. RERAK
Continuing operations  Discontinued operations Total
FEGEER BAILER @t
2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017
ZE-N\f Rt ZB-\F ZT+E ZE-N\§ ZE-t%
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HKS
AT AT V-7 AT A7 AT
Interest on bank borrowings FfREHE 1873259 3,196,095 - — 1873259 3,196,095
Interest on bills payables ERNZEZHE 2,789,960 - - — 2,789,960 -
Interest on convertible bonds (note 29)  AAREH 2 FI2 (W 29) 1,993,781 - - — 1,003,781 -
6,657,000 3,196,095 - — 6,657,000  3,196,0%
CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED & &R AaR A 7



14. INCOME TAX CREDIT/(EXPENSE)

The amount of income tax credit/(expense) in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income

represents:

mAEMB®RME
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—2-N\F=A=t-H

31 March 2018

14. FisBiER (%)

=l
RE

e

PHBERAZHAERESR,
() &8s

Continuing operations  Discontinued operations Total
REREER BALER h
2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017
ZE-N\F Rt ZB-N\F ZTHE -\ ZE-t%
HK$ HK$ HKS HK$ HKS HK$
Ar AT b7 AT b-7A Ar
[re-presented) (re-presented)
(&31) (#531)
fnote 14 6) fnote 18 6)
(Wiz#1k6) (Wi#1%6)
Current tax — PRC Enterprise BIHE — RECEHREH
Income Tax
— tax for the year —FEEHA (131519) (128507 (24,264) (9218 (155,783) (137,725
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, US1519)  028507) (4264 6 (195788 (137729
Deferred tax (note 31) EREHEWit31) 1508825 (705,112) - — 1508825 (705,112
1,377,306 (833,619 (24,264) (9.218) 1,353,042 (842,837)

No Hong Kong profits tax has been provided within
the Group as there is no estimated assessable
profits for the year ended 31 March 2018 and 2017.

The PRC subsidiaries are subject to PRC Enterprise

Income Tax at 25% (2017: 25%).

Overseas tax is calculated at the rate applicable in

the respective jurisdictions.

HRBE-T-N\FR-_FT—tF=A
=t RLEFESEGERERTGEHN
WA E Y EHR BB NISH AR -

PR E AR AR 25% (ZT—tF

25% ) Z RGN BB EFH o

g
ATE -

BINHIBRRBEREEER ZEARE
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ARE B SR OR M RE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
R =

31 March 2018

14. INCOME TAX CREDIT/(EXPENSE)
(Continued)

The income tax credit/(expense) for the year can be
reconciled to the loss before income tax expense

STATEMENTS

14. FAEHER (BAX) @)

AEERGEHESL (X)) BE62ME
Yo 25 55 R B AT IS 35 B S AT S 18 2 1 R 0

per the consolidated statement of comprehensive ™
income as follows:
2018 2017
—E-NE —ZT—+F
HK$ HK$
B BT
(re-presented)
(mE5)
(note 1 & 6)
(Hiat1%6)
Loss before income tax expense BRETSHFZAIEE
Continuing operations BEICEEDG (4,776,294)  (85,293,419)
Discontinued operations BRIEER (9,927,541) (7,980,149)
Loss before income tax expense BRETERFAZ AIERE (14,703,835)  (93,273,568)
Tax calculated at Hong Kong profits tax rate of 1REENEHTHE16.5%
16.5% (2017: 16.5%) (Z2—tF :16.5%):H
A 2,426,133 15,390,139
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries REMRZEERLE KB
operating in other jurisdictions RERETRz FE 779,867 1,168,500
Tax effect of share of losses of associates DitEE ARBE BT E (166,916) (761,218)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses TAMBHAS 2 B2 (2,970,387) (5,003,390)
Tax effect of non-taxable revenue BERVINEG BT E 12,996,320 301,359
Tax effect of deductible temporary differences  ARHER AN & 0 Z 58 7 B 74
not recognised e (11,847) (91,678)
Utilisation of deductible temporary differences £ & B R B HEZ A HIR 2
previously not recognised TRt ER 56 72,832
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised AERTEBE BT E (11,700,184)  (11,919,381)
Income tax credit/(expense) FiisfiEe,/ (Fx) 1,353,042 (842,837)

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED #HEEBEZRABR A
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

15. DIVIDENDS

No dividend was paid or proposed in respect of the
year ended 31 March 2018, nor has any dividend
been proposed since the end of reporting period
(2017: nil).

16. LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per
share attributable to owners of the Company is
based on the following data:

—F-N\F=A=+—H
31 March 2018

15. RS
BE_Z—\F=A=+—HIFEY
BRNIEZZRMNRE  MEHRSH
AEMBEEZZRNEMRB(ZE—+
FE) e

16. BREE

ARREE A2 SRERREHE
AT R T BB E

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+tF
HK$ HK$
BT BT
(re-presented)
(mE5)
(note 1 & 6)
(Hix1Xk6)
Loss for the purpose of basic and REFESREARBEHEZER
diluted loss per share
Loss for the year attributable to owners FRBRHEBAREEFEE 2 BE
of the Company
— from continuing operations — REFELCEED (3,995,690)  (84,976,568)
— from discontinued operations — REBKIEEH (7,062,681) (4,878,782)
— from continuing and discontinued operations ~ — R EFEEL KD K IFEK (11,058,371)  (89,855,350)

BRHBE

Number of shares

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for et EGRERREEHE Y

the purpose of basic and diluted loss per share

Epaleili: Sk

1,077,778,570  1,006,724,266

The weighted average number of ordinary shares
adopted in calculation of the basic and diluted loss
per share for the year ended 31 March 2017 has
been adjusted to reflect the impact of the bonus
element in the open offer in September 2016.

For the year ended 31 March 2018 and 2017, basic
loss per share is the same as diluted loss per share.
There are no dilutive effects on the share options
granted and convertible bonds, as they are anti-
dilutive.

BE_T—+tF=A=1+—HILFER
MR EESREARBEIBERZER
BmEFOHEC AR UARBR_-F
—RNENARRABEZANRD ZF

2R

1

E-F-N\ER-F-LF=]
+—BLLFE  SREAHERER
SEREAR - N2 R
nRES AR REEEEY

B

o

#
)
gilg
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ARE B SR OR M RE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
=S =H="—H
31 March 2018

17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

17. ¥15% - BERRHE

Leasehold Furniture,
land and Leasehold  fixtures and Plant and Motor
buildings  improvements equipment machinery vehicles Yacht Total
RELH B
REF  EEMERE RERRE BER#EE RE i i k]
HK$ HKS$ HKS$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT B BT BT
Cost or valuation BASEE
At 1 April 2016 RZE-RENA—-A 8,900,000 121,197,662 7,442,114 17,401 11,546,502 6,800,000 155,903,679
Surplus on revaluation BhBH% 2,600,000 — — — — — 2,600,000
Additions 10 — 2,843,334 857,370 — 1,853,364 — 5,554,068
Disposal & — (18,028,651) (241,233) = (74,916) (6,800,000) (25,144,800
Reclassified as assets held ~ E#HBAREHESE

for sale (note 26) (Hit26) — (849,870) (161,858) — (942,370) = (1,954,098)
Exchange alignment EHAR — (7,961,686) (543,019) — (775,689) — (9,280,394)
At 31 March 2017 and RZZ—t%

1 April 2017 ZA=+-BR

“Z—+FNA-H 11,500,000 97,200,789 7,363,374 17,401 11,606,891 — 127,678,455
Surplus on revaluation EHAH (1,000,000 — — - — - (1,000,000
Additions B0 — 5,008,040 1,158,928 — 2,677,622 — 8,844,590
Disposal HE (10,500,000) (12,583,296) (179,247) — — — (23,262,543)
Disposal of subsidiaries HEWBAR(HZ35)

(note 35) — (18,101,466) (7,406,982) — (12,434,242) — (37,942,690)
Transfer between the Group 75 B U Eh#8 — — (83,875) — — — (83,875)
Exchange alignment ER AR — 11,855,812 943,294 — 838,288 — 13,637,394
At 31 March 2018 R-B-N\§

ZR=t+-H - 83,379,879 1,785,492 17,401 2,688,559 — 87,871,331
Accumulated depreciation EBFERFE

and impairment
At 1 April 2016 RZE-~EMA—-H — 38,941,551 5,388,682 17,401 6,501,667 4,533,333 55,382,634
Charge for the year AEEXH 379,933 9,815,834 885,361 - 2,552,410 170,000 13,803,538
Eliminated on revaluation ~ EfH 444 (379,933 — — — - - (379,933)
Eliminated on disposal HER — (5,199,710) — — (71,170) (4,703,333) (9,974,213)
Reclassified as assets held ~ EHHEAFELELE

for sale (note 26) (Hit26) — (849,870) (161,858) — (942,370) — (1,954,098)
Exchange alignment EHAE — (3,054,156) (440,892) . (635,320) — (4,130,368)
At 31 March 2017 and RZE—tF

1 April 2017 =A=t-Bk

“T—+ENA—H — 39,653,649 5,671,293 17,401 7,405,217 — 52,747,560
Charge for the year AEEZH 149,478 7,327,977 849,060 - 2,729,379 - 11,055,894
Eliminated on revaluation  EffE 34 (149,478) — — — — — (149,478)
Eliminated on disposal HEBLH — (5,616,655) (152,877) — - - (5,769,532)
Disposal of subsidiaries HERBARME35)

{note 35) — (16,040,201) (6,730,023) — (11,389,396) — (34,159,620)
Transger betwees the Group RNE B R EE R — — (83,875) — — — (83,875)
Exchange alignment EHAE — 5,658,028 831,037 - 1,254,800 - 7,743,865
At 31 March 2018 RZZ-N§

ZA=t+-H - 30,982,798 384,615 17,401 - - 31,384,814
Net book value EHEE
At 31 March 2018 RZZ-N&
ZR=t+-H - 52,397,081 1,400,877 - 2,688,559 - 56,486,517
At 31 March 2017 RZE—tF
=A=+-8 11,500,000 57,547,140 1,682,081 — 4,201,674 — 74,930,895
CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED BERAERAR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
- N\F=A=+—8H

31 March 2018

17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 17. ¥ - BERRE#)

(Continued)
The analysis of the net book value or valuation of NEEBER-_E—N\EFE=Z=A=+—HZ
the above assets at 31 March 2018 is as follows: REFEIHEITOT ¢
Furniture,
fixtures
Leasehold and Plant and Motor
improvements  equipment machinery vehicles Yacht Total
g E4R
NEEE  HERRE  HERES byt i fam
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
AT A7 A7 ¥-53 AT ¥-53
At cost G 52,397,081 1,400,877 - 2,688,559 - 56,486,517
The analysis of the net book value or valuation of NWEEER-_ZE—+F=A=+—H2
the above assets at 31 March 2017 is as follows: REFESEES TR
Furniture,
Leasehold fixtures
land and Leasehold and Plant and Motor
buildings  improvements equipment machinery vehicles Yacht Total
HELH g F&
RET WExlE  RERBE  BERER a2 i g
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
V-7 V-7 A1 V7 V-7 V7 V7
At cost A — 57,547,140 1,682,081 — 4,201,674 — 63,430,895
At 2017 professional - F—+%2
valuation L] 11,500,000 - - - - — 11,500,000
11,500,000 57,547,140 1,682,081 - 4,201,674 — 74,930,895
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ARE B SR OR M RE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E-\F=A=+-H
31 March 2018

17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(Continued)

The Group's leasehold land and building is located
in Hong Kong and the carrying value is as follows:

. ME - BERRKREE)

AEBHEL W REBTFTURELE MK
EEMAT :

2018 2017
—E-NFE —ZT—+F
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Properties located in Hong Kong NRBEEBZWE
Lease between 10 to 50 years AF 10 2= 50 FFHH — 11,500,000

Leasehold land and buildings were revalued at
31 March 2017 on the open market value basis
by APAC Asset Valuation and Consulting Limited
("APAC"), an independent professional valuer. The
valuation was mainly arrived at by reference to
comparable market transactions. A net revaluation
surplus of HK$2,488,243 was credited to other
properties revaluation reserve, after netting off
applicable deferred tax expense of HK$491,690.

The fair value of the leasehold land and buildings in
Hong Kong of HK$11,500,000 as at 31 March 2017
is a Level 2 recurring fair value measurement.

As at 31 March 2017, the carrying amount of
leasehold land and building of the Group would have
been HK$639,756 had they been stated at cost
less accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses.

At 31 March 2017, the Group did not pledge any
property, plant and equipment.

During the year, the Group entered into a sales
and purchase agreement with an independent
third party for disposal of the leasehold land and
building at a consideration of HK$10,500,000.
Therefore, a net valuation loss of HK$710,186 was
debited to other properties revaluation reserve
after netting off applicable deferred tax credit
of HK$140,336. The other properties revaluation
reserve of HK$9,151,507 and deferred tax liabilities
of HK$2,213,938 were released directly to
accumulated losses and profit or loss respectively
upon disposal.

I
eall]

HETHREFEHRBLEEGHEMDE
REEMERBERBRAR(TEA] K
AETEEEN -—ZT—+EFE=A=+—
HERH - FEEZELEAELELBRMER
Z15H - E{HABRIFE2,488,243 87T
Bt AEMYESEHFRE - WENkE
2 EERIER S 491,690 87T ©

RZZE—+E=A=+—H0 REHEZ
ME L+ MEF 2 AF(E(E 11,500,000
BLEER2EEEATEEE °

RZE—+tHF=ZA=+—H WHEAEHE
JHELHEEFEXNNRRENTE
LEEREEEYER AREEREAR
639,756 87T ©

RZTE—tF=A=+—RH rEEL
EEMEAYE - BE LRS-

RAFE  AEBEE-FBIFE=HE]
VEEWS AHEHELmRIEF
R {8/510,500,00038 7 » At - (HEE
BIFEET710,186 B NI B E A ELER
THI A 140,336 8 L8t AH MY EE
iR - At EEHE 151,507
B MR ERIE 852,213,938 8 TR
HEEHEES N EEEREZZ2BEEK
pieglllaals
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

- N\&=A=+—H
31 March 2018

18. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 18. REWE

2018 2017

—E-NFE —ZT—+F

HK$ HK$

BT BT

At 1 April WU A—H 6,538,977 6,246,653
Change in fair value NEEEE - 292,324
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 35) LEMB AR (A#35) (6,538,977) —

At 31 March R=RA=+—H - 6,638,977

(a) Investment properties were revalued at 31 (a) BEWER-Z—NFERZZT—L

March 2018 and 2017 on the open market
value basis by an independent valuer, Daeil
Appraisal Board. The valuation was mainly
arrived at by reference to comparable market
data. There were no changes to the valuation
technique during the year.

FZA=-+t—HHBILGEAM
Daeil Appraisal Board 2 AT %5
BEELER HEFZELEAE
BT EIEER o NAFE -
BRI BT o

At 31 March 2017, the Group did not pledge b) M-ZE—+HF=A=+—H8 K&
any investment property. B I AR IR E W % -
At 31 March 2018 and 2017, the fair value (c) RZE—N\FEZZE—+LF=HA
of the investment properties in Korea of =+—H8 REBEZEEWMEIA
HK$6,538,977 is level 2 recurring fair value F{81E6,538,977 B L BE MR 2K
measurement. The fair value measurement is BHEATEBEASEZ - A FEETE
based on the above properties’ highest and DEREAME s HES EEER
best use, which does not differ from their w BYmEEERAREER -
actual use.
At 31 March 2018, the investment properties RZE—N\F=A=+—H  #%&&
was disposed at its fair value to an independent MEBBLDENBRR(ENGFEE
third party through the disposal of subsidiaries B sR R s 35) IR E QA FEBER
as described in note 35 to the consolidated EF—RBUE=T
financial statements.
The Group’s investment properties are (d) REBEZIEEMELZEETDEIN
analysed at their carrying values as follows: AR
2018 2017
=E-NF —=—+F
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Investment properties located NRBEEZIREWE
in Korea
Freehold X - 6,538,977
ANNUAL REPORT 2018 = & — /\ £ £ 1§
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ARE B SR OR M RE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
=S =H="—H
31 March 2018

19. GOODWILL AND IMPAIRMENT

19. BERRE

Provision of
intellectual Sludge
property Property and sewage
enforcement sub-leasing treatment
services business business Total
Rt
AHRERE WESHE FREREK
HRERK %% REER By
(note (a)) (note (b)) {note (c))
(fiit(a) (Hiz b)) (Het(c)
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT
Cost A&
At 1 April 2016 RZZE—"EMA—A 79,427,363 16,591,728 20,023,466 116,042,557
Reclassified as held for ~ EFNEAREHE

sale (note 26) (Hiit26) — — (20,023,466) (20,023,466)
At 31 March 2017 and ~ RZE—+tF=A=+—H

1 April 2017 k=ZE—+5$MA—H 79,427,363 16,591,728 — 96,019,091
Disposal of subsidiaries &K B (A7 35)

(note 35) (79,427,363) — — (79,427,363)
At 31 March 2018 R=Z-N§=ZA=+-H - 16,591,728 - 16,591,728
Impairment RE
At 1 April 2016 RZZE—"¥MA—A 79,427,363 16,591,728 20,023,466 116,042,557
Reclassified as held for ~ EFHEAFELE

sale (note 26) (Hiit26) — — (20,023,466) (20,023,466)
At 31 March 2017 and ~ RZE—+F=A=+—H

1 April 2017 k=ZE—+FMA—A 79,427,363 16,591,728 — 96,019,091
Disposal of subsidiaries ~ H &K B (AaF35)

(note 35) (79,427,363) — — (79,427,363
At 31 March 2018 R-E-NE=A=1+-H - 16,591,728 - 16,591,728

Carrying value
At 31 March 2018

fREME

RZB-NFZA=t-H

At 31 March 2017

R-Z—+F=f=+—H

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED #HEEBEZRABR A
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

19. GOODWILL AND IMPAIRMENT
(Continued)

In accordance with HKAS 36 “Impairment of

assets”, management of the Group performed

impairment test for goodwill allocated to the

Group’'s various cash-generating units (“CGUs")

by comparing their recoverable amounts to their

carrying amounts at the end of the reporting period.

The recoverable amount of a CGU is determined

based on value-in-use calculation.

(a)

During the year ended 31 March 2015, the
goodwill of HK$79,427,363 was fully impaired
and impairment loss on intangible assets of
HK$68,494,242 were provided (see note 20(a)
to the consolidated financial statements). It
was because the revenue generated from the
CGU has dropped. The Directors considered
that the customer, the karaoke venue
operators, were affected by the reduction in
expenditures in entertainment and recreation
activities in the PRC and the industry would
experience no growth in future.

During the year, the provision of intellectual
property enforcement services CGU has
been disposed as described in note 35 to the
consolidated financial statements.

During the year ended 31 March 2015, the
goodwill of HK$16,591,728 was fully impaired,
it was mainly due to keen competition in
property market and adverse economic
environment in the PRC, and significant
investments in renovation of leasehold
improvements for sustaining the growth in
future.

—F-N\F=A=+—H
31 March 2018

19. BERBE®E)

HERBE S ERAFEICHEE 2R
Bl ~"EEEREBASESRECE
EE&UNND%&¢WXZT%@i
FEHREELER  ROEERCCGUZ
PEEETREAE - CGU Zﬁ”&@@gﬁ
TREREBEEAEEETE -

a) REBE-_T—AF=-A=+—H1t
FEA- %%79,427,363/%755
PHYREREREEZRERIE
68,494,242 B T E FHE B HE (R4
BEEREMNE20(a) L TIER
CGUEEZWATEKIE - &5
REBEP RNOKSHELH
SR R K R BB SR A
FE - BITERRBELR -

RAEE -« SR MBEEGERS
CGUE & (BN AT BTk
Bi5E35) °

b) REBE-_Z-—HF=A=1+—81F
FE o mE16,591,728BLE &
EORE - W HEEHRTPBEYET
SBHF B R TFIEOEIRE - UKk
REEYEREEHERIRENLE
BRRIGRATE ©

H
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ARE B SR OR M RE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—ZT-NF=ZRA=+—H
31 March 2018

19. GOODWILL AND IMPAIRMENT
(Continued)

(c)

During the year ended 31 March 2016, the
goodwill of HK$20,023,466 was fully impaired
as certain potential projects were suspended
due to expiration and are pending for re-
negotiation and financing. As a result, as at 31
March 2016, the Directors expect the future
profit generated by the Suzhou Great Research
& Industrialization Co., Ltd.* (BRM & FFERIR R
REZZEABMRAF)("Great Research”) and
its subsidiaries (the "Great Group”) will be
minimal.

The sludge and sewage treatment CGU has
been disposed during the year as described
in note 35 to the consolidated financial
statements.

All the discount rates used above are pre-tax

and reflect specific risks relating to the relevant

segments.

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED | & 2R B
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19. BERBE®E)

(c)

REBEE_Z—R"F=ZA=+—8H1
FE - 220,023,466 LB B
HRE - WIHBERETETEEER
ABRBRGFEAEBERRERE
meEE-- Al RZF—X~F=A
=+ —HB - EFTHEHHEMNEIRE
REREEEZEFZEERARAAH
BEEDLKENBRAR(EREE
B )RR EE ST SRR o

SEREITKEIBCGUE RAFE
WHEHRGEAUBREWE
35) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

20. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

— - \F=ZA=+—8
31 March 2018

20. B EE

Provision of
intellectual Customer
property relationship
enforcement Golf club and customer
services memberships contracts Patent Total
Rt BREAR
ARER B&E  EFBER
ERMRE gE EEEH 57 ag
(note (a)) (note (b)) (note (c) (note (d))
(Wi E) (Wi b)) (M) (Wi ()
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT AT BT BT
Cost KA
At 1 April 2016 RZZ-ENA—H 119,132,109 1,500,000 38,410,000 600,060 159,642,169
Reclassified as assets BN BARBENEEE
held for sale (note 26) (H1i£26) — - - (581,050) (581,050)
Exchange differences ERES — — — (19,010) (19,010
At 31 March 2017 and RZZ—+t%=A=1—H
1 April 2017 RZZ—tEMA-H 119,132,109 1,500,000 38,410,000 — 159,042,109
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 35) WEMBAR(MZ35)  (119,132,109) - — — (119,132,109)
At 31 March 2018 RZZ-\E=R=1—H — 1,500,000 38,410,000 — 39,910,000
Accumulated amortisation ZRBHENAE
and impairment
At 1 April 2016 RZZ-~ENA—H 119,132,109 594,155 38,410,000 600,060 158,736,324
Amortisation for the year TEE#H - 116,883 - - 116,883
Reclassified as assets BN BARBENEEE
held for sale (note 26) (H1i£26) — - - (581,050) (581,050)
Exchange differences ERES - — — (19,010) (19,010)
At 31 March 2017 and RZE—tE=A=1+-H
1 April 2017 kZZ—+FMA—-H 119,132,109 711,038 38,410,000 — 158,253,147
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 35) HEMBARMHF35)  (119,132,109) — — — (119,132,109
Amortisation for the year TEEHH — 116,884 — — 116,884
At 31 March 2018 RZE-NE=F=1+-H - 827,922 38,410,000 - 39,237,922
Net book value REFE
At 31 March 2018 R-2-N\¥=h=1-H - 672,078 - - 672,078
At 31 March 2017 RZE—tF=R=1-A — 788,962 — — 788,962
ANNUAL REPORT 2018 T \FEF3
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ARE B SR OR M RE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—ZT-NF=ZRA=+—H
31 March 2018

20. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

(a)

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED I EmERERARD

The recoverable amount of the CGU of
provision of intellectual property enforcement
services to which the intellectual property
enforcement services right is allocated
has been determined by the value-in-use
calculation, the details of which are disclosed
in note 19(a) to the consolidated financial
statements. As at 31 March 2015, impairment
loss of HK$68,494,242 was recognised due to
the reason as described in note 19(a) to the
consolidated financial statements.

During the year, the provision of intellectual
property enforcement services CGU has
been disposed as described in note 35 to the
consolidated functional statements.

For the purpose of impairment testing on
the golf club memberships, the recoverable
amount has been determined based on fair
value less costs to sell. The fair value less
costs to sell is referenced to the second-hand
market price of the golf club memberships
less estimated costs of disposal. During
the years ended 31 March 2018 and 2017,
no impairment loss was recognised since
the recoverable amount of the golf club
memberships exceeded its carrying amount.

The carrying amount of customer relationship
and customer contracts are fully impaired
in prior year as the Directors consider the
clients of China Resources Advertising &
Exhibition Company Limited (together with its
subsidiaries, the “CRA Group”) are primarily
the PRC based textile manufacturers which
are recently facing the industry downturn,
and in addition, the drop in the client base of
the CRA Group due to the exhibitions held in
the PRC attract a significant number of the
existing clients of the CRA Group.

Patent represents the technologies for sludge
and sewage treatment. Patent is attributable
to the same CGU with which the goodwill
amount is recognised for the sludge and
sewage treatment business. It has fully
impaired in prior year due to the reason as
described in note 19(c) to the consolidated
financial statements.

During the year, the sludge and sewage
treatment CGU has been disposed as
described in note 35 to the consolidated
financial statements.

eall]

20. B EE %)

(a)

(c)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

21. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS

—F-N\F=A=+—H
31 March 2018

21. AIMHHERE

2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—+tF
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Listed securities in Hong Kong, at fair BFEZLMES

value (note (a)) BRAFEENFE () — 24198728312

Unlisted equity securities in the PRC, at ~ R EIJF ETRAES -
cost (note (b)) WA ([15E (b)) — 28,435,022
— 50,367,334

Notes: Bist -

(a)  As at 31 March 2017, the listed securities in Hong (a MZZE—+tF=ZA=+—H8 82
Kong represented mainly the equity interests in TR EFEETEARBRAERLETZ
Brockman Mining Limited and Leyou Technologies MHERTEREEBR AR RE&ER T
Holdings Limited (“Leyou”) which are listed on the BRERAEN([ 45 2 RARERE - FT
Main Board of the Stock Exchange. All of the listed BEBZ L TEFEORAFEERLEE -
securities in Hong Kong has been disposed during
the year.
During the year ended 31 March 2018, net fair REBEZ-_Z-NF=A=+—HIL*F
value gain on the available-for-sale investments of EARN AEBZAHEEREZAF
the Group amounted to HK$312,998 (2017: net fair BEEWZE F5EE312,98B (= F
value gain of HK$9,140,976) was recognised in other —tF R FEENEFE, 140,976
comprehensive income. BIT) B R E M 2 E SRR o
The fair values of listed securities are based on THEEZAFEBEADBREMSRE
quoted market prices. JH e
The listed securities has been disposed during the ITHELFERAFERRE  REE
year, investment revaluations reserve amounted to 4 #156,276,790 B (=T — L5 :
HK$6,276,790 (2017 HK$nil) has been reclassified TELTEEHEFHRERENOAE
to profit or loss upon the disposal. Bz o

(b) On 8 June 2015, Shenzhen Wendi Multimedia (b) RZZT—RFNANB  FIIT

Technology Company Limited* (& Il T X # %
2B Kl & BR 2 7 )(“Shenzhen Wendi”), an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
entered into a sale and purchase agreement with
Guangwei Technology Group Limited* (& % &} &
£ B AR A7 )("Guangwei”), pursuant to which
Shenzhen Wendi conditionally agreed to purchase
and Guangwei conditionally agreed to sell the
9.5% of the subscribed capital contribution of
Chongging Lianshun Heqgi Venture Investment
Fund Partnership* (EEBIES RAEIEREEEAIK
%) (“Lianshun”) at a consideration equivalent to
HK$32,000,000 in RMB.

Lianshun is an investment fund principally engaged
in unconventional oil/gas industry in the PRC.

As at 31 March 2017, the unlisted equity securities
with a carrying amount of HK$28,435,022 were
stated at cost less impairment.

The unlisted equity securities has been disposed
through disposal of subsidiaries as described in note
35 to the consolidated financial statements during
the year.

Z B A R A A (RYIH 3 )
(FARBzREZEMBRR)EEM
MErEEERAR(EMDIIZES
sk - UL - RIS RIFIL A
EEEREMAKRMTMRAZLEERE
SIES RAIEREL S SN E(TH
g )R EHERE295% RER
32,000,000z ARBESE

GIER—EREES  TERPEL
SREHBRITE

R-ZE—+F=ZA=+—H ' REE
28,435,022 L2 FE LR ARFEFHTY
B AR ERENIER -

REAFE  ELTRABLRBRBLEE

B AR Mg s (R RS B RE
Bi3E35) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MaEEs B Sops]
31 March 2018

22. INVENTORIES 22. #8&

2018 2017
—E-N\FE —ZT—+F
HK$ HK$
BT BT

Food and beverages B
Artwork i

17,451,137 20,999,651
4,636,675 8,735,369

22,087,812 29,735,020

For the year ended 31 March 2018 and 2017, no
write-down of inventories to net realisable value

HE-F—\FR-F—+F=A
St-RLSE  BEFERAZETE

was made. IRH(E -
23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 23. EWWER K EMRRIE
2018 2017
—EBE-NE _—T—+HF
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Trade receivables (note (a)) R E (B (a) 3,468,540 11,311,280
Deposits, prepayments and other Z& - BRRER
receivables (note (b)) Hofh EWGRIE (M52 (b)) 61,203,019 33,891,383
Loan receivables (note (c)) FEWE K (M7 () 49,020,037 94,743,224
113,691,596 139,945,887
CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED * EEEER A1 A 7
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—\&=HA=+—H
31 March 2018

assessment based on the Group's accounting policy.

The Group generally grants no credit period to its

customers, except for transactions with customers

in exhibition-related services, in which credit period

ranging from 30 to 60 days is granted.

HH IR E RS o

23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 23. EWER KR HMFIE#)
(Continued)
Notes: Htat
(a)  The ageing analysis of trade receivables based on (a) MRMEHR - EREFRINBRBEES
invoice date after impairment loss at the end of the BREEZEAHESE2ERSTHOT ¢
reporting period is as follows:
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+tfF
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Within 90 days 90 HA 3,468,540 11,238,280
91 days to 365 days 91 H&E 365 H - 26,000
More than 365 days B8 365 H — 47,000
3,468,540 11,311,280
The below table reconciles the impairment loss of ERERNAFE 2 REEES R
trade receivables for the year: PR T
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+tF
HK$ HK$
BT BT
At 1 April RIMA—H 44,453,123 40,409,960
Impairment loss recognised B ERBEEE 322,545 4,043,163
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 35) HENB B (A£35) (37,739,941) —
At 31 March W=A=+—H 7,035,727 44,453,123
The Group recognised impairment loss on individual AEBBREAERZ 25 BKE M ER

AEEB-—RIEMNETZFRHEE
B BKREREREREZEFETZ
R AEETFEBANTI0EZE60H

e
E¥;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MaEEs B Sops]
31 March 2018

23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 23. EWERKRHEMARIEZ)

(Continued)

Notes: (Continued) et - (&

(b)  The below table reconciles the impairment loss of (b) e ENREREAMERZKEBEBRA
deposits, prepayments and other receivables for the FEZREBBEERHAIINTE
year:

2018 2017

—E-N\F —E—F

HK$ HK$

BT BT

At 1 April KIMA—A 882,971 864,347
Impairment loss recognised BRI EEE - 527,625
Reclassified as held for sale B BEAIFELE - (509,001)
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 35) LEWB AT (AE35) (882,971) —
At 31 March R=A=+—H - 882,971

The Group recognised impairment loss based on the
Group’s accounting policy.

(c) Loan receivables presented:

REBEREAEEZ S5 BERBERH
BEEE -

(o) MEUWEFIE

2018 2017

—2-NE -—T—+%

HK$ HK$

BT BT

— Loans to independent third parties — ABMNE=FER 49,020,037 94,743,224

It represented advances to ten (2017: fourteen)
independent third parties. The Group and the
independent third parties entered into the loan
agreements in which the Group agreed to advance
loans to the independent third parties in the
aggregate principal amount of HK$45,083,424 (2017:
HK$91,782,094) and related interest receivables of
HK$3,936,613 (2017: HK$2,961,130). The loans are
unsecured and bear an effective interest rate ranging
from 4% to 8% (2017: 3% to 10%) per annum and
shall be repayable in 3 month to 12 months (2017: 1
to 15 months) from the date of advance.

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED #FEE

HEATH(ZZE—tF: +HER)H
NEZHER - AEBRBILE=H
FNERBGE Bt AEEREM
B E = B A 545,083,424
BIL(ZE—+F 191,782,094 % 70)
2 ER K EWEEEF) S 43,936,613 7
T(ZZT—+4% :2961,130/87T) ° %
EERAEEBRZERFFNENRN
4% E8% (ZT— Lt F 3% E10%)
PE WEARABBRFBHRAIEAR
NREAZZE—+F 188 =151
A)REE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

24. AMOUNTS DUE FROM/TO NON- 24.

25.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS OF
SUBSIDIARIES, RELATED PARTIES AND
ULTIMATE HOLDING COMPANY

At 31 March 2018 and 2017, all of the amounts due
from/to non-controlling shareholders of subsidiaries,
related parties and ultimate holding company were
unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

—F-N\F=A=+—H
31 March 2018

FEUR,FEAS I D B2 FEEER
BE - BEALTRELEZERA
CIEe:

R-B-—N\FR-ZB—tF=A= Jr*
By Fﬁ*ﬁ‘ﬁﬂﬁl/fﬁ%% Al FF1E A
BR - BEALREEERAF mlﬁiﬁ
REER  RENRAREREE -

CASH AND BANK BALANCES . REeERBITHER
2018 2017
—EBE-NE _—T—+F
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Cash and cash equivalents ReERREFBEIEAE 111,865,492 28,553,665

Pledged bank deposits (note (a)) EERRITIER(H 5 (a) 2,300,000 36,091,775

114,165,492 64,645,440

Notes:

(@ At 31 March 2018, HK$2,300,000 (2017:
HK$36,091,775) represented securities for the
Group's credit and banking facilities. The pledged
bank deposits carried interests at 0.01% (2017: from
0.01% to 3.12%) per annum. As at 31 March 2018,
the subsidiary which held the credit facility has been
disposed as described in note 35 to the consolidated
financial statements. Subsequent to the end of the
reporting period, the pledged bank deposits has
been released.

(b) At 31 March 2018, cash and bank balances of
the Group denominated in RMB is amounted to
HK$40,275,206 (2017: HK$42,051,763). RMB is not
freely convertible into other currencies. However,
under the PRC's Foreign Exchange Control
Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale
and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations,
the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for other
currencies through banks authorised to conduct
foreign exchange business.

Hat

@ MRZZE—-—NF=RA=+—H"
2,300,000 T(= T — + F:
36,091,775 0 ) e A EEE & KR
TRVE 2 - B BRITFRIE
FRMEOO%B(ZZE—+EF:0.01%
E312%)itE - RZT—NF=A
=t+—H HAEZEEREZHEBA
AIEWHEEFHREATERENF
35) - RIEHIRE - ZEEFRITF
O IERRRR -

b) RZZE—NF=ZA=Z+—H &%
EUARBFEZRS RRITES
#40,275,2068 ;L(= T — £ F:
42,051,763 7L) - ARETAIEH A
BRBHAMEE « A - BEFRE 2N
EEEGHIMEE  EERMNEE
BT AREREBRBERELETT
INEEBZRITIBARBHLIBAEM
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CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED I EmERERARD

ARE B SR OR M RE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—ZT-NF=ZRA=+—H
31 March 2018

26. ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

ASSOCIATED WITH ASSETS
CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE

On 30 September 2016, the Group announced
that Shenzhen Wendi, the Company's indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary, entered into an equity
transfer agreement with an independent third
party (the "Purchaser”) to dispose (the “Suzhou
Disposal”) 51% equity interests in Great Research
at a consideration of RMB13,800,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$16,000,000). On 23 January
2017, the parties entered into a supplemental
agreement (the “Supplemental Agreement”) to
the equity transfer agreement pursuant to which
the parties agreed to (i) amend the completion date
of the registration of the equity transfer to within 9
months after the full payment of the consideration
by the Purchaser, instead of the original time frame
of within 3 months; and (ii) negotiate into entering
further supplemental agreement if the registration
of the equity transfer cannot be completed within
the newly agreed time frame as stipulated in (i)
above. The Board announced that all the conditions
precedent of the Suzhou Disposal were fulfilled
and the terms of the Supplemental Agreement
were arrived at between the parties after arm’s
length negotiation to govern other obligations under
the equity transfer agreement. The consideration
was paid by the Purchaser on 27 October 2016.
Details of the Suzhou Disposal is set out in
the announcements of the Company dated 30
September 2016 and 23 January 2017. As at 31
March 2017, the following major classes of assets
and liabilities relating to the Great Group have
been classified as held for sale in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

During the year, the assets and liabilities associated
with assets classified as held for sales has been
derecognised after disposal as described in note 35
to the consolidated financial statements.

eall]

26. Eo BRI FHECEENEER

ZEERAE

RZZE—RNFENA=+tH A£EET
- AREIEEEEEREE 2B AR
JImE—ZB I E=H(ERF])
FIURESERGZE NEBENUAR
# 13,800,000 7T (8 % 7 49 16,000,000
BT ZRELERNBHFRARBE
51% RiE((HMBEESE]) - 2T
—+FE—AZ+=0 " OB IR
EEwE AT E(BREHR])
Bt sTOFRE (VBT Bk
2B EE A BRY I MRERNE
AR MIERTEB=ZM@A A &)
i Z e AR S B R R EALIE B (1) FTiE
ZHBEREANTER - RIFEBRILE—
THxE ESLEM BHINHES
BB CREHEEER - METLH
EAVFEEECEBH TS 2 BT
EEREEERABE T EMEE - B
FERZE—ARF+AZ+EAEZHR
B BINHEFBEFBHINALQA R
HAE—E—R"FNLA=ZtHERZ=ZE—+
F—AZF+=ZAzZ2&%ERAH - R_F
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SECIZEERBEBEEIERESH
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26. ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

ASSOCIATED WITH ASSETS
CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE
(Continued)

e BHRRMEE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E-NF=ZA=+—H

31 March 2018

26. EoERFFHEZEENEER

ZEEREE#®E)

2017
—E—+F
HK$
BT
Interest in an associate R—EBE AR 2 s 32,113,485
Other receivables o qth e Y 5RIE 845,621
Amount due from an associate FEY — & R FIFRIE 4,993,458
Amounts due from related parties FEUL BB A T FIE 225,279
Cash and cash equivalents RENBEEFMBEIAE 2,677,580
Assets classified as held for sale DERBFERECEE 40,855,423
Trade and other payables N ER R EMTIE 832,237
Amount due to non-controlling shareholder FEATIESE IR AR B FUIR 3,491,100
Amounts due to related parties FETRE:E A LFIE 4,204,485
Deferred tax liabilities RIERIARE 7,485,625
Liabilities associated with assets classified as HAOBARBIELE 2 EEMRB A&
held for sale 16,013,447
Foreign exchange reserve SN 1 (386,926)
Cumulative income or expense recognised in REMEEWNEFERE B EAFE
other comprehensive income relating to HEZHEMRR Z 25t WA KFEX
disposal group classified as held for sale (386,926)
ANNUAL REPORT 2018 =& — /\fF 4
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MaEEs B Sops]
31 March 2018

27. TRADE, BILLS AND OTHER PAYABLES

27. BRER - RERHEMKIE

2018 2017

—E-NE —ZT—+F

HK$ HK$

BT BT

Trade payables FERTER 5,296,071 18,236,191

Bills payables EREE 25,915,008 —
Deposits received from disposal of LERBAREWIEZS

subsidiaries — 16,000,000

Other payables and accruals HmEMSRIERERTEA 71,206,868 73,702,969

Other deposits received Emplizse 10,683,569 14,583,786

113,101,516 122,522,946

Included in trade, bills and other payables are trade

and bills payables with the following ageing analysis

RN ER
eSS

SEFEMFARERNE
HRREHRZ RO

at the end of the reporting period: o
2018 2017
—B-N\F —TtF
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Current or within 30 days BPEF A 30 H A - 1,025,849
31 to 60 days 31260H 876,792 15,688
61 to 90 days 61290H 57,964 92,827
Over 90 days 90 HIA 30,276,323 17,101,827
31,211,079 18,236,191
Trade and bills payables are expected to be settled ENERNEETERR—FRNEE -

within one year.

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED # EIE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
- N\F=A=+—8H

31 March 2018

28. BANK BORROWINGS 28. RITEE
2018 2017
—E-NFE —ZT—+F
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Secured: BEMR
Bank borrowings (note) RITEE (M) 29,953,198 51,401,458
Note: Biat -
At the end of the reporting period, the bank borrowings RMEER  AEEZRITEELOT :
were repayable as follows:
2018 2017
—E-N\FE —ZT—+F
HKS$ HK$
BT BT
Borrowings repayable: AR T BHERE ¢
Within one year —FR 29,953,198 51,401,458
Personal and corporate guarantees were given to banks GELEE(RRARETHEBRRGZES) -
for certain bank borrowings by Mr. Yang Lei, a director EREBLE—FXEAGEEENHEREBESE
of certain subsidiaries of the Company, his spouse, and a BZBAEQRERE THRITEERRITIE
related company, which is beneficially owned by Mr. Yang HEARABER LI HELEEH
Lei and his spouse. Further, certain assets of Mr. Yang EErEEFBEAETEEZDH  RIRTT
Lei, his spouse and a related party have been pledged to BEERHEER - REAFE  FMNEANT
secure the bank borrowings. The interest rates charged 5.66% £6.50% (ZZE—+tF : N F2.76%
during the year were ranged from 5.66% to 6.50% (2017: £26.50%)  RZZE—NF=ZA=+—H"
from 2.76% to 6.50%) per annum. As at 31 March 2018, BEFGADARITEERE(ZE—CF:
no unutilised bank borrowing facility was remained (2017: 30,000,000/87C) ©

HK$30,000,000).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R =

31 March 2018

29. CONVERTIBLE BONDS 29. Eﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁ%

On 3 July 2017, the Company entered into
Subscription Agreements with certain independent
third parties in relation to the issue of convertible
bonds in an aggregate principal amount of
HK$46,341,960. The convertible bonds bear zero
interest and carry a right to convert the principal
amount into share of HK$0.215 (subject to
adjustment) per share during the period from six
months after 25 July 2017 (the “Bond Issue Date")
and 24 July 2019 (the “Bond Maturity Date”). The
conversion price was subject to adjustment on the

RZE—+F+-A=H " AQFIHME

ZIK\%,%E%,E;%% 341 960,%7127%@Hx
BFEETBYE =T RE RS -
ZEABBESARE - WA
- tF+tA-tRB(EH%T
B DEANEREE-_ZT—NF+A
—+HA(MEHEHA ) AR
LEHEERAER0.215ET(A] FHEK)
D o EBHAERBEEERERBRAT
BIREN TAE - XAG I RESHFET
HHEIRE /N ME A & M & 5D B B A BE IR

occurrence of dilutive or concentration event. The
Company may at anytime after six months from the
Bond Issue Date and before Bond Maturity Date
redeem the convertible bonds at par.

HEBR T BREES -

The convertible bonds contain two components: A] 2 IS (E 25 B0 35 W A 50 7}' BENMER
liability and equity components. The equity oy o ERBIoRNEEEREHEL

Fﬂ?ﬁﬂ%ﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁjTZﬁ Imiﬁll &%
BB NP R 2 BERF R SEN K

7.25% °

component is presented in the equity heading
“convertible bonds reserve” in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity. The effective
interest rate of the debt component on initial
recognition is 7.25% per annum.

The valuation of the convertible bonds was AMRESF 2 EETBRERED
performed by APAC.

MR —FT-N\F=ZA=+—BZ&HA&
Eﬁkﬂkﬂﬁqﬂﬁﬁﬂz—ﬁﬁﬂﬂf% :

The convertible bonds recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
March 2018 are as follow:

HK$
o
Fair value of the convertible bonds AZE—tFtAZ+HH
at 25 July 2017 AR E T 2 A EE 46,341,960
Issuance expenses BITHX (192,157)
Equity component WD (5,865,097)
Liability component on initial recognition at RZE—tFEAZTHRAVSHERR
25 July 2017 Ziéﬁ-aﬁ 40,284,706
Effective interest expenses (note 13) BERFER(MiE13) 1,993,781
Liability component at 31 March 2018 RZE-N\F=ZA=+—A2EBEEH 42,278,487

REA - FHHEABESRARRIES

During the year, there is no conversion of the
convertible bonds by the holders.

ol
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

30. PROVISION FOR LONG SERVICE

PAYMENTS

The Group has recorded provision for long service
payment obligations for employees. Under the
Hong Kong Employment Ordinance, the Group is
obliged to make lump sum payments on cessation
of employment in certain circumstances to certain
employees who have completed at least five years
of service with the Group. The amount payable
is dependent on the employees’ final salary and
year of service, and is reduced by entitlements
accrued under the Group's retirement plans that
are attributable to contributions made by the Group.
The Group does not set aside any assets to fund
any remaining obligations.

Movement in provision for long service payments is
as follows:

—F-N\F=A=+—H
31 March 2018

30. REARBERE

AEERREERERARBE 2B E
REE - REEBERKEL) MR
AEEEETHERATELEERENSE
RBEELAEZETREE  BIANERE
REZEAREZNRES - BNEER
HRERE BRRFeMRGEHAE - I
B REEANE BRI S REE S
RHAREEHRKEE 2B o NREBEA
BERBEEMNEEAXNENESREES
R

RRRGeBE 2 ESNT

2018 2017

—E-NF ZT—+F

HK$ HK$

BT BT

At 1 April and 31 March RIMA—BEk=A=1+—H — 42,373
ANNUAL REPORT 2018 E-NEER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—E-\F=A=+-H
31 March 2018

31. DEFERRED TAXATION

The movements on the net deferred tax (liabilities)/

31. B IE

BRERBE(RE) BEFENFAZE

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED HEEZER AR A

assets during the year are as follows: BT
2018 2017
—E-NF —F—iF
HK$ HK$
BT BT
At 1 April A —A (356,455)  (6,645,278)
Charged/(credited) to profit or loss A (Gt A) Bz
(note 14) (Kiat14) 1,508,825 (705,112)
Charged/(credited) to other ma,/ Gt Em2mEREs
comprehensive income (note 17) (Hte17) 140,336 (491,690)
Reclassified as held for sale (note 26) ENMOBEARBIERE (HiL26) — 7,485,625
At 31 March W=A=+—H 1,292,706 (356,455)

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax
losses carried forward to the extent that realisation
of the related tax benefit through future taxable
profits is probable. As at 31 March 2018, no
deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect
of the unused tax losses (2017: HK$nil) due to
unpredictability of future profit streams. Tax losses
of HK$142,089,541 (2017: HK$121,676,320) can
be carried forward indefinitely and the tax losses
of HK$12,439,581 (2017: HK$53,271,316) will be
expired in five years.

eall]

BB HEE M EE 2 HIBEIERE
R MELAB I REE R AR 2 RS
SEEMBENZAR RZT—N\F
ZA=+—H8 ' AR UATER KK & F)
MR BUS AR ARE AR IEEEER
BEMRBEEE(ZT—+HF: T8L) -
i TE B5 18 142,089,641 T (— T — +
£ : 121,676,320 %70 ) Al SR AR 45 48 -
mAEE 812,439,681 B t(ZE—+t
F 153,271,316 BL) R AFAER °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31. DEFERRED TAXATION (Continued)

In addition to the amount charged to profit or

loss, deferred tax relating to the revaluation of

the Group’s certain leasehold land and buildings

during the year has been recognised in other

comprehensive income.

The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities

(prior to offsetting of balances within the same

taxable entity) during the year are as follows:

—F-N\F=A=+—H
31 March 2018

31. EEMIE (%)

BRRBEENR 2RI BFEFRER/BAN
SEETHELHMEBTERIELER
BEREMEEREAER -

BEEMAEERBEER-ERRE
BB ERRIEIHR ) NEFEARZZBIIT ¢

Fair value adjustment
Decelerated arising from acquisition
Deferred tax (liabilities)/assets BLHE(8E)/BE Property revaluation  accounting depreciation of subsidiaries Total
WENEAE
VEEL HREHE ZAVEERR b
2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017
ZE-NE ZB-HE ZB-N\F ZEtF ZE-N\E Bt ZB-\F EHE
HK$ HKS HKS HK$ HK$ HKS HKS HK$
Br BT 74 AT -7 BT V-3 AT
At 1 April REE-R (2,354,274)  (1,862,584) 1,997,819 2,702,931 - (7485,625) (356,455 (6,645,278)
Chargedflcredited) to profit or loss 318,/ (;f \) 8% 2,213,938 —  (705,113)  (705,112) - — 1508825  (705,112)
Charged/[credited) to other na/GHA R 2ERE
comprehensive income 140,336 (491,690) - — - — 140,336 (491,690)
Reclessified as held for sale (note 26)  EXFHBAHIEL (M3 26) - - - - - 7485625 - 7485625
- (2354274 1,292,706 1,997,819 - — 1292706  (356,455)
ANNUAL REPORT 2018 T-N\FF3
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ARE B SR OR M RE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R =
31 March 2018

31. DEFERRED TAXATION (Continued) 31. EERBIE®)
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when BEERBEERABRERTHEBEREER
there is a legally enforceable right to set off ROBMBEAEERAEZNREHNITENE
current tax assets against current tax liabilities RIS BRI AT S 7 £ [R) — B A #E B 1)
and when the deferred income taxes relate to Bl —EREERHK ZTERAME
income tax levied by same taxation authority on FA BRI - U TNARER Z44£RE68
the same taxable entity. The following amounts, BARRFAREEE EREEEEEC
determined after appropriate offsetting, are shown SR
in the Group's consolidated statement of financial
position:
2018 2017
—E-NE —ZT—+F
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Deferred tax assets ELETIREE 1,292,706 —
Deferred tax liabilities BELERIBEE — (356,455)
At the end of the reporting period, the aggregate REEHR ARBAR RS ERF
amount of temporary differences associated with EHBAERECHEEG L RTR
undistributed earnings of subsidiaries for which = E27106618T(ZE —F:
deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised is 1,454,379 70 ) o FAA ARG B gt 5l #
HK$2,710,661 (2017: HK$1,454,379). No liability (o] T B 22 %8 2 B ) BB B 2= 58 T K AT A
has been recognised in respect of these differences A R AR HEER - I EM B AEERE
because the Group is in a position to control the REE-
timing of reversal of the temporary differences
and it is probable that such differences will not be
reversed in the foreseeable future.
CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED & &R AaR A 7
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—F-N\F=A=+—H
31 March 2018

On 2 September 2016, the Company completed
an open offer of issuing 359,259,523 ordinary
shares at a subscription price of HK$0.30 per
share. As a result, there was an increase in share
capital and share premium of HK$17,962,976 and
HK$89,814,881 respectively. Details of the open
offer have been disclosed in the announcements of
the Company dated 16 May 2016, 6 June 2016, 20
June 2016, 6 July 2016 and 1 September 2016, the
circular of the Company dated 8 July 2016 and the
prospectus of the Company dated 10 August 2016.

32. SHARE CAPITAL 32. BAR
(a) Authorised and issued share capital (a) ZEEREDRITERA
2018 2017
“E-0\% ZTtF
Number of Number of
shares HK$ shares HK$
R 8E BT RiEE AT
Authorised: EE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.05 each ~ #%0.057 72
LEhR
At 1 April and 31 March ROA—-BR
=R=t+-H 20,000,000,000  1,000,000,000 20,000,000,000  1,000,000,000
Issued and fully paid: ERITREE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.05 each &% 0.05872
Lk
At 1 April REHA—H 1,077,778,570 53,888,928 718,519,047 35,925,952
Issue of shares upon open offer  RABREBETRG
(note) (#1:) - - 359,259,523 17,962,976
At 31 March R=f=+—H 1,077,778,570 53,888,928  1,077,778,570 53,888,928
Note: Wit -

RZZE-—XRFAAZH  ARAER
B LA R EBE & A 70.3078 T #
17359,259,623 % & & I 2 ~ Fi 2
& o Etk - BRAS R 5 (B 2 BIE
17,962,976 /% JT 12 89,814,881 % 7T °
FHEAHBEEZHBERARRBMA
TE-RFRAATARAE ZE-RF
NARB - ZE-RFXAZTH:
—TE-REFLARARZZE-RFN
A—Rznrf ARARBEHR-ZF
—RFELANBZBEHEARTEH
RIE-RFEN\ATBZEHEEREM
W -
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ARE B SR OR M RE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
=S =H="—H
31 March 2018

32. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

(b)

Capital management policy

The capital structure of the Group consists of
debts, which includes the bills payables, bank
borrowings and convertible bonds disclosed
in note 27, 28 and 29 to the consolidated
financial statements respectively, net of cash
and bank balances and equity attributable to
owners of the Company, comprising issued
share capital and reserves. The Group’s risk
management reviews the capital structure
on annual basis. As part of this review, the
management considers the cost of capital and
the risks associated with each class of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital
structure, the Group may adjust the amount of
dividends paid to shareholders, return capital
to shareholders, issue new shares or sell
assets to reduce debts.

The gearing ratio at the end of the reporting
period was as follows:

32. A #)

(b)

EXEEHER

REBZEARREREER(HES
FREMNEE  RITEERUTRRKRE
% - DRI BRI S B mERM T
27 28K 29) WM AR & RIRITH
BRAATEEAELER(BE
EBITRARGR) - AEEZE
BEBABTFRIERNERH - £
BLEER, —BH  EEESE
BERKA R SEERABERR

RERRAEERRE  AEEY
SRBABRRIKNZBRESE - [
BERREEAR - BITHRSHEER
B DUBUR B ©

R|EHR - EXRBELRDT

2018 2017
—E-N\&E T+
HKS$ HK$
BT BT
Bills payables (note 27) EREE(HiF27) 25,915,008 —
Bank borrowings (note 28) RITEE (L 28) 29,953,198 51,401,458
Convertible bonds (note 29) AR ES (Mt 29) 42,278,487 —
Less: Cash and bank balances i Be RIRITER (114,165,492)  (64,645,440)
Net debt B FHE (16,018,799)  (13,243,982)
Equity attributable to owners of the CompanyZx 2 7B AEIGHERS 112,270,737 140,862,251
Net debt to equity ratio BEFFERAL X N/A N/A
TEA TEHA

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED FEEEERER A A



ARE MR M
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E-NF=ZA=+—H

31 March 2018

337 RESERNES 33. A&
Company AT
Employee
share-based ~ Convertible
Share  Contributed compensation bonds  Accumulated
premium surplus reserve reserve losses Total
A%z
RitsE BAER EEFNGERE TAREZRE ZRER am
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
AT AT AT AT AT AT
At 1 April 2016 RZE-~"ENA-A 2,076,251,327 28,784,000 9,029,407 — (2,033951,993) 80,112,741
Loss for the year TEERR - - - — (100,019,026)  (100,019,026)
Issue of share upon open offer RARBEREIRR
(note 32) (his2) 89,814,861 - - - — 89,814,881
Share issuance expenses RA%AET (3,692,920) - - - — (3,692,920
Share option cancelled (note 34) BB RRE ) - —  [1,736,424) — 173424 -
At 31 March 2017 and 1 April 2017 RZE—+£ZA=+-8R
“3-+E@A-H 2,162,373,288 28,784,000 7,292,983 — (2,132,234,595) 66,215,676
Loss for the year TERRRE - - - — (341239401 (34,123,940)
Issuance of convertiole bonds BOMBRES W 29)
(note 29) - - — 5,837,254 - 5,837,254
At 31 March 2018 RZB-NE=B=1-H 2162373288 28,784,000 7,292,983 5,837,254 (2,166,358,535) 37,928,990
ANNUAL REPORT 2018 =% — )\ F 3
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—E-\F=A=+-H
31 March 2018

33. RESERVES (continued)

33. &)

The following describes the nature and purpose of LTHAES AT SRERECHEER
each reserve within owners' equity: By :

Reserve Description and purpose

A MR EH

Company

¥ NN

Share premium Amount subscribed for share capital in excess of nominal value.

B9 =B RERTEBBAEBE L SR °

Contributed surplus

Employee share-based
compensation reserve

AR X 2 18 & Frf i il

Accumulated losses

RiEEE

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED

The difference between the consolidated shareholders’ funds of the
subsidiaries at the date when they were acquired by the Company
and the nominal amount of the Company’s shares issued for the
acquisition at the time of the group reorganisation prior to the listing
of the Company's shares in 1991. Under the Companies Act 1981
of Bermuda (as amended), the contributed surplus is available for
distribution to the shareholders provided that the Company is able to
meet its obligations after distribution and the net realisable value of
the Company’s assets would not be less than the aggregate of its
liabilities, issued share capital and share premium accounts.
MEBAREARAINRENEARI z ABZEERRESEARTRO N
— AN FLEHAETEEEESRKEMNET2ARKRMEES =
B RBBE-NN-FARERRDA(KER)  BEHAKAHIIRTRE
FHERARBRDIRKEERNBITEEL  MARREEZ IR FEDT
BEREBE DETRAEKRNDGEERZ &5HER -

Cumulative expenses recognised on the granting of share options to
the employees over the vesting period.

KB EHRE R R B R TR Rz RIE -

Cumulative net losses recognised in the statement of comprehensive
income.

REERERERZ REERFE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

33. RESERVES (continued)

Reserve

R
Group

A EH

Other reserve

H b

Other properties revaluation
reserve

HitpMEEA R

Foreign exchange reserve

SN 1

Investment revaluation
reserve

KEEGHFHE

Convertible bonds reserve

AR EHRHE

Accumulated losses

RIEEE

—F-N\F=A=+—H
31 March 2018

33. B

Description and purpose

R B #

The difference between the consideration and the carrying amount of
the net assets attributable to the additional and reduction of interests
in subsidiaries being acquired from and disposed to non-controlling
equity holders respectively.

REEMFEEREEFBEAPBERHE TIERERFEAZMB LA #
SIEBINEOR D B EIE 2 FEERME 5

Gains/(losses) arising on the revaluation of the Group's leasehold
land and buildings (other than investment properties) (see note 17 to
the consolidated financial statement). The balance on this reserve is
wholly undistributable.
1E$’$l$ﬂ ST RBFIREMERIN (REaMBERERMT17)EL
Wi,/ (E518) o B2 2BERHRTAI DK

Gains/(losses) arising on retranslating the net assets of foreign
operations into Hong Kong dollars.

ENMESINEBEEFEEBMEE 2 KNS (BE) -

Gains/(losses) arising on recognising financial assets classified as
available for sale at fair value.

BADBRBATEEITHEENBEEMEE 2 Was, (B1R) -

Convertible bonds reserve represents equity portion of convertible
bonds.

AHREESREE S BRRES 2R

Cumulative net losses recognised in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.

N e 2 E WA R RIEE T

H
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CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED I EmERERARD

ARE B SR OR M RE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—ZT-NF=ZRA=+—H
31 March 2018

34. SHARE OPTIONS

On 30 August 2002, the Company adopted a share
option scheme for the purpose of attracting and
retaining quality personnel and other persons who
may contribute to the business and operation of the
Group. Options may be granted without any initial
payment to persons including Directors, employees
or consultants of the Group.

On 30 August 2012, the Company adopted a new
share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”)
which was approved in the Company’'s annual
general meeting on 29 August 2012. The Share
Option Scheme will remain in force for a period of
10 years from 30 August 2012. A summary of the
rules of the Share Option Scheme is set out in the
appendix to the Company's circular dated 20 July
2012.

On 23 December 2013, options were granted to
Directors and employees of the Company and its
subsidiaries under the Share Option Scheme to
subscribe for up to 32,333,421 ordinary shares
of the Company (“2013 Share Options”). The
estimated fair value of the options granted on that
date was approximately HK$9,376,692 and the
amount was recognised as staff cost expense for
the year ended 31 March 2014.

eall]

34.

"o IR

RERSIWEBFEBFEAS REMAIGEEH
REBZEBREEBERZALT K
RN ZEZEZFN\NA=THHEM—F
RRAEETE] o RARKER BAZ M)
THREMRTREAEB2ES &S
FERERNZ AT ©

R-ZZE——FNA=Z+H8 KNRAHEH
—IEFT R (R REE]) - H
BERZE——FNAZTABELRAT
R ERIAF KRS FEEE - RIRER 2
RE-ZE——F ) \A=+HET10FH
FEFEN - RIRETEIRA 2 HERK
RARRBEHA=-Z——FtA=-1+H
K SRR o

R-ZZE—=F+-A=-+=8" ' &ARQ7F
RIEREE A AR R REWE QA
CEEREERLERRE UREHZ
32,333 421 RARQAREBER(=ZF—=
FRABRE])  -RZAREZRBREZHE
S AF(EELE9,376,692E T %
HOREE-_ZT-—NE=ZA=+—HI1
FEMRBEIXAME -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

34. SHARE OPTIONS (cContinued) 34.

The fair value of the 2013 Share Options was
calculated using Binominal Option Pricing Model.
The inputs into the model are as follows:

Grant date Eedn =R

Grant date share price RE BB ZRE
Exercise price 1TfR(E
Expected life T8 2 4F B
Expected volatility TEHRR IR
Expected dividend yield AR B X
Risk-free interest rate 17 [ B 1) 2

Expected volatility is determined by using the
historical volatility of the Company’'s share price
over the previous one year. The expected life
used in the model has been adjusted, based on
management’'s best estimate, for the effects
of non-transferability, exercise restrictions and
behavioral considerations.

—ZE-NFE=A=+—H
31 March 2018

AREE)

— TR EETE A
AHIEEEERNAGE  RZEAEA
Z28T

2013
Share Options
—E-ZHERRE

23 December 2013
—E-=F
t=ZA=t+=H
HK$0.55 per share
SR 0.558 T

HK$0.513 per share
(adjusted)
(Note b)
SiR0.513E T
(BHAE)
(H&tb)

10 years

10 F

80%

Nil

feced

FA

2.26%

BHREDERARARBE—FRE
ZESLREMERE - RAPER A
FHOREEBZ&EMGM TS
& RETERTRREZZEFLA
o

H
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—E-\F=A=+-H
31 March 2018

34. SHARE OPTIONS (continued)

34. BRE®)

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
Weighted Weighted
Number average Number average
of share exercise of share exercise
options price options price
ARRE it R INHEF 15
&R TE 2H T8
HK$ HK$
B BT
Outstanding as at 1 April REA—H
RARTTE 27,942,462 0.513 31,135,887 0.570
Adjusted 2 - - 3,459,542 0.513
Cancelled (note (a)) Bt 8H (A5t (a) - —  (6,652,967) 0.513
Outstanding as at 31 March R=A=+—H
W AT 27,942,462 0.513 27,942,462 0.513
Exercisable as at 31 March R=ZA=+—8H
Al{TfE 27,942,462 0.513 27,942,462 0513
(a)  During the year ended 31 March 2017, 6,652,967 (a) BE-_ZE-—LtF=A=+—-—HBILF
share options, which were held by one Director, BB H%EEHH26,652,967HR
were cancelled. The value of these cancelled share REELTHE BHERAREZEER
options of HK$1,736,424, was released directly to 1,736,424 BB BB ARTESE -
accumulated losses.
(b)  The options outstanding at 31 March 2018 and 2017 b) RZTE-—NFRZZET—+tF=A

had exercise prices of HK$0.513 per share and

weighted average remaining contractual life of 5.73

years (2017: 6.73 years).

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED

S+ —AMRITEZRBREZSRT
{875 0.613 BT L INEFHFBA L
FRAELIIF(ZZT—+LF :6.734F) ©



34. SHARE OPTIONS (cContinued)

The following table discloses the movements of

options during the year:

e BHRRMEE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
- N\F=RA=+—H

34. ARE®)

TREBRENERN 2SS -

31 March 2018

Year 2018 —E-N\F
Number of
exercisable
Number of shares in respect of options granted options
i
EREARER IR RAEE hees
Qutstanding
Oustanding ~ Adjusted ~ Granted  Cancelled Lapsed  Reclassified it Asat
Exereise at during during during during during 31 March 31 March
Date of grant Exereisable period Vesting period price  TAprl 2017 theyear  theyer  theyear  theyear theyear 018 018
Hog-18 H28-1%
RA-8 SRR HSENE
ftag ke ] gk dA0E EMSEE EAERM  ACEE  ERERD EMERRR BARR ZAct-8
H(§
(Note 1 (ote 1
sl
Employees
=
23 December 2013 23 December 2013 - Fully vested on 0513 13638581 - - - - - 13638581 13,638,581
20 Decemper 2003 Gate of grant
TR CECECRCIIR jftsRgcE
t2fof28 F e el
(ther participants
sk
23 December 2013 23 December 2013 - Fully vested on 0513 14303881 - - - - - U381 14,303,881
20 Decemper 2003 Gate of grant
Ak J5-TRCACPRR ARERS2EGE
R N sl
1342480 - - - - - e DY
ANNUAL REPORT 2018 =% — )\ F 3
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—=-AE=F=1-H

31 March 2018

34. SHARE OPTIONS (continued)

34. AREE)

Year 2017 —E—+tHF
Number of
exercisahle
Number of shares in respect of options granted options
i
EREARRRS R RATE hEds
Qutstanding
Outstanding ~ Adjusted ~ Granted ~ Cancelled Lapsed ~ Reclassified it Asat
Exercise it during during during during during ~ 3March 31 March
Date of grant Exereisable period Vesting period price  TAprl 2016 theyear  theyer  theyear  theyear theyear it} m
W25k Hog-tf
) ] RA- HiE =
bt ke ] fRE  BAAR  EACAR  EAZRE  EACEE  EMEAN EACERRR  MRAE ZRIr-A
HK§
! o e
Executive Directors
4z
Cheng Yang
il
23 December 2013 23 December 2013 - Fully vested on 0513 5,981,670 465,297 - [66%2.%67) - - - -
20 December 2003  datef rnt
i i N
t2fot2R ERITEIAIE
LoiLe
HE
23 December 2013 23 Dacerber 2013 - Fully vested on 0513 5,388,903 598,767 - - - ) - -
20 Decemper 2003 e of g
3 J5-TRCRCPER RRNRNEGE
TZAZ1ZR FRCZEITACICR
Li Weipeng
g
28 December 2008 23 Dacember 2013 - Fully vested on 0513 299383 - - - - [288%) - -
20 December 2023 Gt of gt
TE o ki N
ToAZtzE e a2 iy
1370408 1264064 - [66e%) - [B%81509) - -

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

- N\&=A=+—H
31 March 2018

SHARE OPTIONS (Continued) 34. RBRER)
Year 2017 (Continued) —B—tH(#E)
Number of
exercisable
Number of shares in respect of options granted options
i
EREARRNSR RO AhEds
Qutstanding
Ouistnding ~ Adjusted ~ Granted ~ Cancelled Lapsed ~ Reclassfied it A at
Exercise at during during during during during 31 March 31 March
Date of grant Exercisable period Vesting period price  1Apil2016  theyer  theyer  theyear  theyear  theyear m m
it o3tk
mi-A SRR RIE-tE
fiing ke L H kR HAOE  EMEER  ERERE  EACEE  ERERN EMZERAR  BARR  ZASr-R
HKS
[Ntz 1 (Nots 1 Note 2)
Independent Non-Exeeutive Directors
BUHnEs
Tong Jngguo
i
23 December 2013 23 December 2013 - Fully vested on 0513 299,384 33265 - - - (332,649) - -
22 December 2023 e of gt
5 i 2 o B s
t2A212R i a2 iy
Yang Rusheng
i
23 December 2013 23 December 2013 - Fully vested on 0513 299,384 33265 - - - (332,649) - -
22 December 2023 e of g
s i e B S
t2f1R BETTEATHA
S0 Tat Keung
it
23 December 2013 23 December 2013 - Fully vested on 0513 299,384 - - - - (299,384) - -
22 Decemper 2023 ‘ ﬂateofgmm
2= CESEECRER HGiRERiGE
t2f1R o S e |
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, LI R .. IO -
Employees
Es
28 December 2008 23 December 2013 - Fully vested on 0513 &I 136380 - - - (352603 13638581 13638581
22 December 2023 dite of gt
TR SECETACTTR ARAREREGE
B = e .
Other participants
)
28 December 2008 23 December 2013 - Fully vested on 051 - 765,091 - - - 1T 4303881 14303881
20 Decemper 2003 e of g
b e ol N =
TZRZT=R ERCZEITACICR
1B 349542 - (65 - - e Dy
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E-\F=A=+-H

31 March 2018

34. SHARE OPTIONS (Continued) 34. ABRE®)

Year 2017 (Continued) —E—+EE)

Notes: Hiet -

1. The exercise price for the options granted and the 1. ERLRAREZTEEREEEED
number of shares in respect of options granted RREZRNDEE LA - RER
were adjusted to reflect the impact of the open BHE-_Z—+F=-A=+—HLFE
offer during the year ended 31 March 2017. Details PHBEZFE  FMEBHEFEBER
of the above are set out in the announcement dated RBBAZT—R"FNLA—BZAM -

1 September 2016.

2. The Executive Directors, Independent Non-Executive 2. HWITEE BUFNTESIREER
Directors and employees resigned during the year HE-_Z—+F=-A=+—HLFE
ended 31 March 2017. The options granted to them BT - RERAREFEEMBERT
under the Share Option Scheme were reclassified ZRABRERAENEEFTAREES
following the date of their resignations accordingly. primaN- I

eall]
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

35. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

(a)

Disposal of a group of subsidiaries

On 9 February 2018, the Group entered into
a sales and purchase agreement with an
independent third party to dispose the entire
issued capital of a number of subsidiaries of
the Company for a total cash consideration of
HK$500,000. The disposal has completed on
31 March 2018. Details of the disposal were
disclosed in the Company’'s announcements
dated 9 February 2018 and 3 April 2018. The

- N\&=A=+—H
31 March 2018

35. HEMHMBAT

(a)

HE—AMNELH

R-ZE—-NF-AIB  KEFH
—BBIE=FRIEERE U
HERRRZEMBARZEEE
BITIEA - 4838 € (B A 500,000
B HEZHBEERN -Z—\F=
BA=+—H=K - HEFHEZFHEBE
WENAARIBRA-ZT—NF=
AABR-ZE—N\E@RA=HZA
i RHEBE  ZEWRBARZ

net liabilities of the group of subsidiaries at

the date of disposal were as follows:

BEFEWT

HK$
BT
Net liabilities disposed of: P& 8 EFE -
Property, plant and equipment WE - BEREE 2,163,444
Investment properties WEME 6,538,977
Available-for-sale investments AHERE 31,505,972
Trade and other receivables W E TR e E A FRIE 4,789,351
Amounts due from non-controlling shareholders — FEUIEIE A% AR5 2B 10,053
Amounts due from related parties FEU B E N T RUR 10,000
Cash and cash equivalents RekfeFEEE 3,330,255
Assets classified as held for sale DEARBIENEZEE 37,962,710
Trade and other payables FERTE R R AR (55,547,821)
Amounts due to non-controlling shareholders NER A E (47,667,960)
Amounts due to related parties JEfTREE A TFUA (11,452)
Liabilities classified as held for sale DEABIENEZAE (16,655,280)
Non-controlling interests RS (2,371,151)
(35,952,902)
Reclassification of cumulative exchange 2N ZEEmINEREE
differences from foreign exchange MoEEER
reserve to profit or loss (19,179,185)
Release of reserve of disposal group held for sale EEIE{EHE 7 HEARIREE 386,926
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEWB ARz 55,245,161
Total consideration satisfied by: ATFABERRE
Cash Re 500,000
Net cash outflows arising on disposal: HERBEMEE AR
JHEE
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of it ERe KR EEIHE (3,330,255)
Cash and cash equivalents included in HADEABELNECEEY
assets classified as held for sale RekBReFEESR (714,957)
(4,045,212)
ANNUAL REPORT 2018 =& — /\fF 4
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R =
31 March 2018

35. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

35. HEKB AR (&)

(a) Disposal of a group of subsidiaries (Continued) (a) HE—AMBEAR(E)
As at 31 March 2018, the total cash R-ZE—NF=ZA=+—8"'H4H
consideration of HK$500,000 from disposal EZENBRAAZEREKRE
of the subsidiaries has not yet been settled 500,000 & 7T ARER - WET ALR
and is included as the other receivables in the BEATEIRNE » b E U ERIE o
consolidated statement of financial position.
(b) Disposal of Golden Island Catering Group (b) HELEHEEEEARARATE£E
Company Limited (“GICL") H"E D
During the year ended 31 March 2018, the REEZZ—-NF=A=+—8H1t
Group entered into a sales and purchase FE AEEE-FZBIE=H
agreement with an independent third party SIVEEWE  UWHESESREY
to dispose the entire issued capital of GICL 2EEETRA - BeRER/ 1B
for a cash consideration of HK$1. The net Lo RNHEHH  28HRAE
liabilities of GICL at the date of disposal were R ¢
as follows:
HK$
BT
Net liabilities disposed of: I EBEFHE
Property, plant and equipment Y - R KR 1,629,626
Other receivables H e U R IE 1,897,938
Amounts due from related parties JEUR B8 A L FIE 91,061
Cash and cash equivalents ReERBLEEAE 429,005
Trade and other payables FERTE R KR E A FIE (7,043,418)
(2,995,788)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEMRB AR KE 2,995,789
Total consideration satisfied by: ATH AR EERRE
Cash RE 1
Net cash outflows arising on disposal: HEFEMEEA 2RSSR
SRR
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of FIEEReRIREEEER (429,005)
As at 31 March 2018, the cash consideration RZE-N\F=ZA=+—08 HE&
of HK$1 from the disposal of subsidiary ZWB AR ZHSRE1BTHEK
has not yet been settled and is included as B Wit ARETBRARK 2 E
the other receivables in the consolidated i FEURRIR ©
statement of financial position.
CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED ® EE @K A E A 7



ARE MR M

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E-NF=ZA=+—H

31 March 2018

35. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 35. HEMBAF#)

(c) During the year ended 31 March 2017, () REE-T—+tF=A=+—H1t
the Group disposed of two wholly-owned FE AEERABYE=AFHE
subsidiaries to independent third parties for MEZENBRAR @ BIRENREAR
total cash considerations of HK$1,001. The 1,001 87T - ZEMBATINEE
net assets of these subsidiaries at the date of Az EEFEAT :

disposal were as follows:

New Asia
(Shenzhen)
Wave High Leasing
International Company
Limited Limited
5 EE M GRIND
SEBAEIRR mMEHEE
BRAF BRAF
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Net assets disposed of: FribE&EFE
Other receivables and o fE W SR IE K FE A 5RIB
prepayments 5,073 —
Cash and cash equivalents HeMReEEAR 560 1,400
5,633 1,400
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries ~ HEKBAF ZE1E (4,633) (1,399)
Total consideration satisfied by: ATF B EERE
Cash e 1,000 1
Net cash inflows/(outflows) arising HEEEREA ZEHERA
on disposal: () 548 -
Cash received BUE S 1,000 1
Cash and cash equivalents FrtERekEeSEIEE
disposed of (560) (1,400)
440 (1,399)
ANNUAL REPORT 2018 = & — /\ £ £ 1§
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
=S =H="—H

31 March 2018

36. NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS 36. FEKRER

Elite-China Culture Development Limited RRAREB60% Em s MB AR RES
("Elite-China"”), a 60% owned subsidiary of the BELERERAR(IREER]ES
Company, has material non-controlling interests BAFERER([FERER]) - BF
(“NCI”). Summarised financial information in REERNEERE YR 2 IR
relation to the NCI of Elite-China before intra-group 2O ERS T
eliminations, is presented below:
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
HK$ HK$
BT BT

For the year ended 31 March

BE=A=1T—HLEE

Revenue e zs 35,763,016 32,369,742

Loss for the year AFEEE (1,493,027) (2,875,742)

Other comprehensive income Hab 2w 419,514 (397,115)

Total comprehensive income AFEE2EWZLEE

for the year (1,073,513) (3,272,857)
Total comprehensive income for EIERESE CAFE
the year allocated to NCI iﬁuﬁlﬁnﬁ@ﬁﬁ (429,405) (1,309,143)

For the year ended 31 March BE=A=1+—HLEE

Cash flows from operating activities REEFFGZHAERE 10,778,106 2,002,419

Cash flows used in investing activities HEFSFIAZEERE (3,523,994) (3,501,391)

Cash flows used in financing activities & EEBFFAZIRESRE (1,946,757) (1,547,550)

Net cash inflows/(outflows) BeEmA (Rt ) F5 5,307,355 (3,046,522)
2018 2017

—E-N\F —t%F

HK$ HK$
B BT

As at 31 March R=A=+—8

Current assets MENE E 64,790,391 26,830,634

Non-current assets EmENE E 54,800,092 61,341,661

Current liabilities DEAE=RET (147,028,561) (114,536,860)

Net liabilities BEFE (27,438,078)  (26,364,565)

Accumulated non-controlling interests ~ Z2f&IEIEAR LS (10,950,614) (11,715,628)

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED #HEEBEZRABR A
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

— - \F=ZA=+—8
31 March 2018

36. NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS 36. FERERE)
(Continued)
Great Research, a 51% owned subsidiary of the KABIHEA 51 % s 2 B A &I
Company, has material NCI. Summarised financial BRRMBBEGERFERER - BERK
information in relation to the NCI of Great Research WEFRARR A E B RS 2 IR
before intra-group eliminations, is presented below: e BERSLMnT
2017
T —tF
HK$
BT
For the year ended 31 March BE=A=1+—HILEE
Loss for the year AFEEEIE (4,940,151)
Other comprehensive income H b2 e (317,794)
Total comprehensive income for the AFEELEW LR
year (5,257,945)
Total comprehensive income for the year 9Bt EIEEAR R 2 REE
allocated to NCI FHEREE R (2,576,393)
For the year ended 31 March BZE=A=1+—HILEE
Cash flows used in operating activities KELEKAZRERE (66,710)
Cash flows from investing activities REEBFBZRERE 1,937,284
Net cash inflows REmAERR 1,870,574
2017
—ET—tF
HK$
BT
As at 31 March R=R=+—8
Current assets MBEE 8,741,938
Non-current assets EMBEE 32,113,486
Current liabilities RENEE (8,527,822)
Non-current liabilities SEmBAEE (7,485,625)
Net assets EEFE 24,841,977
Accumulated non-controlling interests ~ Zi&E3EIZEp&#EZ 12,172,569
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—ZT-NF=ZRA=+—H

31 March 2018

37. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 37. BEALRS
Save as those disclosed elsewhere in the financial MR REMID SEREBEN - F
statements, significant related party transactions NETZERBEALTRZUOT ¢

during the year are as follows:

(a) Compensation of key management (a) TEEEBASHFM
personnel
The remuneration of Directors and other FR EFREMFTEEEAEZ
members of key management personnel BT -

during the year were as follows:

2018 2017
—E-N\F —ZT—+F
HK$ HK$
BT BT

Salaries and other short-term FeMAEMERe RN
monetary benefits 5,482,271 11,663,690
Post-employment benefits BEEL 2 R A 119,862 106,548
5,602,133 11,770,238

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED & &R AaR A 7



38. NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(a)

Reconciliation of loss before income tax (a)
expense to net cash generated from/(used in)

operations is as follows:

e BHRRMEE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E-NF=A=+—H

38. ZERETREBERME

31 March 2018

BRETS R A B R AL E X E
B (PR 2R FRmERINT

2018 2017
—E-N\F ZE—tF
HKS$ HK$
B BT
Loss before income tax expense BT A AIE R
— From continuing operations — REFERLES (4,776,294) (85,293,419
— From discontinued operations — REBKIEER (9,927,541) (7,980,149)
(14,703,835)  (93,273,568)
Interest income FEWA (886,246) (4,215,179)
Interest expenses FEFXZ 6,657,000 3,196,095
Depreciation of property, plant and ¥ BMERREZTE
equipment 11,055,894 13,803,538
Amortisation of intangible assets B EE 116,884 116,883
(Gain)/loss on disposal of property, plant HEM¥ - BEMEHZ
and equipment, net (Wezk),/ 518+ 35 (52,606) 1,668,750
Impairment losses on trade and other ~ JEWERLEMZEZ HESE
receivables 322,545 4,570,788
Realised gain on disposal of available- ~ HERHHERE 2 B &R
for-sale investments e (6,276,790) —
Fair value gain on investment properties &M% 7 A EE W - (292,324)
(Gain)/loss on disposal of subsidiaries,  EEKMBRRZ (W) HiE
net FER (58,240,950) 6,032
Share of losses of associates DEEE A EEE 1,011,613 4,613,445
Gain on deregistration of an associate —MEEE A AR 2 s - (243,456)
Deferred income EEWA - (3,430,866)
ANNUAL REPORT 2018 — & — \fF 4 ¥
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31 March 2018

38. NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED 38. KEREREXRMFTF 2

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(Continued)

(a) Reconciliation of loss before income tax (a) BATEHB ARG L ESE
expense to net cash generated from/(used) in £/ (FR) 2R FRERAT
operations is as follows: (Continued) (%)

2018 2017
—E-NE —ZT—+F
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Operating loss before working BEESEFER K EEE
capital changes (60,996,491) (73,479,862)
Decrease in inventories FERD 7,647,208 2,821,921
Decrease/(increase) in trade and JE W& Rk R Ho R IER A
other receivables (38m) 25,139,962 (72,432,261)
Increase/(decrease) in trade, bills and BN & « 2 M E M FRIE
other payables #an, Crd) 49,450,556  (3,776,961)
Decrease in provision for long RERE 2 BERD
service payments (42,373) —
Net cash generated from/(used in) L EKES (FIR)ZR
operations & 55 21,198,862 (146,867,163)
CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED & &R AaR A 7
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E-NF=A=+—H

31 March 2018

38. NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED 38. e BEEREBXRNZTE @)
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
(Continued)

(b) MEEDELEZEBEZHIK

(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from
financing activities

BE-E-N\%
Year ended =ZA=t-H As at Financing Other Exchange As at
31 March 2018 ILEE 1 April 2017 cash flows changes  realignments 31 March 2018
R-B-tF mE R-B-N%
mA-H BenE Hit2E Ei#® =B=t-H
HK$ HK$ HKS$ HK$ HK$
A B B B A
Bank borrowings FAEE 51,401,458 (25,973,325) 1,873,259 2,651,806 29,953,198
Amount due to ultimate ER GAERE A
holding company AFE 3,267,530 (3,267,530) - - -
Amounts due to related fEFTEE A+
parties TR 31,898,038 (4,894,137) (465,563) 502,089 27,040,427
Convertible bonds ARk ES - 46,121,960 (3,843,473) - 42,278 487
86,567,026 11,986,968 (2,435,777) 3,153,895 99,272,112
BE-2-tF
Year ended ZA=t-H As at Financing Other Exchange As at
31 March 2017 LEE 1 April 2016 cash flows changes  realignments 31 March 2017
RZB-AF mE R-B-t%
mE-A BenE Hitg 5 Ei#® =A=t-H
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT AT BT V-7 V-7
Share capital i 35,925,952 17,962,976 — — 53,888,928
Share premium BinaE 2,076,251,327 86,121,961 — —  2,162,373,288
Bank borrowings FAEE 68,703,870 (18,593,920) 3,196,095 1,904,587 51,401,458
Amount due to ultimate ER AR A
holding company A - 3,267,530 — - 3,267,630
Amounts due to related EfTEEA T
parties B 27,051,879 11,030,002 (4,204,485) (1,979,358) 31,898,038
2,207,933,028 99,788,549 (1,008,390} (3,883,945)  2,302,829,242
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39. LEASES 39. E#
Operating leases — lessee RERY — AHEA
The Group leases certain properties under operating AEERBELEROVHEETYE - %
leases. The leases for properties usually run for EMERO 2V RBRBRTE— 2+~
an initial period of one to sixteen years (2017: FE(ZE—+F: —Z2+AF) ez
one to sixteen years). Lease payments are usually BTRERMEMENAS BMERLNBRE
negotiated to reflect market rentals. None of the HAMES o
leases includes contingent rentals.
The lease payments recognised as an expense are ERRAI L BN T -
as follows:
2018 2017
—E-N\FE —ZT—+F
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Minimum lease payments =EHEE 23,797,310 33,717,202
The total future minimum lease payments are due AR S LREN 5 BAR 2 8 -
as follows:
2018 2017
—E-N\FE —ZT—+F
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Not later than one year TER—F 11,364,134 23,802,419
Later than one year and not later than BR—FETNERRT
five years 30,955,588 56,106,376
More than five years BilmAF 18,179,167 26,006,936

60,498,889 105,915,731

Operating leases — Lessor

The Group sub-leases its properties in the PRC
under operating leases. Sub-leases of properties in
the PRC usually run for one to three years (2017:
one to three years). Lease payments are usually
negotiated to reflect market rentals. None of the
lease includes contingent rentals.

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED #HEE®EZER AR A A
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40.

41.

LEASES (Continued)

Operating leases — Lessor (Continued)

e BHRRMEE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
- N\F=RA=+—H

39. B #)

RERN — HEAE)

31 March 2018

The minimum lease receivables under BESARESCERY R ERHES
non-cancellable operating leases are as follows: mr
2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—tF
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Not later than one year TER—F 24,502,008 16,685,926
Later than one year and not later than BB —FENEREF
five years 11,641,699 14,581,348
36,143,707 31,267,274
CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 40. BAKIE
2018 2017
—E-N\NF —ZT—tF
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Contracted for but not provided EEFIEES T
— Commitments for the acquisition — W R i 2 A IE
of plant and equipment 10,940,628 8,763,088
— Capital commitment for — REPHIE ETRAE
investment in unlisted equity 52 B AOEIE
securities in the PRC — 696,115
10,940,628 9,459,203

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

41. KRR ER

Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate and

currency risks arises in the normal course of the

Group’s business. The Group is also exposed to

equity price risk arising from its equity investment

in other entities.

RAKREZ AREBBREPELEZ AR
BREEERR RBERER - FXE
phE¥ER - AEETEHYBEERE
ERZRAREMREE ZIRABER

LA
oo
ZoN

o
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41

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED I EmERERARD

. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(Continued)

Policy for managing these risks is set by the Board

following recommendations from the chief financial

officer. Certain risks are managed centrally, while

others are managed locally following guidelines

communicated from the management. The policy

for each of the above risks is described in more

detail below.

(a)

(b)

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that counterparties
will default on their contractual obligations
resulting in financial loss to the Group. The
Group exposes to credit risk from loans and
receivables. The Group has adopted a credit
policy to monitor and mitigate credit risk
arising from trade debtors. Credit limit is
regularly reviewed and approved by head of
credit control. The Group assesses credit risk
based on customers’ past due records, trading
history, financial conditions or credit ratings.
The Group is not exposed to concentration
of credit risk. Please refer to note 23 to the
consolidated financial statements for further
analysis of credit risk associated with trade
and other receivables.

The credit risk on bank deposits is limited
because the counterparties are banks with
high credit-ratings assigned by international
credit-rating agencies.

Liquidity risk

The Group's objective is to ensure that there
are adequate funds to meet commitments
associated with its financial liabilities. Cash
flows of the Group are closely monitored by
senior management on an ongoing basis.

eall]

41. Bt

BEREE®)

EZeRBIBREZZHTER%Z
ERBIBE AEBERERE TR
R MEMRRAIKEEEES T 2B
SIRNEMETER - AN L SERER
IR T X — P EFlL o

(a) fEERB

EERBERSHFHRERITH
AHEAMEHAER LR %1E
K2 BB Kﬁllf$&%%%
BMAZEERR - AEBERA
—EEEECR M#ﬁ ﬁ@m&%
ERMELEZEERR - EEREE
HIEEER éﬁ%@ﬁ&ﬂ&o
REERERFE ZEHRTE X5
i MRS E B AT EE
ERkK - AEBWEAZEPEE
R - BREERE SR R EMRIE
SERBZE—ZHN - FLHR
BB MEMTE23 -

BN R ZHF T REREEFF R
B TEREENRZRIT - #UERTT
FRZiEERBRER -

(b) FEBEZERE

AEBEZBERERERAETIE
NEAMBREGRE I HAE - SR
EREERETYERAEE R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
- N\F=A=+—8H

31 March 2018

41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 41. BBRBERE &)
(Continued)
(b) Liquidity risk (Continued) (b) REBELRRE)
The contractual maturities of financial liabilities BRABsANEHBERDT

are shown as below:

Total More than More than
contractual Within 1yearbut 2 years but
Carrying  undiscounted 1 year or less than less than More than
amount  cash flows  on demand 2 years 5 years 5 years
af ikl it
ARRRE 0k -£f M
KEfE RESAE 331 SRWE DREE BRLE
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
V-7 AT AT V-7 AT V-7
2018 ZE8-)\%
Non-derivatives: ¥4
Trade, bills and other ERER ZERE
payables 38 96,737,612 99,102,012 99,102,012 - - -
Amounts due to related EREEALIA
parties 21,0042 27040421 27,040,427 - - -
Bank borrowings RIS 29953198 30,262,998 30,262,998 - - -
Convertible bonds R ES 42218481 42,278,487 - 42,278,481 - -
196,009,724 198,683,924 156,405,437 42,278,487 - -
2018 ZB-)\%
Financial guarantee: HBER:
Issued maximum amount BRI RAERE
guaranteed 5,865,835 49,922,000 49,922,000 - - -
2017 E-tf
Non-derivatives: Hfig
Trade and other payables ERETRAMIAE 109105524 109,105,524 109,105,524 - - -
Amounts due to non- EANBA kS
controlling shareholders of R FA
subsidiaries 47667960 47667960 47,667,960 - - -
Amounts due to related ENBEALIE
parties 31,898,038 31898038 31,898,038 — — —
Amount due to ultimate ERSAERAR
holding company E0] 3,267,530 3,267,530 3,267,530 — - -
Bank borrowings RIS 51401458 51,665,036 51,665,036 - - -
243,340,610 243,604,088 243,604,088 — — —
2017 E-tf
Financial guarantee: HBER:
Issued maximum amount BRI GAERS
guaranteed — 39,424,000 39,424,000 — - -
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41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

(b)

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED I EmERERARD

Liquidity risk (Continued)

On 13 September 2017, B R IR WK & B
# B B 2 7@ (“Nanjing Yinkun Investment
Corporation*”) and B RAIER N\NEFRFEE
AR 27 (“Nan Jing Chuang Yi Dong Ba
Qu Technology Development Co., Ltd.*")
(the “Guarantors”), indirect non-wholly
owned subsidiaries of the Company as the
guarantors, entered into two guarantee
agreements (the “Guarantee Agreements”)
respectively, pursuant to which the Guarantors
agreed to guarantee the repayment obligations
of MRI\EZFHEFEREBMRAF ("Nanjing Bo
Tai Technology Development Co., Ltd.*"),
a company established in the PRC and a
potential business partner of the Guarantor,
as the borrower under the loan agreement
in respect of the loan facility for the principal
amount of up to RMB40,000,000 at a floating
rate in accordance with the benchmark lending
rate (as announced by the People's Bank of
China) plus 4.25%, subject to adjustments,
which was provided by a financial institution in
the PRC in September 2017. The estimated fair
value of the financial guarantee is HK$5,865,835
(2017: HKS$nil) which was arrived on the basis of
valuation carried out by APAC for the year ended
31 March 2018.

Details of the Guarantee Agreements were
disclosed in the Company’'s announcement
dated 27 November 2017.
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41. BBEKREEZ)

(b)

RBESER(E)

RZFE—tFhLA+=H" BHEE
HIREEERRARMERAER
NEREEEAERAB(HAERR
RIZBEIERENB AR IEAE
RATERAD D RIFT @D HE
RipE(ERER]D - Bt &
RARBEEREFRBZERE TERA
ZRIFERAR AR (AP BRI
ZRBRIERAZBEEBZME)
EBERAZEREE  NAEH
e ExE A AR 40,000,000
T2 EFRE - REAPBEIARE
1T 2 FEE FRF A F B FI
R EiF4.25% 0 ATEH AR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—F-N\F=A=+—H
31 March 2018

41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT BERREREZ)
(Continued)
(c) Interest rate risk (c) FI=RREF

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest
rate risk due to the fluctuation of the prevailing
market interest rate on bank balances and
variable-rate bank loans.

The Group is also exposed to fair value
interest rate risk which relates primarily to
its cash and cash equivalents, pledged bank
deposits and bank borrowings which are at
floating rates. The Group currently does not
use any derivative contracts to hedge the
interest rate risk. However, management
will consider hedging significant interest rate
exposure should the need arise.

Interest rate profile

The following table details interest rates
analysis that management of the Group
evaluates the interest rate risk.

MRIRITESRIEBRITERZER
TSN EKE  AEERHRS
MENXER o

AR E TN S B E AT B X
AREzEekReFEEER  OF
WIRTHERRBITEEERZIAT
BEMREE - NKE B 5 &)
EROTET RGO IHHXRER
AW BEEKESRREEH T
EXRMEER

FIFEEE

TR R E T B R (4
% 2 FIE S -

2018 2017
—E-N\E —TtF
Effective Effective
interest interest
rate (%) HK$ rate (%) HK$
ERFE (%) BT EEFE(%) BT
Financial assets BBERE
Fixed-rate financial assets: EENKEE
— Loan receivables - ERER 451% 49,020,037 3.86% 94,743,224
— Pledged bank deposits - BEBETER - - 1.97% 33,791,775
Floating-rate financial assets: FEYKEAE
— Cash and cash equivalents - BaRAeEE
AR 0.12% 111,865,492 0.16% 28,553,665
— Pledged bank deposits - BEABIER 0.01% 2,300,000 0.01% 2,300,000
Financial liabilities BEaE
Fixed-rate financial liabilities: EENKEE:
— Bank borrowings - ROEE 5.80% 29,953,198 4.80% 21,401,458
Floating-rate financial liabilities: ¥ EHEEE :
— Bank borrowings - RIEE - - 3.10% 30,000,000
ANNUAL REPORT 2018 —NEEY
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—ZT-NF=ZRA=+—H
31 March 2018

41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 41. BEERRERE &)
(Continued)
(c) Interest rate risk (Continued) (c) FEmEE(E)
Sensitivity analysis B 7T
The following table indicates the approximate TRBTRRIREIRGT B EEY
change in the results after tax in response to AEBAZEANRBRIFE A
reasonably possible changes in interest rate AR EMEE AT E) - NE
to which the Group has significant exposure TFHBRBEEEN T —(Eest M
at the end of reporting period. In determining BEE T —EREHRCHER - K
the effect on results after tax on the next SEEEERESMNERFEHRRD
accounting period until next end of reporting LRENAEME S BT o
period, management of the Group assumes RZE-—NFERZZE—LFMER
that the change in interest rate had occurred ZHERBRER ) -
at the end of reporting period and all other
variables remain constant. There is no change
in the methods and assumptions used in 2018
and 2017.
2018 2017
—E-NEFE —ZT—+F
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Increase by 100 basis points H#H0 100 {EE 24 1,141,655 8,537
Decrease by 100 basis points 100 EIE R (130,211) 254,084
(d) Currency risk (d) E¥Ek
The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong and REEFZRBEERPHEE - K
the PRC with most of the transactions settled BHnRZXSENEE BB LT
in their respective functional currencies in ZHBMREEELE - At - A&
which the group entities operate. Therefore B0 47 RIS T R B F A EAR
the Group does not have significant exposure [BL Bz o
to risk resulting from changes in foreign
currency exchange rates.
CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED & &R AaR A 7
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

(e)

Equity price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price changes
arising from equity instruments classified as
available-for-sale equity securities. They are
listed on the Stock Exchange and have been
chosen based on their longer term growth
potential and are monitored regularly for
performance against expectations.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis on equity price risk
includes the Group's financial instruments,
which fair value or future cash flows will
fluctuate because of changes in their
corresponding or underlying asset’s equity
price. If the prices of the respective equity
instruments had been 50% higher/lower, the
other component of equity would increase/
decrease by HK$10,966,156 as at 31 March
2017.

42. SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS
AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BY
CATEGORY

The following table shows the carrying amount
and fair value of financial assets and liabilities as

—F-N\F=A=+—H
31 March 2018

41. BBEKREEZ)

(e)

R A (B 4% L B

AEEEHD BRI HEERAE
FZBRATEMEL ZBRANERE
B RERATARBRAET
HERBREZERENER - M
FRREFRRTEEMZINEE -

BEEDHT

IR (B R < BURE DT BIER
SEzemTHE EEemIT A
ZAFEEIRKBAESRESEAE
FTRE) » bty HAiBES R E
EZRABREFSHMM RF
—tF=ZA=+—8 " HABFK
ARITAZEW®R LR, TMH50% -
Bl fth B AR BF o #8538 0, R A
10,966,156 & 7T °

42. BER B D 2 M BEERME
REHRE

TRETEAPBEHRRMEA0) FARE
ZHBEERARZEEBERRFE

defined in note 4(i) to the consolidated financial =
statements:
2018 2017
—E-N\E —E—+tF
Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
amount value amount value
HREE AYEE REE NEEE
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT
Financial assets HREE
Loans and receivables B R ENGIE 193,991,626 193,991,626 187,408,875 187,408,875
Available-for-sale financial assets ~ AJHEHBEE - — 50,367,334 50,367,334
Financial liabilities B®EE
Financial liabilities measured BEER AT E L
at amortised cost IBaE 201,875,559 201,875,559 243,340,510 243,340,510
ANNUAL REPORT 2018 Z-NFEFER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Z®-AE=A=t-H

31 March 2018

42. SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS
AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BY
CATEGORY (Continued)

(a) The fair values of financial assets and financial

liabilities are determined as follows:

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED | & 2R B

The fair value of financial assets and
financial liabilities with standard terms
and conditions and traded on active liquid
markets are determined with reference
to quoted market prices.

The fair value of other financial assets
and financial liabilities are determined
in accordance with generally accepted
pricing models based on discounted
cash flow analysis using prices from
observable current market transactions
and dealer quotes for similar instruments.

eall]

42. BER B D 2 KEER MK
EEHME®)

(a) MBEERMBEEBEZR
BTIIRHERE -

FEETS

o  EBBBREMGERREAFLRE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

42. SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS
AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BY
CATEGORY (Continued)

(b)

The following table provides an analysis of
financial instruments carried at fair value by
level of fair value hierarchy:

—F-N\F=A=+—H
31 March 2018

42. BER B D 2 KEERME
EEHME®)

(b) TREFIIRAFEEINRZERT
BN EERBERE 2O

Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active EB#1: MHREBEXBERE
markets for identical assets or B5 2 mE(TTH
liabilities; )

Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices B2 ER1FBSEESE
included within Level 1 that are B2 EH#Z(BER) M
observable for the asset or liability, BERITEBER)A
either directly (i.e. as prices) or HRGABEHGRER
indirectly (i.e. derived from prices); SN s &
and

Level 3: Inputs for the asset or liability that B3 WIELAR BTSSR
are not based on observable market REKBEZEESBER
data (unobservable inputs). ABE B (A 8= A

BH) o
2017
—E—+tF
Available-for-sale financial TEHEHKEE
assets Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
&A1 B4 2 B3 B

Listed securities in Hong ~ &/& FH&E%

Kong, at fair value BAYEE 21,932,312 — — 21,932,312

ANNUAL REPORT 2018 T - NFER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—ZT-NF=ZRA=+—H

31 March 2018

43. HOLDING COMPANY STATEMENT OF
FINANCIAL POSITION

As at 31 March 2018

43. ER DT MR R

R-ZE—\FE=A=+—H

2018 2017
—E-NFE —EF—iF
Notes HK$ HK$
k=3 BT BT
Assets EE
Non-current assets kRBEE
_ Interests in subsidiaries | MEAF s 44 51,419,626 115,757,520
Current assets REBEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries  FEUFIE A T IE 44 128,691,930 550,271,917
Other receivables E tb pE Uk Fk I8 2,051 11,651
Amount due from related FEURRRE A T FUR
parties 8,250 —
Cash and cash equivalents HeMReEMEIAE 32,326,629 2,554,388
Total currentassets  m®EE&E 161,028,860 552,837,956
Total assets ~~  #®E#@E 212,448,485 668,595,476
Liabilities =L
Current liabilities REAE
Other payables H b FE T FRIE 20,274,814 4,268,689
Amounts due to subsidiaries NI PNGIE e 44 58,077,266 514,222,183
Bank borrowings RITEE — 30,000,000
Total current liabilities mEBEARE 78,352,080 548,490,872
Net current assets ~ n®HRERE 000 82,676,780 4,347,084
Total assets less current EELAEBERABERE
liabilities 134,096,405 120,104,604
Non-current liabilities FkRBAE
Convertible bonds AR E S 42,278,487 —
Total liabilities BEMRE 120,630,567 548,490,872
NET ASSETS EEFE 91,817,918 120,104,604
Capital and reserves BAR#E
Share capital R A 32 53,888,928 53,888,928
Reserves i 33 37,928,990 66,215,676
TOTAL EQUITY EREE 91,817,918 120,104,604
CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED BERAERA T
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

44. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 44,

The amounts due from/(to) subsidiaries are
unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand,
except for the following:

During the financial year ended 31 March 2017,
amount due from a subsidiary of HK$7,200,000
which borne interest at 5% per annum.

The following is a list of the principal subsidiaries
as at 31 March 2018.

—F-N\F=A=+—H
31 March 2018

BB Bl 2 RE

FEUL, (FEH) BB R RIZRIB T 44 -
RERERERER T RER
I

BE _T—+tF=-A=1T—HILMBF
Z - FEYx — & M8 X B 578 7,200,000
BILRFNEE% R

RZZE-—N\F=A=+—RH  FZ2MB
NEZFIRMT -

)

Form of Place of Principal activities Issued share capital/ Percentage of
Name husiness structure incorporation and place of operation paid-up registered capital  ownership interests held
B EBERKE  HRAILE TEEBRLENE BRIRA/ BREMER FeRRERERAM
directly indirectly
BB B
China Resources Advertising & Exhibition ~ Limited liabiity ~ Hong Kong Exhibition-related services 100,000 ordinary shares of 100.0 -
Company Limited company in Hong Kong HK$100,000
hEREREARAT 1 GANTI RERRUBEERBRY 100,0007% 100,000 702
BoRen Culture Development Limited Limited liability ~ BVI Investment holding 1 ordinary share of USS1 100.0 -
company in the PRC
BEXERARAT EREFRA  EERKES MEREER 1REE 1 FT ERR
Elite-China Limited liability ~Hong Kong Investment holding 10,000 ordinary shares of - 60.0
company in the PRC HK$10,000
TEER RRERLR  BE RhER AR 10,0008 10,000/ 7.2 &k
Nanjing Creative Eastern 8 Zone Taiwan, Hong ~ The PRC Property sub-leasing RMB14,000,000 - 60.0
Technology Co. Ltd* Kong and Macau business in the PRC
Corporation-
owned enterprise
with limited
liability company
HREER\ERAERELLRT SRERENEEAR TE MERENEAIRER ARE14,000,0007
EffRd
Nanjing Yinkun Investment Corporation®  Limited liability ~ The PRC Property sub-leasing RMB10,000,000 - 60.0
company business in the PRC
HRRAREERERAT BRERAA  9E NGB EDEE S AR 10,000,007
Witty Idea Finance Company Limited Limited liability ~ Hong Kong Money lending business 1 ordinary share of HKS1 - 1000
company in Hong Kong
BUEEMHERAA EREfFRE A4 REREMHERH 1R1ETZEBR
Golden Island (Management) Limited Limited liability  Hong Kong Provision of management 10,000 ordinary shares of 100.0 -
company services to group HK$10,000
companies in Hong Kong
£B(ER)ARAT 1GNNS RERRUERREF 10,000% 1000072 & ik
SELT
ANNUAL REPORT 2018 =% — \F £
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—ZT-NF=ZRA=+—H
31 March 2018

44.

45.

46.

*

CHINA TANGSHANG HOLDINGS LIMITED I E TR A

INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

The above list includes the subsidiaries of the
Company which, in the opinion of the Directors,
principally affected the results for the year or
formed a substantial portion of the net assets of
the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries
would, in the opinion of the Directors, result in
particulars of excessive length.

COMPARATIVE FIGURES

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified
to conform with the current year presentation.

APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and
authorised for issue by the Board on 27 June 2018.

For identification only
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